

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🗰 🖄 🕤

BARRIERS AND ACTION DRIVERS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT ACTIVITIES BY RENEWABLE AND CITIZEN ENERGY COMMUNITIES



ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Disclaimer

The information provided in this document was developed by the Energy Communities Repository, managed by the European Commission Directorate-General for energy. The document takes into consideration feedback from market participants, system operators and regulators provided in the two workshops organised by the Repository for this purpose on 22 February and 5 July 2023 respectively. The content of this deliverable reflects only the author's view. The sole responsibility for the content of this report lies with the authors. It does not reflect the opinion of the European Union. The European Commission is not responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.



Copyright notice ©2024

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

CONTENTS

1	EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	4
	1.1. Recommendations	10
	1.2. Summary list of barriers & action drivers	13
2	INTRODUCTION	15
	2.1 Methodology	18
	2.2 Framework for grouping and forming a correlation	20
	between different barriers and action drivers	
	2.3 How to approach different barriers and action	22
	drivers presented in this Report	
Z		
5	BARRIERS AND ACTION DRIVERS FOR THE	25
	DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT ACTIVITIES BY	
	ENERGY COMMUNITIES	
	3.1 Cross-cutting barriers and action drivers	26
	3.1.1 Cross-cutting Barriers	26
	3.1.2 Cross-cutting action drivers	32

3.2 Renewable energy production	43
3.2.1 Barriers to renewable energy production by energy communities	44
3.2.2 Action Drivers for Renewable Energy Production by energy communities	52
3.3 Energy sharing	60
3.3.1 Barriers to energy sharing by energy communities	61
3.3.2 Action drivers for energy sharing by energy communities	69
3.4 Retail supply	76
3.4.1 Barriers to supply	77
3.4.2 Action drivers for energy community supply	81
3.5 Participation in providing flexibility	86
3.5.1 Barriers to providing flexibility for energy communities	88
3.5.2 Action Drivers of Flexibility by energy communities	91
SOURCES	94
REFERENCES	110

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY





EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This Report looks at the ability of energy communities to undertake activities that are envisioned in the Clean Energy Package (CEP), namely the Directive (EU) 2018/2001 (Renewable Energy Directive, or RED II) and Directive (EU) 2019/944 (Internal Market for Electricity Directive, or IMED). Renewable Energy Communities (RECs) and Citizen Energy Communities (CECs), defined by the RED II and IMED respectively, represent a different type of market actor in the energy system. As an organisational concept, RECs and CECs bring citizens, businesses (in particular small and mediumsized enterprises, or SMEs) and local authorities together (both as members and consumers) to take community ownership of clean renewable energy sources and services. They also promote more democratic participation and governance in decision making, and their primarily purpose is to generate environmental and socio-economic benefits to the community rather than profits.

While energy communities can provide added value to Europe's energy transition in terms of fostering social acceptance, private capital investment and flexibility, their unique characteristics also present specific challenges in trying to enter and participate in the market with larger commercial market actors.

The main focus of this Report is to identify and assess different barriers and action drivers that impact the development of energy communities at national level in the context of European Union (EU) legislation, including but not limited to the RED II and IMED. Specifically, this Report focuses on action drivers and barriers for energy communities to engage in:

- Renewable energy production Community-owned energy production from various renewable sources including wind, sun, geothermic, biomass, microhydro, and biogas;
- Sharing of renewable energy Through a community-owned production facility and the use of smart meters, members of the community can closely match consumption (e.g. 15 minutes to 1 hour) so that the production is treated as self-consumption and deducted from their metered supply coming from their traditional supplier;
- Retail supply of electricity and gas the sale, including through power purchase agreements (PPAs), and resale (using existing market structures such as the wholesale market) of electricity and gas by the community to its members and potentially other customers (e.g. households, other local SMEs and public authorities); and
- o Participation in flexibility Different business models where the community and its members can realise potential revenue streams or cost saving through the use of production and demand-side assets to increase, shift or reduce electricity consumption in response to time-differentiated price signals (e.g. for the purpose of peak-shaving) or to access different accessible flexibility markets (e.g. balancing, ancillary services, and capacity markets).

This Report also highlights cross-cutting drivers and barriers that impact an energy community's ability to operate across the market, regardless of the activity. For this Report, we define an 'action driver' as a factor that helps to push or propel forward a particular activity exercised by an energy community. Correspondingly, we define a 'barrier' as the counter-acting opposite of an action driver: something that disproportionately prevents or makes harder a particular activity from being realised.

This Report does not assume that the simple existence of a particular barrier or action driver requires a specific policy or regulatory response. Each barrier needs to be considered from a system and justice perspective to ensure a proper assessment of its justification and proportionality. Similarly, action drivers and responses to barriers need to be assessed depending on their potential environmental, economic and societal benefits compared to their potential cost implications. Depending on the Member State and the maturity of the energy community sector, and legal status as REC or CEC, barriers and drivers will vary in relevance and magnitude of impact. Different drivers and barriers need to be contextualised within a national market and system-perspective in order to identify unjustified and disproportionate barriers and develop tailor made effective solutions. Therefore, a national assessment of barriers and drivers is always recommended.

CROSS-CUTTING BARRIERS AND CORRESPONDING ACTION DRIVERS TO SETTING UP AN ENERGY COMMUNITY

First, the lack of a clear and uniform national legal definition for energy communities creates legal uncertainty. The REC and CEC definitions contain governance and participation principles (e.g. proximity, effective control, autonomy, and social, economic and environmental benefits) that have a multi-interpretational character, making translation and monitoring at the national level complex.

Second, citizens, businesses and local authorities may **lack awareness around energy communities**, requiring development of understanding and trust. Furthermore, they often lack technical expertise in project development or navigation of administrative and licensing procedures. Several Member States have addressed this by setting up one-stopshops (OSS) and other networking platforms. These facilitators can act at the national, regional and local levels, either through public or non-profit entities, to **raise awareness, provide technical advice to starting energy communities**, set up workshops, provide guidance, and facilitate access to professional expertise. There are also a number of **tools available to help promote trust in energy communities**, such as online comparisons by National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs), support at the local level from trusted leaders (e.g. local authority), and rules to promote transparency and trust (e.g. allowing for the exit of members, handling internal disputes, and ensuring fair and democratic internal decision making).

Third, energy communities have trouble accessing finance for projects (particularly for early stages of project development) and are sensitive to frequent or abrupt changes in regulation and public support. Governments are increasingly setting up dedicated **public funding mechanisms at the national level to help energy communities**, in particular to de-risk preliminary and early stages of development, where private financing is most difficult to obtain. Local and regional authorities also can also set up their own forms of financial assistance, while energy communities have started **educating private lending institutions** and **innovating their own financing mechanisms**.

Fourth, while there is ambition to ensure energy communities are inclusive to all citizens, in reality **they are not very accessible to energy poor and vulnerable households**. There is still also a lack of awareness and knowhow from the energy community sector about how to engage with low-income and vulnerable households. Nevertheless, a number of frontier energy communities have developed replicable innovations to enhance inclusivity towards vulnerable and low-income households and cooperate with social service providing organisations. A few Member States are also starting to integrate energy poverty and vulnerability issues into policy supporting energy communities, for instance through finance provided by European funds (e.g. Recovery and Resilience Funds, or RRF).

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

BARRIERS AND CORRESPONDING ACTION DRIVERS TO COMMUNITY-OWNED RENEWABLE ENERGY PRODUCTION

A valuable policy tool that has been implemented at national, regional and local levels to promote the growth of community renewable energy production has been **high level targets or objectives for the development of energy communities**. These objectives have helped provide a policy basis for the development of a number of supportive mechanisms that are described in this Report.

Compared to larger market actors with more financial resources, energy communities experience challenges securing space to develop projects from private landowners and on public spaces (e.g. roofs and land). Using policy objectives to support the development of energy communities and citizen participation in the energy transition, local – and even national – authorities have begun to integrate supportive provisions for energy communities into concessions and public procurement procedures, as well as requirements for private developers to offer ownership to local citizens.

Energy communities are also uniquely impacted by **constrained grid connection capacity**. Limited options on where to connect local projects and lack of transparent rules and procedures can raise connection costs, while **communities are often unable to compete with other market participants to obtain a connection** (e.g. through first come first serve or auctions). To address this, Member States are starting to adopt various measures including socialising certain connection (grid reinforcement) costs, prioritising or simplifying grid connection processes for community projects, and ringfencing grid connection capacity.

And finally, as support schemes have evolved from more administratively-set, fixed forms of remuneration (e.g. Feed-in-tariffs, or FiTs) to more **market-based support mechanisms** (e.g. market premiums, auctions and tenders), these schemes have become more difficult for energy community projects to access. A number of Member States have integrated **special provisions in their national support schemes to enable access by energy communities**. These include exemptions from participating in tenders, as well as special tenders for energy communities so that they do not need to compete against commercial market actors.



ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

BARRIERS AND CORRESPONDING ACTION DRIVERS TO ENERGY SHARING BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Due to the emerging nature of national legal and regulatory frameworks for energy sharing and energy communities, **most of the challenges energy communities face compared to non-energy communities pertain to the unclear relationship between energy sharing as an activity and energy communities as an organisational concept**. This has created a number of issues around perceived legal, regulatory and administrative complexity, and a perceived lack of added value to setting up an energy community versus an initiative facilitated by a commercial third party (e.g. leasing or renting). Some Member States have made conscious efforts to **clearly communicate distinctions between energy communities and energy sharing** activities to stakeholders to better understand the requirements for setting up organisational aspects of an energy community, as well as technical requirements to register and receive a licence to share energy.

There is also a lack of clarity on how duties or responsibilities should be shared between market actors relevant for energy sharing, including energy communities, system operators, suppliers and third party service providers. Regarding the role of distribution system operators (DSOs), a number of challenges were identified including providing information and awareness around energy sharing, procedures to register initiatives, developing proper information technology (IT) infrastructure to allow for collection, validation and sharing metering data, and other technical limitations (e.g. thresholds on the size of production facilities, eligible geographical scope, limitations on sharing coefficients that can be used, and requirements to use one supplier). Some Member States have put in place regulations to help clarify administrative and licensing procedures for registering energy sharing projects by the DSO,



while others have evolved regulations to keep up with learning and improved technical capacities. Some Member States have also set up reporting obligations by DSOs, while some DSOs themselves have also started to collaborate around **updating IT systems** to improve data management, registration and interoperability.

The way in which traditional suppliers undertake their role in energy sharing can also result in barriers. Some suppliers have charged high administrative fees, while others have caused delays in calculating shared energy and deducting it from the energy bill. Suppliers have also been observed to hesitate taking on balancing responsibility on behalf of energy communities. Some Member States have put in place rules to prevent commercial market actors from imposing discriminatory conditions on energy sharing initiatives, including bans on disproportionate fees, while others have clarified roles for suppliers and/or DSOs in regulation. In addition, Member States are increasingly allowing third party service providers to take up facilitative responsibilities and roles. Nevertheless, the aim should also be to make the process of registering and engaging with the DSO easier, in order to prevent dependency on third party facilitators.

Lastly, there are still limited pathways to effectively combine savings from shared energy with remuneration for selling excess production, making it harder to finance energy sharing projects. Not all Member States allow for the remuneration of excess production, while others place a cap on remuneration or require negotiation with a supplier. To incentivise energy sharing, some Member States are experimenting with offering reduced network tariffs (for the volumetric part) that encourage close to realtime consumption close to production, essentially accounting for the reduced use of the grid at times energy is shared locally. To help further incentivise investment in energy sharing, Member States have also put in place varying types of **remuneration mechanisms to reward excess production from shared installations**. The effects of network tariff reductions on the economic viability of energy sharing and the overall energy system are still unclear and need to be carefully monitored. Exempting active customers engaged in energy sharing from contributing to the recovery of related grid capacity costs while still allowing them to benefit from that capacity for excess production or demand risks socialising network tariffs to wider system users, also resulting in unfair discrimination to consumers that do not engage in energy sharing but consume close to production. This may disproportionately affect those consumers already struggling to pay their energy bills. Furthermore, it is important to contemplate and balance potential trade-offs between supporting investment in production versus the need to create a more flexible energy system based on the efficiency first principle.

BARRIERS AND CORRESPONDING ACTION DRIVERS TO RETAIL SUPPLY BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Energy communities often start small and need to find additional members in order to establish a sustainable supply business model that is not for profit. As such, **some financial** (e.g. costs associated with becoming a licensed supplier, and obtaining collateral to trade on wholesale markets) **and administrative requirements to obtain a supply licence are disproportionately high** for energy communities. Some Member States have already, or are in the process of, enacting regulations to make supply easier for energy communities and other small market actors. This includes experimenting with exemptions, or creating a **special designation for smaller suppliers or for suppliers that want to supply under limited conditions** (e.g. capped amount, certain categories of customers), while still complying with other professional, technical and consumer protections.

Furthermore, a number of regulations make it difficult to operate as a supplier, which have been exacerbated by the ongoing energy crisis. Community suppliers are often **too small to be able to access hedging products**. In addition, the high amount of guarantees required to operate on the wholesale market poses a significant burden, and finding a suitable balancing responsible party (BRP) can be difficult. Similar regulatory barriers also prevent energy communities from selling production directly to their members or to other off-takers through PPAs (e.g. local authorities and SMEs). National regulations may nevertheless provide flexibility for how certain requirements are met, taking into account the specificities of market actors such as energy communities. Energy communities can also cooperate with existing service providers in order to supply their members with renewable energy. In some countries outside the EU, including the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States of America (USA), decision makers are experimenting with imposing obligations on larger suppliers to help community-owned renewables projects supply back to their members.

BARRIERS AND CORRESPONDING ACTION DRIVERS TO COMMUNITIES PROVIDING FLEXIBILITY

Generally speaking, the regulatory frameworks for flexibility markets are still in their infancy, and most barriers are experienced by all market actors, particularly for smaller actors targeting households. As such, it is not yet possible to fully assess drivers and barriers specific to energy communities. For this Report, energy communities communicated that they experience a number of practical barriers when exploring flexibility-based activities: limited existing demand from energy community members, high cost for service providers, immaturity of markets, and insufficient IT and market skills. Research also uncovered a number of regulatory and market barriers that may impact energy communities and other smaller market actors including access to a smart meter, data access, contradicting economic incentives, lack of market access for (small consumer) aggregated loads, challenges to entering into long-term commitments to provide flexibility, lack of accessibility for low-voltage appliances in flexibility markets, lack of mechanisms to compensate BRPs for activating demand response, network regulation, net metering arrangements, and lack of options around a flexible connection agreement.

While most of the focus at the moment is towards removing the various barriers that prevent smaller actors from providing flexibility to the system, this Report identifies some potential action drivers that could help energy communities get more involved in flexibility. This includes making further use of dynamic and time of use tariffs, dynamic price contracts, and providing incentives to optimise individual, behind the meter self-consumption around times of production. Further access to information and communication technology (ICT) tools that are based on open source, through collaboration with other actors from the social economy, can also support the development of services that can provide a basis for providing flexibility. Markets can also open up to smaller aggregated loads by lowering minimum bid thresholds (e.g. 1 MW) or incentivising reduced consumption during peak hours. Regulatory sandboxes can also test out different innovative solutions around combining local supply with provision of flexibility services to system operators.

1.1 Recommendations

Based on the research conducted throughout the development of this Report and the barriers and action drivers that have been highlighted, this Report has developed a set of recommendations. These recommendations should be seen as ways to help Member States establish and implement enabling frameworks for energy communities so that they are capable of exercising new rights that were established under the RED II and the IMED. 1| A national authority should be assigned to undertake a holistic assessment of barriers and potential for energy communities (both RECs and CECs) to undertake different activities. Such assessments should fit the national context and should carefully assess not only whether certain barriers are proportionate or unjustified, but also the extent to which responses support delivery of policy objectives, and deliver intended benefits versus costs.

2| National, regional and local decision makers (taking into account the national context) should adopt policy objectives for supporting energy communities and citizen participation in the energy transition. Such objectives should be concrete and clearly articulated so they can provide an objective basis for developing supportive policies, as well as for measuring progress.

3| Ministries, NRAs (National Regulatory Authorities) and other authorities should clearly articulate and communicate governance and participation principles in the REC and CEC definitions to national stakeholders to create legal certainty. Ideally, a simple and transparent process to register energy communities should be put in place, along with monitoring to guard against abuse and to oversee delivery of policy objectives and removal of unjustified barriers.

4| Financing mechanisms should be set up at different levels (national, regional and local, depending on the national context), to help energy communities. Such mechanisms can focus on de-risking early stages of project development, access to expertise, awareness raising, and providing favourable loans for construction of projects. In particular, Member States can leverage European funds to support the development of the sector. Private financing institutions should also be a target for awareness raising in order to provide them with greater understanding of business models used by energy communities.

5| National and sub-national decision makers should coordinate actions, including with civil society and other actors such as network operators, in order to build



capacity of energy communities and raise awareness. This can be done through setting up OSSs or other dedicated information services at different levels in order to provide basic information, outreach, training, maps of existing and emerging initiatives, guidance on technical, legal, financial and administrative issues, and to facilitate access to expertise.

6| Collaboration between energy communities, public authorities and public/private organisations providing social services should be promoted to make community renewable energy more accessible to vulnerable and energy poor households. Member States should set policy objectives around these outcomes, and support their delivery with financial and other support.

7 | Public authorities (national and sub-national) should be able to make available public spaces, and leverage public resources for the purpose of achieving social objectives. National policy should also support local authorities by providing them with legal clarity and sufficient resources so that they are able to integrate energy communities into public procurement and concession rules and procedures in a proportionate way while ensuring non-discriminatory access.

8 | Where made available to market actors, national decision makers should design national renewables support schemes to allow energy communities to access such support on a level playing field with commercial market actors. In this regard, the Guidelines on State aid for climate, environmental protection and energy (CEEAG) provide Member States with several different options (e.g. exempting smaller 100% community-owned projects, energy community-specific tenders, reduced administrative requirements, and modified prequalification and award criteria).

9| Support schemes to incentivise renewables production should be properly monitored by a dedicated authority (e.g. NRA) over time. Monitoring should allow for appropriate modifications over time and ensure the provision of support balances the promotion of community benefits versus costs. They should be aligned with the development of other incentives, for instance to optimise consumption of self-production close to real time (i.e. energy sharing) and to provide flexibility to the energy system.



10 | System operators, with support from national regulation, should design grid connection procedures to allow energy communities to access the grid on a level playing field with commercial market actors. Depending on the national set-up of allocating available grid space for new renewables production installations, special procedures or ring-fencing should be designed to ensure energy communities can have access to the grid where there is interest in uptake, while responsibilities to finance necessary network reinforcements should be applied proportionately to energy communities, including through the potential to pay in instalments.

11 | National decision makers should clearly distinguish energy communities from energy sharing in national legislation and regulation. These two concepts should be defined distinctly, and rules and procedures for setting up and registering an energy community should be distinguished from registering an energy sharing project. Geographical limitations of both energy communities and energy sharing should be disentangled in terms of the purpose they serve.

12 | Public authorities (from national to local level), as well as DSOs, should develop mechanisms to reach out to and communicate with citizens, including to promote awareness around energy sharing, applicable administrative procedures and requirements (e.g. planning, project registration and grid connection procedures), available grid capacity, and potential projects they may be able to join in their area.

13 | National rules for energy sharing should ensure that energy communities are treated in a non-discriminatory way by other market actors that undertake roles to facilitate energy sharing. Where possible under national law, DSOs should be responsible for calculating shared energy for the purposes of deducting it from the bill to reduce administrative burden for suppliers of residual consumption needs and potential related conflicts of interest.

14 | Market actors should be encouraged to support energy communities that share energy by offering to undertake balancing responsibilities on their behalf. Where there is a lack of access to a service provider, Member States should ensure that at least smaller projects (up to 400 kW) can be exempted from balancing, and that the duty can be undertaken by another market actor (e.g. residual supplier or DSO).

15 | National decision makers, and NRAs in particular, should consider economic incentives, including time-differentiated network tariffs and incentives to sell production, as a tool to encourage the uptake of energy sharing. The design of incentives should look holistically towards supporting early-stage business models while taking into account the need to promote reduced use of the grid at peak times, fair shouldering of costs to maintain the network for all consumers, and in the long-term to align with incentives to provide flexibility to the system.

16 | NRAs should adapt regulations for engaging in retail supply to take the specificities of energy communities into account with the aim of removing, reducing or limiting unnecessary or disproportionate regulations (e.g. through a limited licence or a licence for smaller suppliers). Indispensable requirements should also be applied flexibly to energy communities where possible (e.g. hedging obligations).

17 | Market actors, including network operators, should be encouraged to support energy communities engaging in trading activities while respecting unbundling rules. For instance, through the development of digital platforms or exchanges and other supply related services. The provision of such services can be overseen by NRAs to avoid discriminatory treatment.

18 | Economic incentives should be developed to encourage energy communities to provide demand-side flexibility, including through a mix of dynamic and time of use tariffs, rewarding optimisation of self-consumption close to production when it has system value at peak times, increasing market access for aggregation of smaller consumer loads, and the development of local flexibility markets.

19 | Energy communities should be supported in developing ICT tools, which can be used as a basis for cooperation between different energy communities to undertake more responsibilities (e.g. balancing, supply, aggregation, services to other energy communities, etc.), through the use of open-source.

20 | NRAs should consider setting up regulatory sandboxes for energy communities to allow for experimentation between social and technical innovations, particularly around the provision of supply and flexibility services, and the application – or exemption/simplification – of different responsibilities and duties.

1.2 Summary list of barriers & action drivers

Cross-cutting barriers

Barrier 1	Difficulties designing and monitoring a clear and uniform legal definition for energy communities			
Barrier 2	Lack of certainty, predictability and accessibility of public and private financing			
Barrier 3	Lack of awareness, trust, and access to technical expertise			
Barrier 4	Lack of accessibility for energy poor and vulnerable households			
Cross-cutting action drivers				
Action Driver 1	Dedicated finance arrangements to support investment			
Action Driver 2	Tools to promote awareness, access to expertise and trust building			
Action Driver 3	Facilitating access for vulnerable households Lack of awareness, trust, and access to technical expertise			
Barriers to renewable energy production by energy communities				
Barrier 1	Lack of sites for production			
Barrier 2	Auction-based procedures for accessing national renewables support schemes			
Barrier 3	Difficulties obtaining a grid connection			
Action drivers to	Action drivers to renewable energy production by energy communities			
Action Driver 1	Policy objectives, goals or targets for energy communities			

Action Driver 2	Providing space through public tenders			
Action Driver 3	Integrating energy communities into the design of renewables support schemes			
Action Driver 4	Measures to facilitate a grid connection			
Barriers to energy sharing by energy communities				
Barrier 1	Lack of distinction between energy communities, active customers and energy sharing			
Barrier 2	Lack of clear duties and roles of network operators			
Barrier 3	Limitations for how energy sharing can be arranged			
Barrier 4	Interdependencies with energy suppliers			
Barrier 5	Limited sustainable remuneration pathways for excess production and knock-on effects for access to financing			
Action Drivers to	energy sharing by energy communities			
Action Driver 1	Creating a clear legal distinction between energy communities and energy sharing			
Action Driver 2	Clarifying roles and duties for system operators in facilitating energy sharing			
Action Driver 3	Providing flexibility to energy communities in the design and scope of energy sharing			
Action Driver 4	Ensure fair cooperation between the supplier of residual energy and energy communities			
Action Driver 5	Allowing for the use of third party service providers			
Action Driver 6	Cost-reflective volumetric network charges			

Action Driver 7	Investment support and remuneration for excess production				
Barriers to retail supply by energy communities					
Barrier 1	Obtaining a supplier licence				
Barrier 2	Operating as a supplier				
Barrier 3	Selling production directly through PPAs				
Action Drivers to supply by energy communities					
Action Driver 1	Exemption/simplification of regulation of electricity supply for energy communities				
Action Driver 2	Provision of supply-related services by other market actors				
Barriers to flexibility provision by energy communities					
Barrier 1	Barriers from the perspectives of energy communities				
Barrier 2	Summary of regulatory and market barriers				
Action Drivers of flexibility provision by energy communities					
Action Driver 1	Dynamic and time of use tariffs				
Action Driver 2	Access to relevant ICT tools				
Action Driver 3	Allowing aggregation of smaller consumer loads				
Action Driver 3	Allowing aggregation of smaller consumer loads Use of Regulatory Sandboxes				

2. INTRODUCTION





INTRODUCTION

As one of its tasks, the Energy Communities Repository (Repository) has carried out a study on existing barriers and action drivers for the development of energy communities across the European Union (EU). As its primary focus, the report looks at the ability of energy communities to undertake activities that are envisioned in the Clean Energy Package (CEP), namely the Directive (EU) 2018/2001 (Renewable Energy Directive, or RED II) and Directive (EU) 2019/944 (Internal Market for Electricity Directive, or IMED).¹ An assessment of societal, economic and social impacts of energy communities is also being developed as part of the Repository, for which the data collection process is ongoing.

The CEP, and the RED II and IMED in particular, introduced a number of new legal concepts acknowledging specific market actors and activities (active customers, individual renewables self-consumers and jointly acting renewables self-consumers, peer-to-peer-trading, and **Renewable Energy Communities (RECs)** and **Citizen Energy Communities (CECs)**. These concepts were elaborated in EU legislation in order to deliver the EU's Energy Union Strategy pledge to empower all consumers across Europe's energy transition and put them at the centre of the Energy Union.² The RED II and IMED acknowledge the added value of RECs and CECs in particular to Europe's energy transition in terms of fostering social acceptance, private capital and investment, more choice, greater participation in the energy transition, having a direct stake in producing consuming and sharing energy, providing affordable energy over profits, uptake of flexibility, advancing energy efficiency, and helping fight energy poverty.³

In their recitals, the RED II and IMED acknowledge RECs and CECs as a different type of market actor in the energy sector.⁴ While there are noteworthy differences in terms of participation, governance, technology and geographical

scope between the REC and CEC definitions, they both represent the same basic organisational concept of bringing citizens, businesses (in particular small and medium-sized enterprises, or SMEs) and local authorities together around more democratic governance principles and a purpose that is primarily centred around generating community benefits rather than profits.⁵ In contrast to commercial market actors, energy communities promote citizen and community ownership of sustainable energy projects and participation in related decision-making. The community may be composed members that share a common interest and/or it may be bound by a common geographical location within and across State borders (e.g. a specific crossborder region) where it operates. By organising themselves in this way, smaller and local actors can come together to engage in various activities throughout the energy sector.

The Directives acknowledge that **the principles energy communities organise around can also hamper their ability to enter and participate in the market along with other larger commercial market actors. The intensity of these barriers often depends on the types of actors involved in or supporting the energy community**. RECs are distinguished from other market actors due to their size, ownership structure and number of projects.⁶ They are also more strict in terms of accessibility to natural persons (i.e. households) and internal democratic control requirements.⁷ Given these distinct characteristics, the RED II acknowledges the particular challenges that RECs face, including their inability to compete on an equal footing with large-scale players, namely competitors with larger projects or portfolios. As such, it calls for measures to offset such disadvantages for RECs through a set of privileges.⁸ The IMED also distinguishes CECs in terms of their membership structure, governance requirements and purpose. Nevertheless, they are seen as a broader, more flexible type of energy community that allows all categories of entities to participate, including organisations with more resources (such as cooperative investment banks, agricultural cooperatives, non-governmental organisations (NGOs), and universities), and for communities of local authorities or small businesses (such as small farmers and local shops) to be empowered.⁹ As such, the IMED establishes a more general electricity market integration framework, recalling principles of non-discrimination, fair treatment, and transparency in the application of existing market regulation for the purpose of levelling the playing field.¹⁰

The general barriers that energy communities experience derive from their ownership model and consequent constraints in terms of accessing the market, financing projects and navigating regulatory and administrative procedures. For instance, their day to day operations are often undertaken by volunteers. In general, for both RECs and CECs, the RED II and IMED **call on Member States to address barriers at national level**. The Directives also establish the basis for the development of national enabling frameworks in order to remove barriers and provide communities across Europe with a real opportunity to collectively participate in, and benefit from, the energy transition.¹¹ The IMED also obliges National Regulatory Authorities (NRAs) to monitor the removal of barriers for CECs.¹²

Within the context of the CEP, the main focus of this Report is to identify and assess different potential action drivers and barriers that may impact the ability of energy communities to engage in different activities across the energy sector. This Report also highlights crosscutting drivers and barriers that might impact an energy community's ability to operate, regardless its status as REC or CEC and regardless of which activity it is trying to undertake.

First, the Report establishes a framework for how to understand different drivers and barriers, including their relationship with each other. It also highlights the importance of assessing action drivers and barriers at the national level to contextualise which barriers and drivers are relevant to address through enabling frameworks that must be established to promote the development of energy communities and provide a level playing field.



ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Second, the Report focuses specifically on core activities that emerging energy communities are likely to be interested to pursue in developing different business models. In particular, this report focuses on the following activities:

- 1 Renewable energy production;
- 2| Energy sharing;
- 3 Retail supply of electricity and gas; and
- 4 Flexibility.¹³

While a number of business models already exist, more are still emerging, particularly those that utilise digital tools. Hence, with regard to flexibility, this Report aims to lay a foundation for further research as flexibility markets and community experiences become more developed and prevalent.

For each of the activities highlighted below, this Report explores different inherent challenges that energy communities face compared to other commercial market actors. This is an important distinction to make because in many cases all market actors face similar barriers. The Report then explains how these challenges are impacted by national energy policy, legal and regulatory frameworks, including the development of frameworks for energy communities as outlined in the RED II and IMED. This report also identifies action drivers that can stimulate the development of energy communities, stemming both from legal or policy measures intended to support energy communities at the national and sub-national level, as well as emerging practices or behaviours by different market participants (e.g. the provision of facilitative services for energy communities). Lastly, this Report provides some general recommendations that different actors (including national, regional and local decision makers, NRAs and other national authorities, network operators and other market actors) can follow in removing barriers for energy communities to create a more enabling framework.

2.1 Methodology

This Report has been carried out using the following methodology. First, as another sub-task under the Repository, we collected national legal and regulatory provisions from all Member States that relate to energy communities, particularly those that stem from the RED II and IMED. Based on an in-depth review of this national legislation, we identified and compared different aspects of regulations, policies and industry practices that could be seen as contributing to an identified cross-cutting, or activity specific, barrier or action driver. The Repository also conducted an extensive literature review on energy communities, including from European funded projects (e.g. Horizon, LIFE, Interreg, etc.).¹⁴

The Repository also conducted interviews with a broad set of actors from existing and aspiring national energy communities (e.g. energy cooperatives), civil society organisations, public authorities, energy community developers or facilitators, knowledgeable academics on the topic, and distribution system operators (DSOs). Two workshops were organised to share preliminary findings and enable input from traditional stakeholders within the energy sector to help shape the overall findings of the Report.¹⁵ The views of the participants in these workshops provided further input and evidence into the Report. Discussions in these meetings were also used to challenge and/or validate the Draft Report's findings, to assess the proportionality and justification of barriers and/or solutions from a multi-stakeholder perspective, and to explore different avenues to address certain barriers and implement different action drivers.

The Repository also relied on input from local authorities through participation in an internal meeting of Energy Cities organised with its members to discuss the energy crisis and the electricity market design, as well as presentations at workshops during REScoop.eu's Spring Gathering in Athens, Greece, an event that brought together local actors from around the EU to share knowledge, experiences, challenges and opportunities around developing energy communities.

For the section on renewable energy production, Member State legislation and regulations that have been collected by the Repository have been supplemented by a literature review on relevant barriers and action drivers pertaining to renewable energy production. The Repository considered reports going back to the early 2010's, when community-owned renewable energy production first started gaining research focus at a European level. The Repository also undertook interviews with civil society, energy communities and academics, and produced a questionnaire on obtaining a grid connection and entering into power purchase agreements (PPAs), which was circulated to energy cooperatives operating in **Belgium**, **France**, **Germany**, **Greece**, **Ireland**, **Italy**, **Portugal**, and Spain.

For the section on energy sharing, based on the collection of legislation and national regulations by the Repository, we undertook an initial screening assessment to identify a sample size for comparing different frameworks for energy sharing. To do this, we assessed the legal developments for each Member State. As regards policy and legislative documents available at the national level, we looked at: 1) rules in national legislation on energy communities and energy sharing in relevant Member States; adn 2) related technical rules and regulations on energy sharing. From this screening process, we chose to look at the following Member States; Austria, Belgium, Croatia, Denmark, Finland, France, Greece, Italy, Luxembourg, Portugal, Spain, and Slovenia.

The analysis of Member State legislation and regulation was supplemented by a literature review on identified barriers and action drivers relating to the ability of energy communities to carry out energy sharing. We interviewed members of civil society and energy communities. Input was also provided by DSOs, both through several interviews and through a customer dialogue working group meeting with GEODE, one of the EU associations representing DSOs.

For the section on supply, the analysis of Member State legislation and regulation has been supplemented by a literature review on the regulation of retail electricity and gas markets, as well as literature on general market barriers for small and medium suppliers and energy communities, particularly cooperatives. A survey was also circulated to cooperative suppliers that operate in different national market contexts, including Austria, Belgium, Germany, France, Ireland, Italy, , the Netherlands, and Portugal. The reason for the specific focus on cooperatives is because they are the dominant legal form under which supply by energy communities takes place.

Regarding flexibility, there is still limited experience with energy communities participating in flexibility. While using energy communities to provide flexibility is seen as an ambition and is a topic of interest for energy communities, regulatory and market frameworks for involving households in providing flexibility are still in their infancy. Therefore, the Repository relied mainly on literature produced by EU projects (e.g. FLEXcoop, REScoop VPP and OneNet) focusing on energy communities and flexibility, and input from Florence School of Regulation (FSR) and REScoop.eu. The Repository also utilised reports from several BRIDGE reports, NGO thinktank Regulatory Assistance Project (RAP), reports, and position papers by smartEn, the main EU industrial association advocating for flexibility.



2.2. Framework for grouping and forming a correlation between different barriers and action drivers

For the purpose of this Report, we define an 'action driver' as a factor that helps push or propel forward a particular activity exercised by an energy community. Conversely, we define a 'barrier' as the counter-acting opposite of an action driver: something that prevents or makes harder a particular activity from being realised. Many, but not all, of the barriers and action drivers presented in this Report have a natural correlation with one another. That is, not every barrier correlates to a counter-acting driver, and vice-versa. Where relevant, we have tried to match the numbering for each corresponding barrier and action driver.

It is important to emphasise that the simple existence of a particular barrier, or even a driver, does not necessarily require action from a policy or regulatory point of view. Each barrier needs to be considered from a system perspective to ensure a proper assessment of its justification and proportionality. For example, rules around security of supply and consumer rights, while technically posing a barrier to becoming a supplier, at least in principle are justified based on the need to ensure secure operation of the system and to protect consumers. Similarly, drivers and responses to particular barriers need to be assessed depending on their potential environmental, economic and social or societal benefits in comparison to their potential cost implications.

From the literature, there are a number of frameworks that have been developed to describe different categories of drivers and barriers for energy communities.¹⁶ These different frameworks have been summarised by Holstenkamp and Kriel in a background paper on the assessment of barriers and drivers for energy communities.¹⁷ In this background paper, Holstenkamp and Kriel suggest their framework for categorising barriers based on a summary of relevant literature.

For the purpose of providing the reader with a contextual background of different categories of barriers or action drivers presented in this Report, we have slightly modified the framework created by Holstenkamp and Kriel to organise **action drivers and barriers for energy communities** in **four broad categories**:

1 | **Business case and legal framework** – These are factors that directly influence the profitability of projects. This includes policy, legislation and regulations that either support or undermine clarity, certainty and predictability for investment in, and by, energy communities. This approach acknowledges that legal and economic viability are intertwined due to the significant regulated nature of energy markets.¹⁸

2 | Market access and structure – These are factors that technically or economically impact the ability to access different markets. These factors may stem from the legacy nature of energy regulation evolving around a more centralised energy system, and the extent to which energy markets have been liberalised across Member States. This includes legal and economic factors that can facilitate or impede market access, including factors inherent to energy communities themselves such as their small size, organisation and value orientation. It also encompasses behaviour from other market participants that may help facilitate or otherwise restrict access by energy communities to the market, such as strategic dominance.¹⁹ This could also include factors that limit or encourage households to be involved in an energy community, such as subsidised energy costs.

3 | **Resources** – These are internal, production factors and those relevant for the ability of an energy community to organise around a particular activity. This includes access to financial resources, such as disposable income to invest (i.e. capital), access to public and private financing, and physical and technical potential (i.e. availability of renewable energy sources and access to technology). It also includes human resources (e.g. willingness of individuals or public officials), and access to knowledge and expertise. These last descriptors of resources can also cover publicly provided technical and information support, and capacity building. In particular, involvement of local authorities is cited as a critical factor, whether it is acting as an intermediary/ leader of an initiative to build trust among local members of the community, or to provide financial, technical or political support.²⁰

4 | **Organisational, informal institutions and conflicts** – These are "social" or "cultural" and "behavioural" factors. This can include historical legacy

around certain technologies or legal forms such as cooperatives, culture of local energy activism, social capital and trust, and local conflicts or acceptance.²¹ Given the diversity of cultures, languages and experience with energy communities across the 27 Member States of the EU, organisational barriers and action drivers are more likely to contextualise the impact of national rules and regulations meant to facilitate access to the market and to resources.

Holstenkamp and Kriel acknowledge that there is no specific line of theory or scientific basis for creating any specific categorisation of different drivers and barriers for energy communities.²² Indeed, drivers and barriers can be organised using different theoretical frameworks. As such, we have not used this framework as part of the methodology underpinning the development of our research; it is mainly for illustrative purposes to help contextualise or understand different barriers and drivers that are presented in this Report.

For the purpose of helping to facilitate the development of enabling frameworks for energy communities, this Report focuses mainly on barriers and action drivers that impact the development of energy communities at national level in the context of EU legislation, including but not limited to the RED II and IMED. Therefore, we focus mostly on the aspects of these four categories that intersect with relevant policy, legislation and regulation that governs the activities of renewable energy production, energy sharing, supply, and provision of flexibility by energy communities at national level and, where relevant, for new market entrants in general. We also acknowledge that regardless of the framework for categorising different barriers and drivers, there is likely to be some overlap between these categories.

2.3. How to approach different barriers and action drivers presented in this Report

In looking at barriers for any particular activity that an energy community may participate in, we distinguish between general barriers and specific barriers for energy communities. General barriers are likely to be experienced by all market actors, whether or not they are acknowledged as an energy community. Specific barriers are relevant when, because of an energy community's unique characteristics (e.g. legal form, non-commercial purpose), it faces a specific hurdle not experienced by other market actors. Generally speaking, these barriers apply across energy markets, although we do refer to electricity or gas markets where relevant.

For the reader, depending on the Member State and the maturity of its energy community sector, barriers and drivers will have different relevance and magnitude of impact. In Member States where no energy communities have previously existed, it is possible that the biggest barriers are very basic. For example, a study on barriers for energy communities in **Bulgaria** conducted on behalf of civil society concludes that the main factors holding up the development of energy communities is a lack of awareness, support and a clear governing framework for energy communities.²³ According to an energy community stakeholder, one of the founding members of a newly created Community Energy Union in the **Czech Republic**, the main barrier was the lack of a framework that provides basic definitions and technical details (e.g. eligibility criteria, modalities for energy sharing, and roles and responsibilities).²⁴ Hence, it is always important to contextualise each potential barrier or action driver to the national context of the Member State concerned.



Some barriers may be relevant regardless of the level of development of energy communities in a particular Member State.²⁵ Furthermore, studies show that certain drivers are likely to always be present in a successful initiative. According to a Synthesis Report of an assessment of 10 transferable best practices by COME RES, a Horizon 2020 project, the success of RECs depends on the existence of drivers across different categories. In particular, they pointed out that successful REC projects must:

- **1** | rely on some positive contextual conditions
- **2** | design financial and organisational models tailored to the specific local context
- **3** | receive some type of support from public authorities;
- **4** | ensure a degree of openness and inclusiveness; and
- **5** | incorporate some innovative aspect that creates added value.²⁶



THE IMPORTANCE OF ASSESSING BARRIERS AND DRIVERS AT NATIONAL LEVEL

As considered above, different action drivers and barriers need to be contextualised within a national market and system-perspective in order to identify unjustified and disproportionate barriers and develop tailor made effective solutions. Therefore, a national assessment of barriers and drivers is always recommended.²⁷ As such, this Report should not be seen as a replacement for conducting an actual and thorough national assessment of barriers as well as options for their removal.

Before an enabling framework can be created, it is important to have a shared understanding between national decision makers, energy communities (where they exist), civil society, local and regional authorities, and other sector stakeholders and potential interest groups of the main challenges energy communities face, and different potential options to address them. Consulting different stakeholders is very important for identifying, clarifying, and validating different barriers and potential policy responses. Options need to be assessed for their potential impacts, both positive and negative. Such an assessment is necessary, regardless of whether energy communities are established or represent a new concept. In Member States that have little

experience with energy communities, while these assessments are being carried out, temporary support measures can be put in place, for instance through pilots and/or Regulatory Sandboxes. Once finalised, a national assessment of barriers and drivers can provide the basis for more permanent policies and measures aimed to create an enabling framework as envisioned in the RED II and IMED. Furthermore, it is important to set up a monitoring process so that the effects of different policy objectives around energy communities, and resulting regulations, can be measured over time and adapted if necessary.

Member States can designate the undertaking of a national assessment of barriers, as well as monitoring their removal, to a responsible authority. So far, Member States have assigned these responsibilities either to a Ministry and/ or the NRA or another national authority, such as an Environment or Energy Agency. To date, there are a few existing experiences from EU Member States and other countries that have taken steps towards such an assessment, as outlined below. These examples have been taken from EU Member States and other countries with existing energy community sectors, and those where energy communities are just emerging.

- o Finland In September 2022, the Ministry of Labour and Economy established a working group to identify necessary changes to regulation to develop coherent legislation on energy communities. The working group was chaired by the Minister and included electricity suppliers, distributors, consumers, authorities and research institutions. In April 2023, the working group presented its recommendations.²⁸
- o Flanders Region, Belgium Stakeholders participated in a meeting with the Flemish Energy Agency. VITO also conducted a study on behalf of the Flemish Energy Agency where barriers were assessed.²⁹
- o Ireland The Ministry commissioned an assessment in the context of the development and design of community-related elements of its Renewable Energy Support Scheme (RESS) Auction design for RECs. Furthermore, in a consultation on energy communities and active customers, the NRA, the Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU), was asked by the Ministry to ask respondents about existing barriers and measures that would be helpful in addressing such barriers. The responses to this consultation will feed into a further assessment by the Irish Government.³⁰
- o Italy The Senate Commission on Industry, Trade and Tourism launched a public consultation to acquire information and assessments from interested parties. The consultation lasted from 1 to 31 October 2018.
- o Latvia In Latvia, the Government stated that it plans to use the assessments and findings from within an EU co-financed project (e.g. Co2mmunity).³¹

- o Lithuania To help in the preparation for the transposition of the RED II, the Ministry of Energy organised a public consultation and roundtable discussion with stakeholders interested in the uptake of RECs.³² The consultation was aimed at getting answers from different interested groups on how to adapt the REC provisions into the national legal framework, and to identify factors that can promote the successful operation of RECs.
- **The Netherlands** In 2019, the Ministry of Economic Affairs and Climate published a study "Exploring future potential citizen energy movement 2030: Energy owned by the local community".³³ The report looks specifically at the future potential of energy communities with a primary focus on cooperatives and their contribution to onshore wind and solar power generation, as well as in the heat transition.
- o Poland In 2021, the national government carried out an assessment within a project (<u>"KlastER" – Development of distributed energy in energy clusters</u>) to analyse and assess different business models and solutions supporting development of dispersed energy.
- o UK In 2014, the UK Government commissioned an assessment of potential community energy growth to 2020.³⁴ It informed the eventual "Energy Community Strategy" published by the Government, which detailed actions intended to expand the sector.³⁵ The assessment quantifies the national potential of community-owned renewable energy production and provides different scenarios for the sector's development.

3. BARRIERS AND ACTION DRIVERS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT ACTIVITIES BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES





BARRIERS AND ACTION DRIVERS FOR THE DEVELOPMENT OF DIFFERENT ACTIVITIES BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

3.1 Cross-cutting barriers and action drivers

While undertaking research for this report, the Repository identified a number of general crosscutting barriers and action drivers that could pertain to an energy community regardless of whether it is trying to engage in production, sharing, supply or another activity. Indeed, there may even be factors that influence the ability of energy communities to explore and decide on a particular activity. Some of these factors are related to the newness of the concept and its framing in the EU framework.

3.1.1 CROSS-CUTTING BARRIERS

Barrier 1

DIFFICULTIES DESIGNING AND MONITORING A CLEAR AND UNIFORM LEGAL DEFINITION FOR ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Based on an assessment conducted by the Repository of all national legislation that has been passed so far in furtherance of the RED II and the IMED, 22 Member States have adopted a definition of REC, while 21 Member States have adopted a definition of CEC. The conceptualisation of energy communities at national level is not an easy endeavour with many of the governance and participation principles included in the EU definitions such as proximity, autonomy, and social, economic and environmental benefits having a multi-interpretational character.³⁶

A clear articulation at the national level of the principles that make up an energy community is central to ensuring the democratic and social character of the concept, and the consequent justification for the removal of disproportionate barriers and application of a dedicated enabling and supporting framework. Stakeholders communicated that in Member States without an existing energy community sector or where it is still emerging, the lack of a uniform and clear legal definition creates legal uncertainty, preventing the development of investment expectations by potential market actors.³⁷ This is because market actors are waiting for the rules of the game to be established before they invest in projects. Stakeholders also communicated that while the EU definitions had been written into law, the principles contained therein still did not contain sufficient precision. An additional element of confusion that was communicated by stakeholders interviewed for this report was the lack of clarity between the definitions of CECs and RECs. In particular, the relationship and coherence between these two concepts has been difficult to interpret without further elaboration and communication. Furthermore, many Member States have written the definitions into national law through separate processes and according to different timelines without sufficiently communicating a clear relationship or an overarching narrative for energy communities.

If abstract governance and output criteria are not further defined at national level, regulators or other national authorities may experience challenges to effectively register and monitor energy communities, especially if they are not provided sufficient financial and human resources to perform such functions. Without a proper registration and monitoring system to oversee compliance with these principles at national level, energy communities may become driven by commercial actors with greater resources and experience at their disposal to navigate existing rules and operate on relevant national energy markets. This would lead to unfair advantages for traditional market actors, and undermine consumer trust and understanding of (the purpose of) energy communities.

The lack of clarity on the distinction between the two concepts may also pose challenges for different stakeholders to know in which type of energy community they can participate in or set up. For instance, some Member States have special legal forms that allow public authorities to engage in economic activities. In **France**, while local authorities use a special legal form called sociétés d'économie mixte (SEM, or Mixed Economy company), they have experienced challenges being acknowledged within the REC definition because they conflict with rules that define SMEs.³⁸ Such an issue does not exist for the CEC definition, which is open to all types of actors.

Furthermore, local authorities may face certain limitations under national law from participation in certain legal forms. In Italy, for instance, national law controls when, why and how public administrations can take part in and/ or control private companies for their institutional purposes with the aim to safeguard market competition and rationalise and reduce (or at least keep under control) the use of public money.³⁹ Therefore, municipalities need to ask for permission by another public body called a Corte di Conti (an Accounting Court), which oversees compliance by public administration bodies with accounting rules, to become a member of a cooperative.

The importance of having clear and specific criteria and an effective registration system to ensure the authenticity of energy communities was illustrated by past experience of Germany. In its 2017 Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG), Germany moved towards a tendering process for new onshore wind and solar photovoltaic (PV) projects above 750 kW. For wind projects, to make sure that citizen initiatives were not crowded out by the move to tenders, the EEG established a definition that contained specific yet broad criteria, and special rules for "citizens' energy companies.⁴⁰ However, several aspects of the definition were too broad. First, only 10 natural persons were required to be members, with no requirement to be open. As such, developers often used their own employees and/or targeted communication with individuals to meet the requirement, closing the membership once the requirement was met. Furthermore, citizen energy companies could take any legal form, which allowed more traditional market actors to fit themselves in the definition. As a result, in the first three rounds of bids under the 2017 EEG, 97 percent of successful bids came from projects that were legally eligible to be considered citizens energy companies. After assessing the individual projects in detail, it was shown that nearly all of these projects were established by traditional market players, whereas only eight projects could be considered to be what the authors considered a real grass-roots, locally driven citizen energy project.⁴¹

Barrier 2 -

LACK OF CERTAINTY, PREDICTABILITY AND ACCESSIBILITY OF PUBLIC AND PRIVATE FINANCING

While most – if not all – market participants are impacted by unpredictability, energy communities appear to be particularly sensitive to instability. Frequent or abrupt changes in regulation and public support schemes render it difficult to develop and build a solid financing plan and business model as well as investor certainty.⁴² This is due to a mix of factors that relate to the inherent characteristics of energy communities, including their choice of legal form and internal governance processes, their small size, lack of experience, and financing strategy.

Energy community projects are likely not to have significant finance available during the early stages of project development.⁴³ This is influenced by their value-based business models, limited equity, and small project portfolios.⁴⁴ This is also impacted by other horizontal barriers, including cultural factors, lack of knowledge and understanding of energy communities, and perceptions of legal forms used for energy communities (e.g. cooperatives).⁴⁵ Energy communities typically do not have difficulties raising capital from citizens after a project has been defined and is already moving forward. However, this often leaves a financing gap for initial, up-front investments in these projects.⁴⁶

The first challenge is the pre-planning stage. At this point, an energy community cannot ask for financing because they still need to undertake business plan modelling, engage members of the local community, and validate the project. This stage also includes conducting a feasibility study, which requires expertise that community projects need to procure externally.

Once it is determined that a project can go forward, the community needs to successfully navigate complex and lengthy licensing and permitting procedures. Due to lengthy and unclear procedures and dependency on disaggregated and

uncertain sources of private capital investment, before obtaining a building permit for their installation energy communities face difficulties accessing loans from financial institutions, which are reluctant to take on the associated risk.⁴⁷

According to Compile, a Horizon 2020 project, traditional banks:

- Rarely accept giving small and medium loans less than 500 k€ / 1M €, because they are less profitable;
- Can require further due diligence by the project promoter to check relevant guarantees and the ability to lead the project, which can add an additional €20,000 – 30,000 to the project; and
- Are often less willing to finance projects that use legal forms having more complicated governance processes.⁴⁸

In some countries, for instance Spain, equity capital from cooperative members is deemed volatile by financing institutions.⁴⁹ According to a survey conducted by the LIFE LOOP (Local Ownership Of Power) project, accessibility of bank loans to help finance projects early on is perceived especially as a strong barrier in southeast and central Europe.⁵⁰ Specifically related to energy sharing, the difficulty in accessing private financing can be partly attributed to the novelty of the concept and the legal entities used to create energy communities, which may increase perceived uncertainty in terms of bankability of investments for lenders. For instance, Hyperion, an energy community set up in Athens, Greece cited their not-for-profit purpose and focus on energy sharing as the main reason they experienced difficulty obtaining a bank loan to realise a virtual net metering project. Because energy sharing is not an activity designed to make profit, there was little that the bank felt it could secure in case of default. Inversely, if the main purpose of the energy community would have been mainly production of renewables for purpose of sale, a traditional bank would have been willing to provide a loan.

Barrier 3 LACK OF AWARENESS, TRUST AND ACCESS TO TECHNICAL EXPERTISE

In order for citizens, local authorities and other market actors to be able to exercise their new rights under the RED II and IMED, they need to be aware of the opportunities that exist. Furthermore, where energy communities are a new concept, trust needs to be built – otherwise, potential participants may be hesitant to engage or invest in an initiative. Energy communities often also need access to expertise, advice or assistance to realise different activities and initiatives.

LACK OF AWARENESS

There is still a lack of awareness and understanding of what energy communities are, how they operate, and their impact, especially in Southern, Central and Eastern Europe where energy communities are a novel concept. Stakeholders have raised to the Repository that there is a lack of publicly provided information on what an energy community is, how to start an energy community, and where to access technical assistance or financial help. Once an energy community has been started, it can also be difficult to reach a size big enough to sustain full-time employees. In France, this has been cited by energy community.

Lack of awareness may also prevent energy communities from engaging in specific activities or technologies. This is particularly noticeable around bioenergy.⁵¹ Bioenergy can be produced from a number of resources (e.g. wood, agricultural crops, organic waste) in a number of different ways, making it very complex and difficult to communicate. Furthermore, the emergence of examples of unsustainable exploitation of resources for bioenergy have made it a polarising topic, creating public acceptance issues. BEcoop, a Horizon 2020 project focusing on community bioenergy, cites lack of awareness as one of the main barriers to the uptake of bioenergy production and other related activities by energy communities. Specifically, they cite:

- A lack of awareness of national potentials for biogas and biomethane production, and the lack of transparency from the grid operator on the available grid connection points where biomethane production can be costeffectively integrated into the grid;
- Uninformed or misinformed perceptions of the environmental impacts of bioenergy; and
- A lack of awareness around the concept of energy communities with activities related to bioenergy.⁵²

LACK OF TRUST

Trust is a precondition for consumers to be willing to invest their money or time in developing an energy community, whether through collective investment in renewables production, an energy sharing project, or a more professionalised activity such as supply. **Energy communities are built by consumers as a form of self-ownership over the provision of energy services** (e.g. supply, sharing, aggregation, distribution, renovations, transport, etc), which **may impact the level of professionalisation**, implying the applicability of existing consumer rights law. **Information and transparency** are essential in helping consumers to understand the benefits and potential risks of becoming involved in an energy community. According to consumer organisations, it is important to **ensure a high standard in providing adequate pre-contractual information, including pricing, contract termination, and tariff changes**, for instance online. With digitalisation and the emergence of energy service providers and platforms, consumers need to **disclose their personal data**. As a corollary, consumers need to have comfort and trust based on their ability to control how that data is used. In this sense, energy communities have an advantage in building and maintaining trust, because they provide control to the users themselves of any service being provided. Nevertheless, it is important to ensure that consumer members within energy communities are adequately protected.

Cultural attitudes also play a significant role in the uptake of energy communities and trust does not come as natural for some cultures across Europe as for others. For example, an NGO-developed assessment of barriers to energy communities in Hungary cites the public's association of cooperatives with a soviet past, as well as patterns of state paternalism, individualism and market vulnerability, self-organisation, trust and cooperation as potential barriers that need to be overcome in order for energy communities to develop.⁵³

LACK OF TECHNICAL CAPACITY AND EXPERTISE

Even where definitions, rights and obligations have been established, they can be difficult for market actors to interpret without proper guidance and communication from the appropriate authority (e.g. NRA, Agency, local and regional authorities, etc). This view was acknowledged in interviews with stakeholders from Member States still without a definition, or where further guidance on the established definition has not yet been communicated, particularly in Central and Eastern Europe. Energy communities also need to possess technical capacity to establish a legal entity, manage project development, navigate administrative procedures, and become licensed to perform various activities. In most cases, volunteers or part-time employees must carry this burden; otherwise, legal, financial and other expertise needs to be obtained from outside the energy community, which can be costly.





Barrier 4 LACK OF ACCESSIBILITY FOR ENERGY POOR AND VULNERABLE HOUSEHOLDS

Given that many of the action drivers proposed will bring about costs that will have to be carried by wider society, it is important to ensure that participation in an energy communities is as inclusive and accessible as possible, so that all citizens can benefit. As a broad objective, however, the ambition to ensure accessibility so that energy poor and vulnerable households can participate or benefit from community energy initiatives remains largely unrealised.

One of the main barriers faced by vulnerable consumers to participate in energy communities is the **financial entry barrier**: the requirement of minimum investment for members of most community energy projects makes it unrealistic for low-income households to participate as normal shareholders.⁵⁴ In **Germany**, the average minimum financial contribution – individuals buy shares to become members – amounts to €545. This minimum contribution will often determine who can benefit from energy communities' services.⁵⁵

There is also a **lack of alignment between policies to promote energy communities and social policy**. In its research, the Repository found that where incentives exist to provide assistance in joining or financing membership in an energy community, they may still be inaccessible to low-income households or those that that are already receiving some type of social assistance. For example, in some Member States if an individual benefits from financial participation in an energy community (e.g., in the form of dividends as an extra income) this can potentially **reduce the amount of social welfare they are eligible to receive**. Furthermore, it may not be possible for low-income households to deduct investment expenditure from personal income tax, or they **may become ineligible to receive unemployment benefits** when investing in an energy community.⁵⁶ If the aim of policy is to empower vulnerable and low-income households through energy communities, their participation should not undermine their ability to continue accessing important social services.

In addition, there is a lack of awareness and expertise by the energy community sector, as well as know-how in engaging with energy poor and vulnerable households, who may also be harder to reach.⁵⁷ The CEES (Community Energy for Energy Solidarity) Horizon 2020 project recently conducted a survey that shows only a low amount (5%) of energy communities work on energy poverty as their main priority.⁵⁸ While another 25% of survey respondents said they carried out significant work on energy poverty, the respondents identified a number of barriers that prevent energy communities from engaging more with vulnerable households. Almost half of the respondents cited lack of awareness by energy poor and vulnerable households of support that is available to them, as well as a lack of knowledge and expertise by energy communities themselves to engage. Lack of funding and lack of staff were also cited as significant barriers.

There is also still a **lack of awareness by public and private (e.g. charities, NGOs, social enterprises) organisations that provide assistance to lowincome and vulnerable households**. Furthermore, while these organisations are in a good position to help identify and effectively target low-income and vulnerable groups, there are still few examples of cooperation between them and energy communities.

3.1.2 CROSS-CUTTING ACTION DRIVERS

Action Driver 1 _____ DEDICATED FINANCE ARRANGEMENTS TO SUPPORT INVESTMENT

Governments have increasingly set up dedicated public funding mechanisms to help energy communities overcome hurdles they experience in financing the first stages of the project. This can help to de-risk the preplanning stage, for instance to undertake feasibility studies and obtain legal and other technical expertise. Public funds can also be used to provide guarantees or low/zerointerest loans to energy communities for project development. Such financial assistance can be developed both at the local and national level. Below, we identify how public funds have been used to help energy communities overcome financing barriers.

Dedicated public financing mechanisms

Perhaps the most famous funding scheme for supporting energy communities is **Scotland's Community and Renewable Energy Scheme (CARES)**. CARES was set up a decade ago to support community renewable energy production. Currently, it provides grants to support feasibility studies for projects regarding renewables production, heat, shared ownership, local energy plans, and community buildings. In order to be eligible, the applicant must be a non-profit distribution community organisation, including charities and faith groups, that operate within a geographically defined area. CARES was modelled around the basic principle that if the project does not go forward, the community does not have to pay any of the money back, effectively de-risking the pre-planning phase of the project. If the project goes forward, the grant turns into a loan that must be paid back. It was the first of its kind and it has been replicated in **the Netherlands**, while similar revolving fund concepts have been adopted in **Denmark**, **Germany** and **Ireland**. The Government of Ireland actually cited CARES as an inspiration for a similar mechanism that it has placed in RESS to help facilitate the development of RECs.

In **Denmark**, in late 2021 the government published an Executive Order that it would provide support for local energy communities and local climate initiatives of about 5.0 million DKK ($\in 0,672$ million) annually between 2022 and 2025.⁵⁹ This funding, which is provided through grants, can finance dissemination of information, as well as the planning, establishment and organisation of production, storage, flexibility and energy efficiency projects.

In **the Netherlands**, the Ministry of Economic Affairs set up a revolving Development Fund in 2021 for energy cooperatives ('Ontwikkelfonds voor energiecoöperaties'). The Development Fund followed up the Stichting Doen, which ran between 2016 and 2019 and provided loans to cover development costs of mostly up to \in 5,000 to solar and wind projects. The Development Fund is managed by Energie Samen, in cooperation with regional umbrella organisations and project offices. The fund offers initial grants to cover staff support from a member project office, costs to conduct feasibility research, to assess the viability of the project's organisation and plans, and to go through the process of getting an eventual loan. The Development Fund is also now complemented by a separate Realisatiefonds, (or Realisation Fund), which provides preferential loans between \in 30,000 - 1 million to help build large-scale PV projects. The Realisation Fund covers up to 75% of the total realisation costs of the project.

In **Ireland**, grants are provided for early-, mid- and late-stage project development for renewable energy community projects under RESS.⁶⁰ Eligible costs include project design, planning, obtaining a grid connection, submission costs and obtaining advice for project financing. These grants are managed by the Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI), which also provides grants for community groups that want to engage in renovations. Ireland's RESS also includes the establishment of a Community Benefit Fund. Each project that receives subsidies through the RESS must contribute €2 per MWh. These Community Benefit Funds can finance, among other things, the establishment of community renewable energy projects.

Use of European funds

Many Member States are making use of European Funds to support the development of energy communities. For instance, **Spain's Recovery**, **Transformation and Resilience Plan** established an incentive program for singular pilot projects of energy communities.⁶¹ \in 100 million is earmarked for energy communities, in the form of grants. Eligible projects include not just production, but also energy savings and renovations initiatives.

Latvia has also used EU Funds to help jump-start the energy community sector, which is still in early stages of development. In particular, Latvia's **Cohesion Policy Programme** for 2021–2027 will provide financial support to encourage the installation of PV systems and storage equipment by energy communities, particularly cooperatives, and households. The government also plans to provide investment support to energy communities under the multiannual operational programme of the **Modernisation Fund**⁶².

Lithuania's Recovery and Resilience Plan explicitly mentions energy communities as potential beneficiaries. To help them access the funds, tenders provide bonus scoring to energy communities. The Fund also references the national law on energy communities, which provides a rather concrete definition of RECs. The Fund will provide grants for energy communities that address energy poverty, and $\in 60$ million will be provided in subsidised loans for municipalities to promote energy communities. These funds are intended to assist energy communities and prosumers so that they are able to develop 2 GW of additional production, which has been reserved for connection to the grid.

Under Italy's Recovery and Resilience Plan, €2.2 billion have been earmarked to provide financial resources for the establishment of RECs, focusing primarily on small municipalities with less than 5,000 inhabitants.⁶³ Grants of up to 100 percent can be provided for the development of production and consumption of renewable energy from electric and thermal sources⁶⁴. Eligible expenses include technical and technical-scientific assistance for purchasing all the components that are essential to realise production, distribution and sharing facilities, the purchase costs of storage systems, and legal and administrative assistance for the definition of agreements.

Local and regional funds

In Germany, the federal State of Schleswig-Holstein has set up a revolving funding scheme (Burgerenergie.SH) to cover pre-finance costs in the start-up phase.⁶⁵ The intent was to reduce the financial risks during the startup phase



of the project, and to provide independent advice. It funds not only renewable electricity production, but also heat, mobility, energy efficiency in buildings, and digitalisation projects.⁶⁶ In 2022, the **Federal State of Thuringia** replicated this model, allocating €500,000 in loans to support community energy. Funds can be used for feasibility studies, site studies, surveys, environmental impact assessments, and other steps usually taken before building a renewable energy production facility.⁶⁷ These revolving funds have also helped inspire a national-level revolving fund for wind projects of citizen energy companies in Germany. In **Italy, Structural Funds** (primarily the ERDF and the ESF), have been utilised by a number of Regions, including **Lombardy, Emilia Romagna, Lazio, Campania, Sicily, and Sardinia**. These funds are primarily aimed at financing feasibility studies and establishment of the REC itself, much of which are targeted at municipalities.⁶⁸ Furthermore, in the Netherlands, the provinces of **South Holland, Utrecht, Limburg, and Drenthe** created a special development fund to provide start-up finance and risk capital to cover upfront costs.⁶⁹

Municipal grants and other financial incentives to encourage investment are also a good and simple way to help finance community projects. For instance, in 2017, the **City of Amsterdam**, launched a rebate programme for community rooftop solar projects called "Dak voor de Stad" providing subsidies to help rooftop PV projects with at least 100 kW of installed capacity and "solar cooperatives" with a minimum of 10 members to cover the costs of purchasing and installing the PV systems.⁷⁰ In **the UK**, the **City Council of Bristol** set up a Bristol Community Energy Fund that provides grants and loans to local community groups to cover the development costs of their renewable energy projects.

Guarantees

Guarantees provide assurance to a lender that any finance provided will be paid back. Providing guarantees is already something that cooperatives do together. For instance, a Belgian cooperative, Ecopower, provided a guarantee to Enercoop, a cooperative in France, so that they could start supplying green electricity. It is also possible for governments to provide **State-backed guarantees**, for instance in order to help energy communities enter into a PPA. This has been put forward by the European Commission in its Electricity Market Design proposal.

Guarantees are also an increasingly popular way to finance larger infrastructure projects at the local level, particularly district heating networks. In **the Netherlands**, in 2009 a Dutch energy community, Thermo Bello, received a 100% **municipal guaranteed loan** from the **City of Culemborg** when it bought assets to establish a cooperative district heating company. More recently, a cooperative district heating project in the city of Haarlem received a municipal guarantee on a small part of the CAPEX investment for the project.

Other forms of finance

While public funding sources play a significant role in helping energy communities develop at the national level, particularly during the early stage, there are also a number of alternative ways to fund community projects, from renewable energy production projects to energy savings and other energy services. This can include sources such as:

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

- Equity financing Equity financing implies providing an ownership stake in the energy community, through the issuing of shares to new and existing members. This funding strategy can be used to set up the community as an organisation (i.e. establish the legal entity), or as a way to fund projects. In Member States where energy communities are more mature, energy communities have been able to set up collective equity funds. For instance, in France, Énergie Partagée manages a cooperative revolving fund (Énergie Partagée Investissement). 90 percent of the fund is allocated to investments in implementation or operation stages of project development, while 10 percent of the fund is allocated to development and preparation stages of projects (through a separate fund called EnRciT).
- **Bank loans** While obtaining bank loans can be complicated, both for community projects and financial institutions themselves, they can play a significant role in scaling up projects. As banks are generally risk averse and require a lot of information, it can be difficult to communicate community initiatives as a safe investment to a bank. Nevertheless, this hurdle can be overcome through education and outreach so that banks can become familiarised with the business model of energy communities. According to Centrales Villageoises, a French association representing locally governed renewable energy projects, accessing finance was a real barrier at the beginning. However, after training and education of banks on the specificities of the energy community model, and once the model began to spread, this barrier has become less of an issue. Furthermore, ethical or cooperative banks that already share similar values to energy communities can make good partners for obtaining loans. For instance, cooperative banks have often been involved in financing community renewables production projects. In Spain, a citizen energy community, Goiener, has entered into a sort of framework agreement to develop future renewable energy projects, even though such funding is not yet necessary.
- Crowd investment Crowd investment is a form of debt financing. However, instead of going through a bank or another financial institution, it is made up of small individual loans by different actors. This type of funding can be provided by both members and non-members of an energy community. Crowd investment strategies have been successfully used by energy communities in Greece, Germany, and Croatia.
- Bonds similar to crowd investment, bonds are a form of debt financing. In this case, an energy community, as a company, sells bonds to individual investors within a predefined fixed amount of time. At the end of the period, the bond is repaid by the energy community, with interest. While this financing strategy has been used by some advanced community energy organisations in the UK, it is still quite difficult for energy communities in Europe to access.



WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE FINANCING STRATEGY FOR AN ENERGY COMMUNITY?

It is important to understand the various implications that different sources of funding can have for the energy community, including its independence and internal governance. While it is beyond the scope of this Report to identify all the pros and cons of each strategy, or whether they are suitable in a particular Member State, there are a growing number of resources published by NGOs and EU-funded projects that pool together experiences from energy communities across the EU that can provide inspiring examples and insights.

SCCALE 20 30 50 – Financing Guide for Energy Communities

ACCE – Best Practice Report on Access to Capital for Community Energy

Compile – Financing Guide

COMPILE - Report on Novel Financing Instruments for RECs

PROSPECT+ - <u>Resources Section</u>

Profundo and Friends of the Earth Europe – <u>Energy Communities in the EU: Opportunities</u> <u>and barriers to financing</u>

REScoop 20-20-20 - Handbook on Investment Schemes for REScoop Projects

Community Power Project – <u>Community Power Financing: Mobilisation of public-private</u> <u>financing for community based sustainable energy projects in Central and Eastern Europe</u>

Energy Cities - Investment Needs for the Local Energy Transition



These alternative sources of funding can be mixed with each other and combined with public funding. For example, in **the UK**, in 2021 community energy groups secured £12.2m in development funding from 12 different sources including public funds and other charitable or community-focused funding sources. While in **Scotland** a majority of funding came from CARES, in **Wales** there was a diverse set of funding sources from government funding to other sources.⁷¹ This funding has come on top of £11.9m in investment raised for new projects, which include self-funding, community shares, grants, and bonds.⁷²
ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Measuring the impact of financing schemes for energy communities

Where they have been put in place, they have helped support the growth of energy communities. For instance in Scotland, the CARES scheme helped the Scottish government meet its 2020 goal of 500 MW of local and community owned renewable energy production by 2016, only three years after its inception.⁷³ Concretely, it has helped the number of energy communities grow to 103 community energy organisations with 82 MW of installed capacity in 2022.⁷⁴ In **the Netherlands**, between 2016 and 2020, when the first public financing support mechanism 'Stichting Doen', was operative, the growth of energy cooperatives almost doubled from 304 to 584.⁷⁵ Furthermore, since the Realisation Fund's establishment in 2021, it has helped 43 energy community projects secure loans to build large-scale PV projects.⁷⁶

Many of the more recent schemes that have been developed are still in the early stages of implementation. As such, it is difficult to measure their impact or how well they have helped energy communities develop. Nevertheless, some schemes, particularly those that are being set up under EU funds have been instrumental in supporting the first pilots in countries where energy communities did not yet exist. In any case, Member States should ensure that support contributes to the development of energy communities with a sustainable business model to make best possible use of public resources.



Action Driver 2 TOOLS TO PROMOTE AWARENESS, ACCESS TO EXPERTISE, AND TRUST BUILDING

Transparency and tools to communicate important information to different stakeholders can help address a number of barriers that energy communities face in terms of awareness and lack of capacity. These tools can help provide legal clarity, the development of reasonable investment expectations, as well as help build trust by citizens around the concept of energy communities.

Raising awareness around energy communities and facilitating access to expertise

Several Member States are creating different ways of supporting and raising awareness, and providing technical advice on how to get started with a project. A couple of different models have emerged so far, one based on a governmentbacked entity (e.g. Agency), either at the national or local level, while the other also relies on civil society-based networks. Such bodies, often called one-stop-shops (OSS), can provide information and expertise covering many different topics ranging from renovations and energy efficiency savings measures to helping with developing renewable energy production projects. They typically provide technical, financial and legal services such as consultation, facilitation, legal advice, finance advice and provision, assessment, and assistance navigating administrative procedures.⁷⁷

Austria has assumed the first approach. As part of its transposition of the CEP, the national government set up the **Austrian Coordination Office for Energy Communities** (Österreichische Koordinationsstelle für Energiegemeinschaften) inside the Austrian Energy Agency.⁷⁸ The Coordination Office provides an

online one-stop shop for information on energy communities and setting up a project. It provides a map to identify different energy communities, and includes information on obtaining funding, template contracts and agreements that must be entered into with different actors, as well as brochures and guides on specific topics. The Coordination Office also contains a help desk and serves as a link to experts. The Coordination Office is also responsible for making administrative procedures more efficient, faster and transparent. To accomplish this task, it coordinates vis-à-vis the Ministry of Climate (BMK), the NRA (E-Control), and regional governments ("Bundesländer"). The DSOs in Austria also work with the Coordination Office through the working group, as well as share information. SHAREs, a Horizon 2020 project, has also created a template that can be used to replicate an online one-stop shop, based on the model used by the Austrian Coordination Office. It can be rolled out in different countries, and is available in six different languages.⁷⁹

Regulators and other Agencies can also provide a vital function for promoting clarity and guidance to stakeholders about new rules being put in place on energy communities. In the **Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium**, Brugel, the NRA, has developed a **guidance** document on the three different energy community definitions that exist for the region in order to help stakeholders understand how they can comply with the principles and successfully register an energy community.⁸⁰ It also presents explanations on its website to provide prospective energy communities with clarity around applicable rules, regulations, and procedures. In **Portugal**, **ADENE** (Agêcia para a Energy, or Energy Agency) **and DGEG** (Direção-Geral de Energia e Geologia, or Director General of Energy and Geology), have created a **legislative guide**, **or manual**, **on renewables self-consumption and energy communities** to help stakeholders understand and interpret legislation and regulations, the different concepts that exist, options for setting up initiatives, and practical procedures (e.g. registration, licensing, etc).⁸¹

Local and regional government bodies have a role in bringing community initiatives together, and to provide them with support. In Germany, NRW. Energy4Climate, the regional energy agency in North Rhine-Westphalia set up a networking platform for community initiatives to facilitate exchange, networking and cooperation, and to provide starter advice for new community initiatives.⁸² In Belgium, the City of Gent provides technical support to specific **community projects.** Through the provision of funding, a REC, EnerGent, was able to hire an expert to support the development of a local smart grid project.⁸³ In the City of Valencia, Spain, an Energy Office was set up to provide support to citizens in different neighbourhoods so they could set up energy communities.⁸⁴ The Energy Office provides trained staff to discuss energy issues, an environmental educator, a social worker, an architect and an engineer. This team runs workshops, and supports starting initiatives to get going. The City of Barcelona also provides an online map to highlight buildings that have **potential for PV production**. The aim is that this will help energy communities in finding sites for new projects.85

Governments can also rely on civil society or non-profit organisations to disseminate awareness and provide advice. In Scotland, the Government entrusted CARES to an independent non-profit organisation, the Energy Saving Trust, which was set up in 1992 to promote awareness around energy conservation. Currently, CARES is managed by another non-profit organisation, Local Energy Scotland. In the Region of Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium, the Ministry appointed an NGO that promotes the energy transition, Énergie Commune, as a 'Facilitator' to provide technical, economic, legal, administrative expertise, and other tools to promoters of energy community and energy sharing projects in the region.⁸⁶ This also includes specific guidance and workshops for local authorities, so they can better understand how to support

energy communities, as well as participate in their development. They have also organised a workshop focused on how to undertake energy sharing in social housing. In **Slovakia**, the **Ministry is supposed to designate an organisation** to act as a contact point for guiding projects through administrative procedures. The organisation should support project leaders, provide legal/technical/ economic tools, inform potential stakeholders, and provide guidance and workshops to municipalities.

While providing finance or staff resources to provide expertise to community projects can act as a driver of such initiatives, it is important to acknowledge that many local authorities actually lack the staff resources and expertise themselves to undertake projects or help local communities get off the ground. In this regard, in its 10 Measures in Favour of Citizen Renewable Energy, the **French Ministry** committed itself to **increasing the number of advisors for locally-governed projects in the regions by 50%**, through ADEME (Agence de la Transition Ecologique, or The Ecological Transition Agency) and a new network of PV and wind advisors for local authorities.⁸⁷

Tools to promote trust

Consumers often rely on resources provided online or through another trusted resource to help make decisions from choosing their supplier to becoming a prosumer. Comparison tools can be an important lever in this regard. In the **Flanders Region of Belgium**, the Regional NRA, **VREG** (Vlaamse Regulator van Elektriciteit en Gas), **includes energy communities in its online comparison tool** so citizens are aware, and can consult and compare the offer of energy communities vis-à-vis more traditional suppliers.

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Elaboration and clear communication by energy communities to existing and potential new members helps to build the legitimacy of internal decision-making process, and the sharing of benefits and costs and potential liabilities. In this sense, involvement by local authorities (as a trusted local leader) has been shown to have an important effect of creating trust and confidence in local projects.⁸⁸ Some Member States have elaborated rules for energy communities to ensure transparency and fair treatment of members. These rules sometimes require the development of internal standards within the energy community to allow for the exit of members, handle dispute resolution procedures, ensure fair internal decision making and voting rights of the members, and to protect data. Several Member States, including all three regions of Belgium, and Croatia, require these terms to be elaborated in an agreement between the members, or through the founding statutes. A number of Member States, including Flanders and the Brussels-Capital Regions of Belgium as well as Croatia, Greece, Germany, Greece, Lithuania, Sweden, and Ireland ensure internal decision-making is independent from private interests by placing limitations on the number of shares individual members may have, imposing a one person - one vote principle, or by simply requiring the community to provide for autonomy in their founding statutes.



Action Driver 3 FACILITATING ACCESS FOR VULNERABLE HOUSEHOLDS

There is still not a lot of existing examples of policies or measures to help expand access to energy communities for vulnerable and low-income households. Nevertheless, it is worth highlighting some of the **innovative solutions that have** emerged through different energy communities:⁸⁹

- Some energy communities offer special share prices for vulnerable groups (e.g. below €50);
- The city can buy shares in the energy community and hand them over to vulnerable households to enable their participation (e.g. the City of Eeklo in Belgium – see more below);
- Municipalities can be required to share a designated amount of selfgenerated electricity with low-income households. In Italy, local authorities that participate in CECs should adopt initiatives to promote participation of vulnerable customers, so that the latter can access the environmental, economic, and social benefits generated by the community;
- In cooperation with a local bank, the energy community can offer zerointerest loans to vulnerable households to finance their participation;
- Energy communities that provide concrete social benefits could gain access to an enabling framework that includes tax benefits and access to subsidies. On the contrary, those energy providers that do not provide such benefits would still carry the full tax burden;

- Low-income households could receive social welfare payments in the form of energy bill subsidies to finance membership in an energy community. A similar mechanism has been shown to be effective in Spain for unemployed individuals who received unemployment benefits as a lump-sum to set up or join Sociedades Laborales (a worker-owned company). It is important to note that this may create additional administrative burden for the supplier. It could also create issues around cross-subsidisation;
- Allow low-income households to benefit from shared energy without the need for any financial investments. In Greece, it is possible for an energy community to provide electricity for free to energy poor customers in the context of virtual net metering projects (a form of energy sharing), even if such consumers are not members of the community.

Energy communities are also developing or enhancing new ways of **cooperation** with organisations that already provide assistance to low income and vulnerable households. In the City of Eeklo, Belgium, Ecopower, a cooperative, is working on a way for vulnerable households to be able to become a member in the cooperative (allowing them to receive services including supply of electricity and advice on saving energy, and to participate in decision making) through prefinancing of shares by the Municipality. They are testing out this concept as a pilot project in a Horizon project called Power UP, which focuses on promoting social innovation.⁹⁰ Specifically, the City of Eeklo will finance the shares from the income it receives from one of the wind turbines partly owned by the City.

Energy communities are also testing out models to try **and facilitate access to energy sharing by vulnerable households**. With the help of the municipal

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

OCMW (CPAS), the Public Centre for Social Welfare, ECoOB, a cooperative **in the region of the City of Leuven Belgium**, is reaching out to vulnerable households (both renters and homeowners) to provide solar panels as a service. ECoOB, who maintains ownership of the installation, offers renewable electricity of up to 1500 kWh per family, invoicing residents/owners a monthly fixed amount, which is lower than the social tariff in Belgium. Another energy community from Mechelen, 'Klimaan', which has a similar model of developing energy sharing, is working through a LIFE funded project (Tandems) to **integrate co-ownership into the concept so that vulnerable households not only benefit from reduced renewable energy but also have the chance to take ownership**.⁹¹

Energy communities are also helping **spread awareness around energy communities to experts who advise vulnerable citizens.** In **Scotland**, ALlenergy, a charity, has been providing advice, training, mentoring and other support to people in West-Scotland experiencing fuel poverty for over 20 years. To help find connections with households experiencing energy poverty, ALlenergy has been training members of organisations that provide different social services (health, debt advice, addiction advice, food banks, literacy, etc) to citizens to identify fuel-poverty. This has resulted in a **networking and referral service** (Argyll and Bute Advice Network, or ABAN) that links back to ALIenergy. Through the Horizon-funded project, CEES (Community Energy for Energy Solidarity), ALIenergy is helping energy communities to develop their own referral services so that they can partner with other social services providers to identify and reach out to energy poor and vulnerable households. This approach is now being replicated in a pilot project by Zelena Energetska Zadruga (ZEZ, or Green Energy Cooperative) in **Croatia** through CEES.

In France, Enercoop, an energy community, established a fund called Énergie Solidaire in 2017 to collect microdonations, both from its members (through a small surplus on their energy bill) and from producers (through donating produced energy). The fund is jointly governed between Enercoop and Les Amis



d'Enercoop, an association focusing on energy poverty issues. The fund also has an Engagement Committee made of up of experts and partner organisations fighting against energy poverty. The Engagement Committee helps identify local organisations working around France that can receive funding for projects. This provides a solidarity mechanism whereby Énergie Solidaire provides support to organisations that are already experts in addressing energy poverty. As of 2021, €220,000 had been distributed to 10 different organisations around France.⁹²

A few Member States have started to concretely integrate accessibility issues into supportive policies for energy communities at the national level. For instance, the Lithuanian Recovery and Resilience Fund will provide grants for energy communities that address energy poverty. The Italian Region of Sicily uses regional funds to provide financing for feasibility studies and the establishment of RECs. The eligibility criteria for accessing these funds include a requirement that at least 10 percent of the REC's members should be vulnerable consumers.⁹³

3.2 Renewable energy production

Community-owned renewable energy production is one of the older and wellknown activities of energy communities. Many energy communities across EU Member States produce renewable energy from various sources including wind, sun, geothermic, biomass, micro-hydro, and biogas. Production has always made up most of the activities of energy communities.⁹⁴ Producers can sell their energy to a supplier, directly to another consumer (in the case of supply), or even to another public off-taker (e.g. the TSO, the Transmission System Operator).⁹⁵ Production can also be used for collective consumption, or energy sharing, although this topic is covered more concretely in section 3.3 below. It is important to note that RECs are restricted to producing energy from renewable sources, while CECs are not bound by the same requirement. Nevertheless, for the purposes of this report, we only refer to technologies that qualify as a renewable energy source.

Given the extensive literature that exists on energy communities that engage in renewable energy production, particularly cooperatives, the barriers are rather well-known. Indeed, best practices around supporting community renewable energy production have been a topic of focus since 2013.⁹⁶ In its Impact Assessment accompanying its proposal for a Recast Renewable Energy Directive in 2016, the Commission cited specific issues including difficulties to face grid connection costs (especially non-shallow costs), participation in tender schemes, and an inability to overcome administrative barriers.⁹⁷ Below, we look at the main barriers and drivers to engaging in production of renewable energy.



3.2.1 BARRIERS TO RENEWABLE ENERGY PRODUCTION BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Barrier 1 LACK OF SITES FOR PRODUCTION

Energy communities have often faced challenges finding appropriate sites to install renewable energy production. Lack of space for siting production installations has been identified as a barrier in several Member States.⁹⁸ In general, this is a barrier that many project developers face. However, because of their unique characteristics, energy communities face a competitive disadvantage compared to larger commercial market actors. In particular, **commercial project developers are in a better position to leverage their market position to outcompete energy communities for access to land.** This has been well documented in countries like Germany and Denmark, which have a history of energy communities but have also faced growing competition from an increasingly professionalised and competitive sector over the last three decades.⁹⁹

In some cases, for instance in **Belgium**, lack of sites for production has partly to do with a lack of available overall space with renewable energy production potential in combination with a wind rush of investors buying fiduciary rights over suitable sites to anticipate developing wind projects.¹⁰⁰ In **Denmark**, in the 1980's wind turbine owners were required to live within a 9 km radius from the turbine, resulting in between 120,000 and 140,000 local wind power shareholders.¹⁰¹ With the abolition of this rule, the sector became much more

commercialised and competitive. According to some national stakeholders, the development of onshore wind was slowed partly due to commercial project developers entering into leasing contracts with landowners to develop projects, which have since not been built due to, amongst other factors, public opposition.¹⁰² While there is generally appetite for local communities to construct their own wind projects, the lack of local ownership has been cited as a reason for opposition.¹⁰³ This has resulted in communities being unable to develop their projects because the **land is still tied up in old lease agreements**, even though the leaseholder would not be able to get planning approval for the project due to local opposition.

In Germany, access to sites for production has been linked to difficulties for community owned projects to compete against the price offered by larger project developers to rent or lease land from private property owners. In Eastern Germany, the privatisation of formerly State-owned agricultural and forest areas was performed through auctions that designated suitable and priority wind areas. The larger investors were able to submit a higher bid than energy communities when securing land for wind turbines, which is cited as a reason why it has been difficult to create local/regional value from wind production by local citizens and municipalities.¹⁰⁴ Energy communities focusing on heating using forest biomass have also mentioned privatisation of local forest management, which can prevent access to resources.¹⁰⁵

Due to the cost competitiveness of solar PV, energy communities often choose to develop PV projects on roofs and other local publicly available spaces. When a public authority allows for the exploitation of renewable energy production by a private actor on sites that it controls, it must do so through an open competitive bidding process that is governed by national and EU public procurement rules.¹⁰⁶

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🗰 🖺 🕤

Historically, public procurement and concession rules have focused primarily on looking for the **best possible value for the lowest possible price**, which creates struggles for an energy community competing against a larger commercial market actor. While **local authorities are allowed to integrate social criteria into procurement rules and procedures**, there is often a **lack of legal clarity around how to set up and implement such criteria**, making public authorities hesitant to do so.¹⁰⁷

According to research from the COMPILE Horizon 2020 project, EU and national procurement rules are highly complex, and municipalities that are not well-resourced can experience difficulties navigating these rules.¹⁰⁸ Due to the complexity of the legal framework governing public procurement and the possibility for unsuccessful bidders to challenge public procurement decisions, there is often reluctance to take risk by incorporating social criteria in tendering procedures. In Estonia and Poland, national public procurement rules have been identified as a major barrier preventing municipalities from prioritising locally produced energy in public procurement.¹⁰⁹ This research is backed up by a study on perceptions of how public procurement rules impact the development of energy communities. According to a survey under the LIFE LOOP Live project,¹¹⁰ public procurement policies are strongly perceived as an outright barrier to community energy projects. The same could be said about respondents' perceptions of whether public procurement policies are compatible with providing support to community energy projects.¹¹¹



Barrier 2 AUCTION-BASED PROCEDURES FOR ACCESSING NATIONAL RENEWABLES SUPPORT SCHEMES

Much of the literature on energy communities points towards national renewables support schemes as one of the earlier drivers of community ownership of renewable energy production. Especially for non-traditional ownership models such as cooperatives, trusts or foundations, housing associations and other types of social enterprises, the ability to show a lender that the project has access to a fixed feed-in tariff or feed-in premium has helped to assure lenders of the predictability of recovering the loan amount.¹¹²

The risks that auctions pose to energy communities have been researched thoroughly.¹¹³ A study by IRENA, the International Renewable Energy Agency, states that while auctions for renewable energy can be an efficient way to attract large-scale investors and bring down prices, **participating in these auctions includes high transaction costs**, **due to the administrative procedures involved, and relevant qualification requirements**.¹¹⁴ Whereas energy communities already experience issues in raising sufficient finance for local projects due to their inherent characteristics, **participation in auctions can raise risk** by further increasing costs without any guarantee of securing operational support.

Furthermore, most auctions are determined based purely on price, which does not take into consideration other policy objectives that may be pursued, such as social acceptance, local benefits, or citizen participation. The IRENA study also finds that auctions that focus purely on price may result in geographical clustering, which can be understood as the concentration of installations in a particular geographical area that favours producing conditions (e.g. high wind). This can result in a high rate of construction of production installations in particular regions, creating potential public acceptance issues. Due to economies of scale, participation from large market actors crowd out small and medium-sized project developers, and potential exclusion of communities from the decision-making process.¹¹⁵

Participating in an auction requires the development of bidding strategies that rely on information on overall development of the market, bidding strategies of other market actors, relying on economies of scale, as well as hedging (i.e. bidding for multiple projects with the realisation that some will be successful).¹¹⁶ These are all strategies that energy communities are unable to deploy.

Germany is a good example of how moving to competitive bidding (e.g. tenders and auctions) can impact the ability of energy communities to access support schemes. At the height of the growth of community-owned renewable energy production in Germany, for instance, as of 2013 there were 942 officially registered energy cooperatives, 91 percent of which were registered after 2006.¹¹⁷ This was enabled by the introduction of fixed feed-in tariffs (FiTs) in 2003, which provided a fixed incentive to anyone interested in constructing new renewable electricity production from wind, solar or biomass. This FiTs system incentivised investment in production by farmers and groups of ordinary citizens. A shift to competitive bidding as a precondition to access renewables support schemes in Germany placed a significant barrier on the further development of community renewables production, and their overall share of production continues to decrease.¹¹⁸ In 2015, solar PV projects above 750 kW were required to participate in tenders, while the same requirement was adopted for onshore wind in 2017.¹¹⁹ This coincides with a drop in citizen or cooperative investment from 36 percent in 2012 to only 15 percent in 2016. Even with the introduction of a special designation of 'citizen energy companies' in auctions for onshore wind, the number of new energy cooperatives continued to go down.¹²⁰ As explained in cross-cutting Barrier 1 of this report, to accommodate community projects in the onshore wind auction, citizen energy companies were provided with some special privileges. This included the ability to bid without having conducted an environmental impact assessment, and by being given an additional 24 months to complete projects compared to other bidders.¹²¹ However, because of an overly-loose definition, many traditional market actors fit themselves into the definition. As a response, these privileges were withdrawn, although citizen energy companies could still benefit from a lower security requirement when placing a bid (€15 compared to €30 for other developers), and eligibility to automatically receive the clearing price rather than submit a bid price.¹²²

In contrast to onshore wind, there were no preferential conditions included for community projects for solar PV. In eight bidding rounds, 11 bids were submitted by cooperatives (1.35 percent of the total bids) during the first four rounds, two of which were successful.¹²³ In the subsequent four rounds, no cooperatives submitted bids. Instead, cooperatives simply determined to construct projects below the threshold.

Data compiled below by the NRA, the German Network Agency (BNetzA), shows how the bids and contracts awarded to community onshore wind projects went down after the 2017 changes. This corresponds with data compiled by DGRV, the German Cooperative and Raiffeisen Confederation, a national representative and auditing organisation, showing the decline in new energy cooperatives during this time. Furthermore, according to an internal survey conducted by DGRV, the percentage of cooperatives stating that they planned to build more solar plants had gone down annually between 2018 and 2021 from 72% to 38%.



ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Figure 1: Data on the decreasing number of community and cooperative energy projects in Germany under competitive bidding¹²⁴



Number of new energy co-operatives in Germany by year Share of comr

Share of community energy has shrunk under German auctions for onshore wind.



After the first three rounds, the rules for Bürgerenergie were made stricter after mainly professional developers had qualified as community projects.

Source: German Network Agency (BNetzA).



Similar trends could also be seen in **Denmark** where after the introduction of auctions in 2018, the number of projects installed by communities as well as the number of established energy communities decreased. According to one study, between 1985-1994, local wind cooperatives installed the largest share of onshore wind power, and between 2008-2016, 61 percent of new onshore wind capacity was installed by local and collective citizen ownership models.¹²⁵ However, between 2019-2020, after auctions were introduced, only 11 percent of onshore wind capacity was installed by citizens, and only one out of seven wind projects granted in auctions between 2018-2019 had citizen ownership.¹²⁶

There is even one case where a non-profit consortium, including a limited partnership, Wind & Welfare (made up of the NGO, Wind People, and local citizens), the Ærø Foundation, and another company, attempted to bid into a Danish nearshore wind tender. However, due to the framework conditions under which the tender was designed, a report found that it was not possible for nonprofit organisations to participate in popular projects in connection with tenders for nearshore wind in Denmark.¹²⁷ In this particular instance, the consortium did not make it past the pregualification phase. This was mainly due to a requirement to have an average turnover of 4 billion DKK over the past three years, as well as the short time frame of three months between the publication of the tender and the deadline for submission of bids. Neither of these criteria accounted for the way in which the non-profit consortium organised itself. Furthermore, the report found that due to the market being dominated by a few large actors that have already established cooperation with turbine suppliers, advisors, lawyers, banks and other consultants, traditional participants in the tender were reluctant to collaborate with this consortium.¹²⁸

Moves towards competitive procedures for supporting renewables production also correlate with another underlying challenge for bottom-up projects: the stability of the regulation as a key factor for successful community renewable energy projects.¹²⁹ While this is an issue all market actors face, due to their characteristics energy communities are more sensitive to changes. Examples of such practices may include the regular changing of rules that set the economic conditions for investing in production, abrupt phase out of operational support,¹³⁰ or the transition towards competitive procedures.¹³¹ In the UK, the reduction, and temporary removal, of tariff subsidies for renewable electricity production was cited by the Energy Saving Trust of Scotland as likely one of the most significant causes of the slowing uptake of new communityowned renewable energy production capacity between 2016 and 2020. At the same time, it can be a driver for energy communities to develop business models that are less subsidy dependent and centred around the activity of energy sharing, supply and flexibility services, provided that necessary market conditions, private financing tools and regulatory frameworks are in place for energy communities to engage therein.

The above illustrates the importance of developing an enabling framework that provides energy communities with a viable pathway towards economically sustainable business models that are not entirely reliant on public support. Nevertheless, it also shows that, when designing public support schemes for renewables, market-based rules need to be designed to ensure smaller and non-commercial market actors can still access such support.

Barrier 3 DIFFICULTIES OBTAINING A GRID CONNECTION

Limited grid capacity has been a growing issue throughout the EU and impacts all project developers, creating issues around competition for grid connections. For example, in the **Czech Republic**, it is possible to get a grid connection, but this is under the condition that no electricity is injected into the grid. It is much more difficult to be permitted to feed into the network. With the increased integration of distributed renewables and electrification of demand, and limited available grid capacity, congestion issues have become a real concern for allowing for uptake of energy sharing. This can already be observed in countries like **the Netherlands**, **Greece**, **Lithuania**. In **Greece**, 49% of all requests for virtual-metering projects submitted by energy communities in 2022 were reportedly denied.¹³²

While challenges related to grid constraints are faced by other market actors as well, they tend to be exacerbated for energy communities by the fact that their **projects are often rooted in and confined to a local context through their members.** Therefore, they have **limited options for where to connect**, because they **cannot simply relocate a project to an area where the grid is not constrained**.¹³³ Based on previous research conducted under the CO-Power Intelligent Energy Europe project and recent interviews with community groups, this can **increase the need for reinforcements to the network**, particularly for bigger energy community projects.¹³⁴ Furthermore, as with other activities, energy communities face distinct limitations due to their lack of human and financial resources, their lack of technical experience, their governance model, their community objectives, and the length of time it takes to set up their projects.

Taken together, these factors result in energy communities moving slower than other market actors, placing them in an inherent **disadvantage competing** with other market participants to obtain a connection to an increasingly congested grid. Typically, grid allocation is either determined on a first-comefirst-served basis, or through an auction process. In Ireland, the first-comefirst-served approach has prevented energy community projects in Galway and Mayo counties from getting into the queue to have a grid connection application considered, despite applications being submitted in 2016.135 Through Ireland's RESS scheme, these projects have finally been able to enter into the administrative process. Nevertheless, grid congestion issues have still hampered their ability to obtain a connection. For example, local contractual congestion, which means that more grid capacity has been reserved than is actually used by the grid user, was cited as an issue for where a project could be sited. In Portugal, energy communities have stated that the auction process used to allocate grid connections is unfair to energy communities because they must compete with investors that want to sell the connection to another party, and it is difficult for smaller non-commercial market actors to navigate the procedure and submit a bid that is competitive compared to other larger commercial projects.

This issue is exacerbated, particularly in Member States where market actors have the right to sell their permit for a grid connection to other operators. This creates a situation where the grid is virtually occupied, creating more scarcity, and driving up the price. Such market arrangements inherently conflict with projects whose main aims are meeting consumption needs and pursuing community benefits. Furthermore, navigation of grid connection and other related administrative procedures (e.g. to receive relevant permits) have been identified as a significant barrier to the development of renewables production projects by energy communities. In particular, there is often a lack of transparency on information that community groups need at the outset of planning and developing a project. This includes information on available grid capacity at different connection points, and a lack of clear procedures. Community groups also expressed that they experienced significant challenges in having basic questions answered by the DSO, the Distribution System Operator.

Furthermore, there may be a lack of transparency on estimated costs and the way in which costs for obtaining a grid connection are allocated. Communities often do not know when they apply for a grid connection how much it will cost, and finding information on this can be difficult. Furthermore, energy communities experience difficulty in meeting the terms set by the DSO to pay for the grid connection and any other related reinforcements that might be needed. For instance, the Repository interviewed several individuals involved in energy community projects under RESS in Ireland. They all acknowledged that RESS had helped them to get into the process of obtaining a grid connection. However, they highlighted that the process was not transparent and that they experienced uncertainty throughout the process, including on the costs of the connection. One of the projects highlighted that at the end of the process for a 5 MW PV project, the grid connection offer amounted to €4.5 million because the transmission grid needed to be upgraded. This has essentially halted a project that has been struggling for years just to enter the grid connection procedure with the DSO.

The lack of transparency exacerbates energy communities' challenges in financing their project. In order to secure a grid connection a large financial deposit is usually required. Otherwise, the project risks losing its place on the waiting list.¹³⁶ According to interviews with stakeholders, the cost for a grid connection may change as time goes by. For instance, the project might start with an affordable connection cost, but if the community does not accept and pay for a connection offer at the feasibility stage of the project, it could be three or four times the cost when they receive a final grid connection offer and therefore have a non-viable project.¹³⁷ This creates a double-sided problem for the energy community in that **they might not have enough financing to pay the grid connection cost upfront, which might make the project economically unviable at the end of the procedure.** Interviewees have communicated that combined the lack of clear procedures, these changing cost structures contribute to a high degree of investment certainty.

In the UK, the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (Ofgem) identified the issues that community renewables projects face with the help of the sector. From its work, it concluded that community groups face several challenges not experienced by other developers, including the fact that they:

- Are unlikely to have significant finance available for the early stages of the project development;
- Are less likely to have expertise in grid connections; and
- Use democratic governance models, meaning that projects will typically take longer to develop and may therefore find it difficult to respond as quickly as commercial developers when capacity becomes available.¹³⁸

3.2.2 ACTION DRIVERS FOR RENEWABLE ENERGY PRODUCTION BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Action Driver 1 POLICY OBJECTIVES, GOALS OR TARGETS FOR ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Targets or policy objectives for developing energy communities can be understood **as commitments provided by public decision makers to promote community ownership in renewable energy production**. Setting policy objectives for energy communities has several benefits. First, **it serves as a policy basis for developing supportive national and sub-national measures** for energy communities, (e.g. separate treatment in renewables support schemes, and in allocating space to construct production facilities through public tendering procedures). Second, they can help to anchor strategic thinking inside different government departments, develop priorities, demonstrate ongoing commitment and aspiration, and create political pressure to provide continuing support.¹³⁹ Third, targets help promote investor confidence by providing a framework to support the development of different business models.

A growing number of countries within and outside of the EU have adopted policy objectives relating to energy communities. The first country to set an explicit community energy target was **Scotland**. Initially, in 2011 the government set out a target of 500 MW of installed production capacity of community or locally owned production by 2020. However, this target was quickly reached, and the target was adjusted to 1 GW by 2020. According to a report on the achievement of the target that was published in 2021, by the deadline the target had been 85% achieved.¹⁴⁰ The Government has also set a target of 2 GW by 2030.

In its Recovery and Resilience Plan, **Italy** aims to have 2 GW of renewable energy production capacity installed by RECs by 2026 in municipalities below 5,000 inhabitants.

In France, the Ministry has taken a slightly different approach. In 2021, it published a Roadmap for the development of energy communities, which sets an objective of 1,000 locally-governed renewable energy projects involving communities and citizens by 2028.¹⁴¹

In its Solar Strategy, the EU Commission set an objective that the EU and Member States work together to set up at least one renewables-based energy community in every municipality with a population higher than 10,000 by 2025.¹⁴² Regional and local governments are also establishing their own policy objectives for the development of energy communities. In **Spain**, in May 2021 the **Valencia Climate and Energy Foundation** announced a goal of establishing one hundred energy communities within the city by 2030. The aim is to establish energy communities in each neighbourhood. In **France**, the **City of Strasbourg** adopted a target of installing 1 MWp through citizen-governed PV projects by 2030.

Some governments have taken a different approach to setting objectives for community-owned renewables production, placing minimum community participation obligations on commercial project developers. In **the Netherlands**, its National Climate Pact (Klimaatakkoord) contains a non-binding policy objective of including 50 percent ownership in all new onshore wind and PV projects. The objective has been given to the municipalities to interpret and implement, providing them with the basis for integrating criteria in planning policies to include citizen participation in the permitting process with project developers that want to build a project in the municipality. Local city and regional governments in **Belgium** have also adopted such standards. For instance, in **the Wallonia Region**, the regional government recently adopted a Wind Agreement (Pax Olienica) that will require new wind projects to be open for at least 24.999 percent, respectively, to citizens and municipalities.¹⁴³

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY



Action Driver 2 PROVIDING SPACE THROUGH PUBLIC TENDERS

While existing public procurement processes and associated criteria can pose a barrier for community energy projects, there are good practices that local authorities have begun to implement that, if shared, can inspire and mobilise similar actions by others across Europe.¹⁴⁴ These examples have been framed around the development of policy objectives to promote citizen engagement and participation in the energy transition, and the provision of local economic and social benefits.

Local support can be provided through using **public tenders that include criteria attached to objectives of promoting mandatory citizen participation in renewable energy projects.** This is now an established trend in **Belgium** at the local and national level. The original concept started in the small town of **Eeklo**, which included the social criteria grading the participation mechanism, in particular:

- 1 | The amount of ownership offered to local citizens and SMEs; and
- **2** | The credibility of the engagement plan.¹⁴⁵

In the Belgian Region of Flanders, 10 municipal councils agreed together to require all renewable production installations on municipal land to offer 50 percent of its capital to investment by citizens. Furthermore, the **municipality** of Saint-Gilles, in the Brussels-Capital Region requires that a special purpose vehicle adopting the seven cooperative principles be set up to carry out solar PV projects on municipal roofs.¹⁴⁶ It also places a limit on the nominal price of the shares that can be issued to local citizens (€100). The objectives that frame the procedure are two-fold: 1) to develop solar PV production on municipal territory, and 2) to support the creation of energy communities in the municipality. At the national level, the Federal Ministry of Belgium recently drafted legislation incorporating RECs into bidding procedures for granting concessions to build wind projects within Belgium's territorial sea and exclusive economic area.¹⁴⁷ Specifically, a minimum of 1 percent of the CAPEX of the entire project should be opened to citizen participation. Different options for citizen participation, including direct financial participation and ownership participation are provided for. Nevertheless, one of the general conditions for the grant of the concession is a requirement for the tender to consider the extent to which citizen participation is provided for, and RECs are involved by the holder of the concession.¹⁴⁸ At the moment, the Federal government is finalising the legislation and considering the development of the concrete bidding criteria. However, many of the components of the tender process have already been communicated to market actors.¹⁴⁹

Examples are now starting to emerge in other Member States. In the **City of Strasbourg, in France**, in its procedure to allocate concessions for development of solar PV on public roofs, the Metropolis of Strasbourg (a grouping of municipalities in the greater Strasbourg area) published an appeal for interested parties (Appel a Manifestation d'interets, AMI) to submit proposals for projects. The expressed objectives of the tendering procedure were to provide City roofs to accommodate PV production, along with a goal of installing 1 MWp through citizen-governed PV projects by 2030.¹⁵⁰ Importantly, citizen participation is acknowledged to have the following added value:

- New relationships between people and communities;
- Development of individual and collective skills around energy;
- The ability to contribute to more economic development of the territory, including job creation, than would be the case through conventional projects;
- Creating social links between citizens, elected officials, companies, associations and farmers; and
- Mobilising citizen investment.

To achieve these objectives, the Metropolis of Strasbourg applied the following criteria in assessing bids:

Strategy to mobilise citizens to finance the project (25 points) – This included considerations around mobilising inhabitants of the buildings where the solar PV installations were to be sited, mobilisation of inhabitants of the neighbourhood, and general communication;

- **2** | Financing mechanism (20 points) This included the return on investment, the use of own funds, and the number of planned investors;
- **3** | Governance mechanism to manage citizen participation in the operation of the project (20 points); and
- **4** | Technical aspects of the project (30 points).¹⁵¹

The volumes of PV capacity that could be bid upon were kept low in order to decrease market pressure on energy communities by other larger market actors. Furthermore, the Metropolis of Strasbourg helped provide capacity building to energy communities that participated in tenders to develop solar PV that were set up by the Municipality of Strasbourg, a separate entity from the Metropolis of Strasbourg.¹⁵²

Local authorities have also created special **tenders to promote provision of services by energy communities**, combining them with renewables production. Examples also exist in other Member States where concessions may or may not include the provision of services by energy communities to the municipality. For instance, in **Crevillent**, **Spain**, COMPTEM-Enercoop, a historic cooperative that has transformed itself into a REC, was able to successfully bid to win the right to construct, operate and manage solar PV on 20 different municipal buildings.¹⁵³ A normal public procurement procedure was followed because the concessions for the installations also included the provision of services to the public buildings. Bids were considered around technical criteria related to delivery of co-benefits of the project rather than just the financial value. The objectives of the tender were framed around using public spaces to develop renewable energy production for sharing, including to municipal buildings, as



well as to improve energy literacy and to help provide a communication channel by the municipality with citizens. In particular, the specifications of the tender called for the development of a digital public display in each municipal building to provide citizens with information on local production and distribution, the energy communities involved, and other information. Bidders were also assessed based on demonstration of pre-existing positive experiences from the local area, the ability to enter into agreements with many different local participants, and the quality of the presentation of information to citizens. Because Enercoop is a long-standing cooperative in the area (°1925), it already had a good relationship with the municipality's residents. It had also already realised a successful pilot in the municipality, and it was able to put forward a successful bid.

It is worth noting that despite the emerging practices outlined in this report, there is still a lot of legal complexity around different procurement and concession procedures and rules that may be applied in the context of supporting citizen and community participation and benefits. In particular, there is a need to ensure equal treatment of economic actors, and to ensure that any special considerations for energy communities in procurement and concession procedures are proportionate and rationally connected to the objectives of the procedure.

At the EU level, some preliminary steps have also been taken to help support local authorities in tailoring public procurement to help with the deployment of energy communities. Specifically, as part of the Green Deal and REPower EU, the recently updated Renewable Energy Directive contains new language that encourages Member States to promote cooperation between local authorities and renewable energy communities through the use of public procurement.¹⁵⁴ Furthermore, the EU Commission has produced a guide so that public authorities can more easily take social considerations into public procurement.¹⁵⁵ Nevertheless, integration of sustainability and social elements into different aspects of public procurement procedures is still relatively new, and it remains a highly technical exercise that may expose local public authorities to legal risk. As such, there is a need for further legal clarity and guidance from Member States on their application towards promoting energy communities and delivery of social innovation generally.

Action Driver 3 INTEGRATING ENERGY COMMUNITIES INTO THE DESIGN OF RENEWABLES SUPPORT SCHEMES

Several Member States, including Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Slovenia, and Spain have explicitly integrated energy communities into their support schemes. In Germany, the Federal government reversed its requirement for RECs, or citizen energy companies as they are defined in Germany, to participate in auctions and tenders for onshore solar PV and wind projects. Instead, all solar PV systems up to 6 MW and wind turbines up to 18 MW owned by citizen energy companies are exempt from tenders. In order to prevent abuse by market participants, citizen energy companies must include a high level of citizen involvement, control, and democratic decision-making. The DSO is entrusted with the verification of these criteria. Due to its recent introduction, energy communities are still contemplating how to use the new framework and navigate the administrative procedures.

In Ireland, the Ministry set up a special support programme for RECs under RESS. Projects that qualify as a REC, with projects between 1MW and 5W, can qualify for a ring-fenced tender reserved only for RECs. To prevent abuse, projects must be 100% owned by a REC either by way of direct ownership of the project's assets or by direct ownership of the shares in the Generator. Furthermore, 100% of the profits, dividends and surpluses derived from the project must be returned to the REC. Qualifying projects also do not need to submit a reservation fee or security and need not have planning permission to apply for a grid connection. According to community groups in Ireland, RESS provided their projects, which had been stalled for years, the ability to start navigating the process towards getting a grid connection. However, now they

are facing challenges navigating what they have said is a very uncertain and non-transparent process. This highlights that no one action driver is sufficient in itself – it needs to be complemented with other measures to effectively address the challenges energy communities face.

Austria has designed its schemes so that competitive bidding only applies to a limited extent to energy communities and wind projects under 20 MW. Furthermore, there is a **special support scheme available for energy sharing projects.** For all the shared production that is not consumed by the members of the energy sharing initiative, **up to 50% of that production can be supported through the issuance of a market premium**. The aim of this incentive is to improve the business case while also encouraging optimisation of production with consumption, for instance through storage.

It has been mentioned by stakeholders that the design of these subsidies could, in the long run, have a limiting incentive for the integration of complementarity technologies that can help balance solar PV, such as wind or biogas, which could be operated flexibly to provide balancing and other ancillary services. Moreover, there is less interest in energy efficiency and installing flexible assets behind the meter, and for communities to shift their demand when market prices are high. Austria's framework deals with this issue by limiting eligibility to receive market premiums for the sale of electricity production to 50%, as it encourages the rest to be self-consumed by the community. This shows the difficulty and need to balance different objectives when designing support schemes for production and energy sharing, in particular energy efficiency, self-sufficiency of communities, cost-efficiency of deployment of renewable energy, and deployment of flexibility to make optimal use of available grid infrastructure.

Action Driver 4 MEASURES TO FACILITATE A GRID CONNECTION

A number of measures have been identified as a solution to the problems communities face in obtaining a grid connection.

As it pertains to the grid connection costs, it could be possible to socialise grid connection costs when upgrades are needed. In Denmark, previously the network user was responsible for costs of connecting to the most technically suitable point, but no more than it would cost to connect to the 10-20 kV grid.¹⁵⁶ All other costs, including necessary reinforcements, were borne by the DSO. This obligation sat beside the grid operator's continuing duty to expand grid capacity for renewables.¹⁵⁷ These costs were then passed on to consumers in the form of a public service obligation (PSO) tariff, which was based on the amount of energy consumed.¹⁵⁸ Such a regime can apply for all project developers, not just energy communities only. This avoids differential treatment of any market actors. If specifically designed for energy communities, the impacts of such arrangements should be carefully monitored to ensure that they do not result in significant cost increases for energy poor and vulnerable households that do not have the capacity to invest in energy communities (See Section 3.1.2). Another potential solution is to develop suitable **flexible connection agreements** between energy communities and the DSO that include provision of services to the network when there are constraints such as congestion.

Furthermore, it could be possible to **re-arrange the payment of relevant grid costs to communities so that the payback period fits better with their financing models or their size.** For instance, payment plans could be spread further out in time, providing space for the community to raise the necessary funds to pay for reinforcement. Furthermore, zero interest loans could be provided through public finance, to help de-risk the cost of concluding a grid connection agreement. Otherwise, general estimations of costs of obtaining a grid connection could be communicated in advance, for instance online, so that energy communities can integrate grid connection costs at the earliest stage of their project development. Regarding competition problems over available grid capacity, solutions may include **prioritising or simplifying grid connection requests to community projects over other projects**. In principle, system operators are neutral facilitators that need to ensure maintenance, operation and security of the system and provide grid access on a non-discriminatory basis. However, as outlined above, because of their innate characteristics (e.g. voluntary or non-professional character, governance, and purpose) energy communities face unique challenges to compete for grid capacity with other market participants.

In Greece, under a 2022 law renewable energy production projects are placed into 4 categories that are distributed geographically, increasing priority for connection to the grid. Energy communities were placed in Category C and could upgrade to Category B if they have a Municipality or more than 60 members, at least 50 of which are natural persons.

Some Member States have also begun to allocate or ring-fence grid connection capacity for energy communities as a supportive measure to help their development. In Ireland, a grid connection process is essentially facilitated through the RESS, which is the national support scheme. There, grid connections are determined in batches, and within a batch only a limited number of applications can be processed and concluded. As a kind of first-comefirst-served approach, this negatively impacts RECs, which have been defined under RESS. This issue was acknowledged by the Ministry of Environment, Climate and Communications (DECC), and was addressed by creating a separate 'non-batch' process to allow consideration of 30 applications only eligible to energy community and self-consumption projects.¹⁵⁹ The non-batch process is part of the Government's strategy to get community projects from conception to construction. 15 spots are reserved for community projects with projects between 500 kW and 5 MW, while the other 15 are reserved for selfconsumption projects under 500 kW. These numbers align with the size of projects that are eligible for the energy community preference category under the RESS auctions scheme. Here, the grid connection process is a coordinated part of making sure community projects receive support throughout the project development process. RECs can also apply for a grid connection without first obtaining planning permission, although to obtain a final grid connection, permission must still be granted. If an assessment determines that the grid connection cost will make the project unviable, the REC is eligible to receive a refund of 75% of the initial application fees that have been paid. Furthermore, the grid capacity can be held by the REC for up to two years. The non-batch process is part of the government's strategy to get community projects from conception to construction.

Some Member States are starting to experiment with allocating grid connections for energy communities based on a percentage or fixed set of installed capacity. In Lithuania, the grid planning procedure has concluded that with available grid connection capacity, 4 GW of production can be installed in the next two years. To create equal opportunities for different types of grid users, the government proposed to reserve 2 GW of production potential for energy communities and individual prosumers through the grid connection process. This is underpinned by a national policy objective that one out of three Lithuanian consumers should be generating their own electricity by 2030. In Spain, in its draft Royal Decree, the government has proposed to move towards an auction process to allocate



grid connection capacity. Acknowledging that the specificities of RECs need to be taken into account in the design of competitive bidding processes, the Royal Decree also proposes to temporarily reserve 5% of the available grid capacity for energy communities. However, it is unclear how this reservation would work in practice.

Given the limited experience with reserving grid access for energy communities, there is still a need to assess the potential impacts and effectiveness of temporarily reserving grid access for communities and self-consumption projects. For example, commercial developers claim that reserving grid capacity at connection points aligned with the location of emerging energy communities could slow down deployment. Furthermore, where a fixed amount of grid space is allocated to energy communities, it is important to ensure that they are not spread too thin between different projects. Otherwise, they will remain artificially constrained and can work against energy communities, allowing only small-scale household/multi-apartment level projects. For example, in **Greece**, in areas where there is grid congestion, space has been reserved for net metering. However, it has been broken up into slices of 10 kWp per application, preventing energy communities from utilising it. In contrast, the non-batch process in **Ireland** is connected to the thresholds indicated under RESS, allowing for larger projects to be developed. This scheme could serve as an example of how to allocate grid access for energy communities in a proportionate, transparent, and non-discriminatory manner.

Furthermore, it is important to ensure that such mechanisms cannot be abused by market actors. In **Greece**, the previous law on energy communities, which has been replaced, contained provisions giving energy communities priority treatment in entering the grid connection process. However, it was restricted due to abuse by market actors that set up for-profit energy communities, which was allowed by the law.

The above highlights the need to think about how such schemes are developed, in order to ensure that they do not result in abuse, cause delays in deploying renewables, and ultimately to ensure they result in concrete benefits, either to the grid or through added value in terms of social considerations to the local community.

Another potential way is to provide transparency and clarity for energy community projects is through **grid planning**. Such planning processes could be linked up with studies around potential for the development of renewable energy production and energy communities, which can help system operators plan the future development needs of the grid. Furthermore, making sure that local actors have access to information about the grid, as well as ensuring available grid connection capacity for local community projects, can help establish certainty for such projects. Of course it is important to ensure confidentiality, where it is objectively justified.

In some Member States, network planning is forward-looking and transparent for all actors.¹⁶⁰ Where this works in practice, **energy communities have transparency around potential for developing projects in certain areas** before they even begin a project. In addition, more proactive engagement between DSOs and energy communities can help develop understanding of potential system benefits, mutual trust between the DSO and consumers, and even collaboration.

3.3 Energy sharing

Energy sharing is an emerging activity-based concept within the energy sector. While the EU Commission proposed to define energy sharing in its Electricity Market Design legislative proposal,¹⁶¹ energy sharing is not defined in EU legislation, although the IMED provides a description of what the activity could look like. Recital 46 states that:

"

Citizen energy communities should not face regulatory restrictions when they apply existing or future information and communications technologies to share electricity produced using generation assets within the citizen energy community among their members or shareholders based on market principles, for example by offsetting the energy component of members or shareholders using the generation available within the community, ev over the public network, provided that both metering points belong to the community.

"

At the national level, there are somewhat diverging approaches towards conceptualising energy sharing. In a majority of Member States, energy sharing has emerged as a form of collective self-consumption within and beyond the building level that makes it possible for households, SMEs and local authorities to co-invest in local production capacity. From that production installation, and through the use of smart meters, members of the community are able to match close to real-time production with consumption so that it can be deducted from their metered supply coming from their traditional supplier (also known as 'residual supply'). To the extent that energy sharing can be steered towards matching simultaneous generation with nearby consumption in line with grid topology (i.e. collective self-consumption), it could contribute towards reducing grid congestion at higher levels during peak hours and more efficient use of the grid.¹⁶²



The DSO is usually responsible for registering energy sharing initiatives, monitoring metering data, and transmitting it to the energy community and/or its members and the retail supplier whose portfolio is impacted by the participant whose metering point is included in the energy sharing initiative. The entity responsible for calculating the deduction of shared energy from metering data for the purpose of settling the energy bill vary between Member States. For instance, in Austria, the Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium, Croatia, France, Luxembourg, and Portugal, the system operator performs the function, while in **Denmark, Greece, Slovenia, and Spain**, the retail supplier is responsible. In **Italy**, this function is performed by a special entity called the GSE (the Energy System Manager), while in **Finland** calculations should be performed by an independent datahub as of January 2023.

Building on experiences from **Belgium**, **Spain and Portugal**, the EU Commission's legislative proposal for a revised electricity market design also identifies one other use case for energy sharing, which consists of the transfer of self-produced electricity from an active customer to another final customer. This electricity can be shared based on a contractual arrangement between consumers, either for free or for a negotiated price. Where energy is shared against a price this can be done bilaterally; over the counter, or, alternatively, through a peer-to-peer trading platform, as is envisioned in the REDII, Article 2(18).

For the purpose of this document and to make a clear distinction with the barriers and action drivers related to supply, this report looks at energy sharing through collective self-production and consumption that takes place within a short time frame (15 minutes to 1 hour). Where onsite or off-site production for energy sharing takes place through a legal entity that incorporates the criteria of a REC or CEC, it can be described as energy sharing undertaken by an energy community. As peer-to-peer exchanges are currently under development, we do not focus on them at this moment.

3.3.1 BARRIERS TO ENERGY SHARING BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Because of the novelty of energy sharing as an activity, there are still many barriers. This report, and the deficiencies it identifies with regard to emerging frameworks for energy sharing, should therefore not be seen as an indictment. Rather, it should be seen as a learning tool to search for potential pitfalls in the development of frameworks, and to identify emerging good practices.

Due to the early development of national legal and regulatory frameworks for energy sharing and for energy communities, most of the unique challenges energy communities face compared to non-energy communities pertain to the unclear relationship between energy sharing as an activity and energy communities as an organisational concept. Organising an energy community is already a difficult task. On top of that, undertaking new roles as a non-commercial market actor competing in a rapidly growing sector within a heavily regulated environment represents an even larger challenge. While justified due to the scale of the activity, responsibilities and costs that come along with being a fully licensed energy trader and supplier are a barrier for non-professional and small market actors.¹⁶³ A report concluded that if energy sharing initiatives were to take over all responsibilities and costs of professional traders and suppliers, it would not lead to a reduction in the energy bill of the participants.¹⁶⁴ Furthermore, even though an energy community (as a legal entity) could act as a legal representative/facilitator that interacts with the DSO and other market parties on behalf of the members of the community, they are less professionalised than traditional actors such as energy suppliers.¹⁶⁵ This means that **an energy community that organises itself to share** energy requires much more time and effort than for initiatives that are facilitated by a professional third party. There is a risk that if energy sharing simply becomes another heavily regulated activity, it will be difficult for new market entrants such as energy communities and instead be dominated by commercial service providers.

We expect further differentiations to arise as energy sharing becomes more commonplace under the impulse of the proposed Reform of the Electricity Market Design.



Barrier 1 LACK OF DISTINCTION BETWEEN ENERGY COMMUNITIES, ACTIVE CUSTOMERS AND ENERGY SHARING

Understanding of new concepts such as energy sharing, active customers, renewables self-consumption (including jointly acting self-consumers), and RECs and CECs is still emerging, and national approaches to defining them differ. In **France and Spain**, where joint or collective self-consumption concepts already existed, the activity of energy sharing has been built off of these concepts. In these Member States, **energy communities may use the same regulatory framework for collective self-consumption, but there are no separate rules for them**.

On the other hand, in most Member States where energy communities are new, there is a lack of understanding of what energy communities are as an organisational concept, and how they differ (or overlap) with energy sharing as an activity-based concept. In some cases, energy communities are approached and defined from a legislative and regulatory perspective as an activity (i.e. collective self-consumption beyond the building level through energy sharing).

This has resulted in the following outcomes:

o It is hard to see the difference between energy sharing and an energy

community under national law. This has created a feeling of legal uncertainty and complexity among stakeholders including energy community actors, commercial actors, and system operators.

- **The perceived added value of setting up an energy community is reduced.** The incentive to set up an energy community versus a commercially-facilitated energy sharing initiative is perceived as a burden without any tangible benefits. Where enabling and supportive frameworks are correlated with more commercially driven projects, instead of the organisational concept of energy communities unfair competition issues are amplified.
- The emergence of energy communities where production installations used for the purpose of energy sharing are not owned by the community, but instead by a third party.
- The emergence of industrial RECs that are not accessible to household consumers.
- The geographical scope for participants to be in effective control of an energy community as an organisation is aligned with the geographical scope allowed for energy sharing. Such alignment risks an overly-technical approach to the delimitation of a geographical dimension of energy communities, particularly RECs, as a social concept. This may lead to situations where the geographical proximity requirement for REC is either too strict (e.g., connected)

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

to the same low-voltage sub-station) or too broad (e.g., at bidding zone level). Where geographical proximity for participating in a REC is defined too narrowly and technically, RECs can be kept arbitrarily small. On the other hand, where the geographical proximity is defined too broadly, it can diminish added value in terms of local social acceptance of RECs. For CECs, such a technical delimitation risks undermining the empowerment of communities-of-interest that are not bound by a common geographical location.

 Setting up an energy community becomes a regulated activity, for which a traditional licence is required. In this case, registration of the energy community as an organisational entity is conflated with licensing for the activity of energy sharing, supply, or other activities imposing high administrative and financial burdens at early development stages (e.g., set up of legal entity). This has resulted in disproportionate requirements (e.g. demonstrated competences around technical and financial capacities, the payment of a licensing fee, etc.) being imposed in order to register a legal entity as as an energy community.

To provide more clarity for stakeholders and highlight the social and technical distinctions between energy sharing and energy communities, in its Electricity Market Design legislative proposal the EU Commission proposed a definition of energy sharing that is framed as an activity whereby a group of neighbours, friends, family, public bodies or SMEs can directly share self-generated or jointly generated energy with each other as active customers, including through energy communities.



Barrier 2 LACK OF CLEAR DUTIES AND ROLES OF NETWORK OPERATORS

In many Member States, EU legislative provisions on energy sharing are still in the process of development. As such, they often leave out any detailed rules. Others give an NRA the duty to elaborate regulations further down the line. This has resulted in the **lack of clarity on how duties or responsibilities should be shared between market actors relevant in the energy system for energy sharing**, E.DSO, a European association of DSOs, has noted that responsibilities and role sharing between different stakeholders has not yet been defined clearly in many Member States, leading to a high level of complexity and unresolved questions.¹⁶⁶ This has led to a series of sub-barriers, which we outline below. Below, we focus on the role of system operators, particularly DSOs, in facilitating energy sharing, while in Barrier 4 we look at the role of the supplier of residual energy to the members of the energy community.

Lack of information and awareness on energy sharing

In many Member States, there is lack of official public communication or outreach on **how and where energy communities can start an energy sharing initiative**. For instance, in **Luxembourg**, even though energy communities existed before the CEP, there is a small demand for creating energy communities and there is little information that can be found about the topic in public sources. As such, it is not clear for prospective community initiatives how to take the necessary steps to undertake energy sharing. Even where official tools, such as online one-stop shops, exist to assist energy communities interested in setting up an energy sharing initiative, clear, transparent, and timely communication can be an issue.¹⁶⁷ It is not clear whether this role should be undertaken by the DSO or another public authority.

Lack of clear or transparent procedures to register and connect energy sharing projects

The main actor involved in the registration of an energy sharing project is often the DSO. Due to unclear regulatory situation in many Member States and novel character of energy sharing, the exact procedures and requirements have been articulated at the national level. This can lead to divergence of procedural requirements between DSOs even within the same Member States. For example, in **Spain** some DSOs have allowed a representative to enter into agreements on behalf of the participants, while other DSOs require a notarised signature of each participant of the initiative individually. Furthermore, the registration process may result in possible time delays, due to the treatment of the application and requests for additional information by the DSO.

Because of their characteristics, it is more difficult for energy communities to navigate the process of registering an energy sharing project with the DSO compared to a commercial third-party service provider, creating a competitive disadvantage. While complex procedures for registering an energy sharing project, including navigating the grid connection process, may be mitigated by the use of a third-party service provider that manages energy sharing arrangements on behalf of the community, this is not allowed in all Member States. Furthermore, as commercial party service providers become more commonplace, energy communities may face competition from better resourced market actors in having requests or applications considered by the DSO. Lack of proper IT infrastructure for the collection, validation and sharing metering data

The need for DSOs to update their IT infrastructure has been cited by many stakeholders as a cause for delay in rolling out energy sharing. This is because DSOs need to have the capacity to read the meters on the production installations and the consumption meters of the participants in the initiative, as well as the ability to communicate this data with the relevant market participants impacted by the energy sharing activity (i.e. the community and its members, as well as the impacted retail supplier(s)). The DSO should also be able to monitor what is going on with the grid in real time so it can more actively manage the grid, for instance by procuring flexibility resources for congestion management. This is not necessarily a need that is specific to the emergence of energy sharing, but a natural consequence of moving towards a more digitalised, electrified and distributed energy system that requires more real-time operation by network operators, both at distribution and transmission level.

In some Member States, there is an obligation for DSOs to update their IT infrastructure within a certain amount of time (e.g. six months). However, energy communities surveyed still referred to delays in IT infrastructure buildouts, including the rollout of smart meters. Even where timelines are established, there can still be delays. For instance, a regulation in Austria that requires the grid operator to install a smart meter within two months only applies to the installation – not the operationalisation of the meter.¹⁶⁸ While this does not prevent energy sharing per se, issues have also been reported with how often data is provided by system operators. According to the DECIDE Project, DSOs provide data only once a day or even less frequently, preventing energy sharing projects from participating in peer-to-peer exchanges or providing flexibility.¹⁶⁹



ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🖮 🖄 🕤

Barrier 3

LIMITATIONS FOR HOW ENERGY SHARING CAN BE ARRANGED

Due to the emerging nature of energy sharing, and the perceived limited technical capacities of DSOs, first generation rules and regulations for energy sharing have taken a rather conservative approach. While this can be easily explained as a natural consequence of introducing innovation into an already highly regulated environment, it has still resulted in limiting the technical potential of energy sharing projects.

Through research and interviews with stakeholders for this Report, the following limitations that were identified include:

- Restrictive thresholds on the size of production installations (e.g. 100 kWp, 200 kWp, 500 kW, 1 MW or 3 MW) that can be used for sharing.¹⁷⁰ This can limit the uptake of technologies such as wind (which can be complementary to solar PV production, allowing for further optimisation), both onshore and offshore;
- The ability for a household to only participate in one energy community;
- Difficulty in switching members (in the situation someone moves away and is no longer part of the initiative), which require amending the sharing key; and
- Limitations on the adoption of a dynamic sharing model amongst the community, and on the community's ability to modify the coefficient.¹⁷¹

In the **Flanders-Region of Belgium**, for example, the current regulation on collective self-consumption at building level is limited to installations certified after January 2021. Together with the 40 kVa maximum limit and the need for only one supplier, this requirement significantly limits potential for energy sharing in multi-apartment buildings, including through an energy community.

It is important to point out that some of these barriers are transitory in nature, meaning that they may be addressed and relaxed commensurate with further IT infrastructure updates.



Barrier 4 INTERDEPENDENCIES WITH ENERGY SUPPLIERS

Traditional suppliers are often impacted by energy sharing, rather than playing an active role in it, although in some Member States the retail supplier is responsible for calculating the consumers' shared energy. In any case, suppliers maintain their traditional relationship with the consumer by supplying electricity not provided through sharing, as well as continuing to bill the consumer. Concerns have been noted by suppliers that they are impacted by energy sharing due to increased difficulties in forecasting the consumption profiles of their clients, and administrative costs related to billing.

Consumers that share electricity buy less electricity from their normal supplier, which requires suppliers to rethink their sourcing strategies to ensure the consumer's profile is balanced, in addition to being responsible in some Member States for calculating the consumers' shared energy, collecting network charges, taxes and levies related to the total metered consumption. As regards the impact on sourcing strategy and potential imbalances, these concerns are similar as for active consumers that utilise home energy management tools or have the possibility to install distributed renewables production installations on their premises; as such, it can be perceived as a natural consequence of the energy transition and emergence of decentralised and distributed energy systems.

The Council of European Energy Regulators (CEER) acknowledges that due to these factors, suppliers could try to charge more to customers that are part of an energy community, raising the risk that it could be difficult to find a satisfactory supplier due to participating in an energy community.¹⁷² In Belgium, some suppliers have charged consumers an administrative fee up to \leq 150 for participating in an energy community.¹⁷³

In other cases, **suppliers may cause delays in the calculation of shared energy**. For example, in **Greece**, the supplier is responsible for calculating and deducting the virtually net metered production from the bills of the participants. In some cases, the utilities did not deduct virtually net-metered production from the bills of their consumers until two years after the initiative was already operational. Until the oversight was corrected, the participating consumers were unable to realise the energy savings from their participation in virtual net metering projects. In the meantime, if the consumer changed supplier, this money would be

lost. This illustrates the importance of a consumercentric implementation of energy sharing where the system operator is responsible for calculating, deducting and communicating relevant metering data.

Becoming a Balancing Responsible Party (BRP) is often too risky for new entrants.¹⁷⁴ For community energy sharing initiatives where the members continue to meet the rest of their consumption needs through their normal supplier, unless the community engages in the market to sell excess production that is not shared, imposing balancing responsibility can also constitute a significant burden. Moreover, in **Poland**,¹⁷⁵ **suppliers have been observed to be hesitant to enter into an agreement to take on balancing responsibilities on behalf of energy communities**.¹⁷⁶

In most Member States that have enabled energy sharing in national legislation, there are no exceptions and balancing responsibility applies fully to the energy community, although under Regulation (EU) 2019/943 (Internal Electricity Market Regulation, or IEMR), Member States may exempt production installations under 400 kW and 200 kW for installations commissioned after 1 January 2026.¹⁷⁷

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🗰 🖄 🔊

Barrier 5

LIMITED SUSTAINABLE REMUNERATION PATHWAYS FOR EXCESS PRODUCTION AND KNOCK-ON EFFECTS ON ACCESS TO FINANCING

In almost all Member States, collectively produced renewable energy must be shared within a 15 minute to 1-hour time period. However, this will normally only cover between 30-40 percent of production, according to those surveyed that were involved in setting up energy sharing schemes. Not all Member States allow for the remuneration of this excess production, while others place a cap on how much excess production may be remunerated. In some cases, suppliers are allowed to set the price for compensating injection of excess production. According to a survey of energy communities, before the latest energy crisis, FiTs, premium prices, or prices reflective of market value offered by suppliers did not always provide adequate remuneration pathways for excess produced electricity. This renders it **difficult for energy communities to**:

- Access finance to develop energy sharing projects;¹⁷⁸
- Build a business case around saving on energy bill due to very long payback periods;¹⁷⁹ and
- Develop larger projects/grow into new activities.¹⁸⁰

Similar to other types of renewable energy production projects, in order for energy communities to be able to invest in an installation for shared production, they usually need access to finance, such as a bank loan. Whether or not a commercial lender decides to invest depends on the project's ability to service the debt, which largely depends on future earnings capable of providing a high level of investment security and lower risk premiums.¹⁸¹ In assessing the risk of lending to energy community projects, financial institutions see a fixed-price FiT as a fall back option that assures predictable revenue for the life of the loan.



3.3.2 ACTION DRIVERS FOR ENERGY SHARING BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

The following are different drivers that can help with the roll out of energy sharing by energy communities. The options presented below attempt to present solutions that are not already provided for under EU legislation.

Action driver 1

CREATING A CLEAR LEGAL DISTINCTION BETWEEN ENERGY COMMUNITIES AND ENERGY SHARING

In some Member States, particularly where the concept of energy sharing through collective self-consumption beyond the building level was adopted before the CEP, **energy communities are just one way to organise the activity**. This is the case in **France**, the **Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium**, and in **Greece**, which has a virtual net metering (VNM) scheme for offsite production. In Greece, VNM was originally available as an activity eligible to city councils, schools, universities, farmers and farming associations. After legislation on energy communities was adopted, they also became eligible to engage in this activity.

A number of Member States have taken efforts to **make clear distinctions between the organisational aspects of energy communities and more technical rules for conducting various activities**. For instance, in the **Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium**, horizontal rules for energy communities including their organisation and governance have been established, while the Regulator has established a register for monitoring energy communities. In **the Netherlands**, in its proposed 2022 Energy Act, the government has included an explanatory note clarifying that energy communities can engage in all possible market activities, including supply, aggregation etc.

In **Germany**, the newly revised definition on citizen energy companies sets a proximity of 50 km radius (100 km circumference). At the moment, this definition is only applicable to

eligible wind and solar PV production in the context of exempting citizen energy companies from tendering for public support. In Greece, recent revisions to the national law have disentangled geographical proximity for energy sharing (via virtual net metering) and RECs. For virtual net metering generally, the production installation used for the activity can be installed in any region, regardless of where consumption is located. However, to be considered an REC, at least 50 percent plus one of the members need to be located (for natural persons proximity is determined by permanent residence or ownership of property, while for legal entities proximity is determined by where it is registered) in the same region as the production installation (in the region of Athens, due to its limited production potential, the geographical proximity is expanded to neighbouring regions). In **Belgium**, which is divided (for the most part) into three regions, each region takes a slightly different approach. In the Brussels-Capital Region, because of its small size and limited space for installing renewable energy production, geographical proximity is established at the level of the Region. The Region of Wallonia takes a more bottom-up approach where RECs can determine participation based on technical or geographic proximity, taking into account the energy community's objectives. In Wallonia, the statutes that are submitted to the Regulator upon registration must state how the criterion of proximity will be evaluated to establish which members and shareholders have effective control of the REC. The government is also directed to set further technical and geographical criteria determining the notion of proximity.



Geographical proximity for both energy sharing and energy communities will naturally be determined based on the size of the Member State and how it is organised, either in terms of administrative units (local, regional, etc) or grid typology. Member States should disentangle geographical limitations of both energy sharing and energy communities in terms of their purpose. For energy sharing, there may be technical reasons why the geographical boundary should be set at bidding zone level or more in line with local grid topology, for instance where otherwise a grid connection cannot be granted. For RECs, proximity for effective control and/or participation should be based on social reasons: to ensure those that reside locally or within the region that are impacted by renewable energy projects can participate and exercise control over these projects.

Action Driver 2

CLARIFYING ROLES AND DUTIES FOR SYSTEM OPERATORS IN FACILITATING ENERGY SHARING

Tools to promote awareness and access to guidance and technical support on energy sharing

As highlighted in the cross-cutting action drivers section (ACTION DRIVER 2), a variety of tools to promote awareness and provide technical information and guidance have been established both by public authorities and civil society organisations. For instance, the **Austrian Coordination Office** has focused

specifically on helping energy communities willing to engage in the activity of energy sharing. Furthermore, in **Portugal**, a legislative guide/manual developed by ADENE (Agêcia para a Energia, or Energy Agency) and DGEG focuse specifically on renewables self-consumption and energy communities.

System operators can also play a vital role in helping energy communities to plan their projects by providing more transparency and readily accessible (e.g. online) information for prospective energy sharing project applicants, for instance on different segments of the grid, areas of congestion and/or available connection capacity, grid development plans, as well as information meant to provide communication and outreach to local communities. Some local DSOs are also taking it upon themselves to simplify the process of helping citizens learn about energy sharing and become aware of an initiative to join. A DSO in Catalunya, Spain, L'ectra, has created a service company with a dedicated energy communities unit, Elecsum. This makes it much easier for L'ectra to connect its grid users to energy sharing projects, which mainly serve the local public administration and communities. The aim is to centralise all paperwork needed to register an energy sharing project into a digital tool. It also matches citizens with potential projects, so that it is easy to find an available initiative in the area. The digital platform also allows participants to see their data and calculate the amount of energy savings they are realising per month, as well as the payback period. Members are also able to see the generation and consumption of themselves and the community.



Putting in place appropriate procedures for registering energy sharing projects

Based on the Repository's <u>assessment of national regulatory frameworks</u> and the feedback expressed by energy communities, DSOs have a significant practical role to play in the establishment of energy sharing projects. The DSO is in charge of much of the administrative procedures for registering projects, along with authorising of grid connections. They can also serve as a feedback mechanism for NRAs in order to monitor the installed capacity of energy sharing across their management area, and its impacts on the grid and consumers (e.g. contributions to network costs).

Many of the issues that energy communities express with regard to DSOs pertain to administrative procedures and timelines. As such, developing a **simple, clear, and transparent process to register new community sharing projects** would help to establish more certainty. In **Spain** and in **Portugal**, if connections for self-consumption are not approved within the two-month deadline, the DSO has to pay for lost earnings (in this case savings on energy bills) from the project. DSOs could publish procedures and timelines so that energy communities have clarity on the process they need to follow. This information could be published on the DSO's website, or even included in guidance documents that are published through one-stop-shops or other facilitative organisations.

Given the fact that more commercial market actors are setting up service providers to facilitate energy sharing, it is important to ensure that energy communities do not face the same issues as are already experienced in obtaining a grid connection. To prevent such issues from arising, network operators, at distribution and transmission level, could consider setting up dedicated windows for 'do-it-yourself' styled projects by energy communities and other active customers.

Putting in place appropriate IT infrastructure to make energy sharing possible

DSOs have a significant practical role to play in the operationalisation of energy sharing, acting as a hub of information between all of the other market participants implicated by the activity. In particular, DSOs can be responsible for the following preconditions that allow energy sharing to take place:

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

- 1 | Smart meter rollouts and establishing IT infrastructure to allow for the provision of metering services, i.e. clear, transparent, and timely (as close to real-time as possible) monitoring, collection, validation and communication of metering data of the community's production installations, its members' consumption points, with the energy community, its members, and the incumbent supplier responsible for residual consumption needs;
- 2 | Calculating shared production/consumption of the members of the energy community and for the purposes of settling metered supply in the bill (in some Member States this responsibility may lie with a central data hub, the supplier, or the energy community itself).

Some Member States have established concrete deadlines for DSOs to take specific action on certain matters. For instance, in Austria consumers have a right to have a smart meter installed within two months upon request.

In other Member States, DSOs are coordinating with each other to upgrade their capabilities. In order to prepare themselves for energy sharing, the three main DSOs in the **Czech Republic** voluntarily created a new legal entity that will act as a service provider to help them fulfil their role in facilitating energy sharing. In particular, the new entity will focus on issues around data management, registration, and interoperability.

Given the fact that IT infrastructure is the backbone that will allow energy sharing and other behind-the-meter innovations to be possible, it would make sense to **establish data management and interoperability standards, as well as timelines for when IT infrastructure should be updated to allow energy sharing**. IT infrastructure buildouts are also likely to benefit DSOs in the long-term by allowing them to make use of local flexibility and other services (see the section on flexibility below). National regulations and data exchange protocols should also support upgrades in IT infrastructure by DSOs.



Action Driver 3

PROVIDING FLEXIBILITY TO ENERGY COMMUNITIES IN THE DESIGN AND SCOPE OF ENERGY SHARING ARRANGEMENTS

Enabling frameworks can allow energy communities to grow and develop by providing them with flexibility to develop their initiatives in a way that will maximise the impact for the participants. When it comes to energy sharing, energy communities have expressed the desire to be **able to determine how shared energy is allocated to the members** (through a dynamic coefficient, or energy sharing key versus one that is fixed) for the purpose of optimising self-consumption and reducing surplus. In a number of Member States, such as **Portugal**, the calculation method is determined by the energy community.

DSOs in Austria and Italy are also working to improve dynamism for energy sharing, so that, for instance, households may be able to participate in more than one community, and it is easier to change the energy sharing key over time (e.g. monthly, when old members leave and when new members come in, etc.).
Other Member States have evolved the limiting geographical area in which certain participants are eligible to join an energy sharing initiative, such as **France**. There, **the geographical proximity has been expanded over time**, and there is even an option in rural areas to expand the scope even further, upon request. The geographical scope has also evolved in **Italy**, in order to avoid arbitrary distinctions between which households (e.g. on opposite sides of the same street) may participate in an energy sharing initiative.

Monitoring and feedback mechanisms between all involved parties (i.e. system operators, national energy regulators and energy communities) is essential for allowing further learning. Some Member States require reporting by the DSO on the rollout of energy sharing. For instance, DSOs in Austria must notify the NRA on a quarterly basis of the number of running community energy sharing projects, the projects under development, and the number of members for each initiative. The DSO is also required to monitor the adequate contribution to network costs, which the regulator uses to analyse costs and benefits of the network incentives that have been developed for energy communities.

Action Driver 4

ENSURE FAIR COOPERATION BETWEEN THE SUPPLIER OF RESIDUAL ENERGY AND ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Suppliers should be able to recover their costs to the extent these are nondiscriminatory and proportionate to costs effectively incurred. However, **unfair and disproportionate fees that do not fall within this scope could be explicitly banned** as is being considered in **the Netherlands**, where the proposed Dutch 2022 Energy Law already includes a provision that agreements that penalise participants in an energy community shall be null and void. To the extent that suppliers need to provide specific services to energy communities, particularly where choice of service provider is lacking, this **could be overseen** by the NRA to ensure it is fair, proportionate, and non-discriminatory. In addition, suppliers could be encouraged to invest in IT to better forecast production patterns and sharing profiles of consumers of energy sharing schemes to mitigate the potential impact that consumers sharing energy may have on their suppliers' balancing portfolios.

Furthermore, it may be preferential to **allocate the responsibility of calculating shared energy to the system operator**, which is already the case in many Member States. This would relieve the supplier from having to carry out this task, which may have an inherent conflict of interest in carrying out the duty anyway. The system operator is already responsible for processing, validating and communicating metering data in most Member States, and it is more likely to be neutral and independent when making calculations of shared energy.

It can also be considered to give energy communities **limited balancing** responsibilities for projects of installed electricity capacity of less than 400 kW or 200 kW for projects commissioned from 1 January 2026, or to designate other third parties to take up this activity. In Member States such as Spain and Slovenia, balancing responsibility of the active customer participating in an energy community may remain with the supplier. In Finland, balancing responsibility can be delegated to the system operator through a contractual arrangement.

action driver 5

ALLOWING FOR THE USE OF THIRD PARTY SERVICE PROVIDERS

Energy communities can also cooperate with other types of service providers to facilitate energy sharing by energy communities. In a few Member States, national legislation **designates a recognised third party that is eligible to organise** the allocation of quantities of shared energy between the members

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🔅 📰 🕥 🕤

on the energy community's behalf. Such a managing entity exists in Luxemburg, as well as **Portugal**. In **Portugal**, legislation provides for a management entity, which is responsible for carrying out the operational management of production facilities, metering and other assets, communication with the electronic platform provided for in legislation, the connection with the network. The management entity also takes care of the communication with the respective system operator, namely in terms of production sharing and respective coefficients. It may also manage the commercial relationship, where surplus production is sold to the market. In Luxembourg, if the community does not want to perform this function, it will by default be carried out by the DSO using a standard energy sharing key.

This role may be played by a commercial third party service provider, by one of the members of the energy community, or even by another energy community. In **Spain**, cooperative suppliers Som Energia and Goiener provide this service to members and non-members that want to set up collective self-consumption projects. While it may be possible to have energy suppliers act as facilitators, however, audits and control should be utilised to check for correct implementation, to prevent misuse and to ensure that facilitation does not undermine effective control of the members, or prevent them from exercising their right to switch supplier or service provider.¹⁸² Acknowledging these types of partnerships could help spur the development of service providers that can tailor to the needs of energy communities and other collective self-consumption initiatives, for instance to provide balancing responsibility.

Nevertheless, it is important to understand potential limitations or trade-offs in using professional market actors as facilitators. For instance, it is expected that **the use of a third-party facilitator will lead to more costs for energy communities** that share energy since it involves the procurement of a service to facilitate the exchange of information. This also raises potential issues around privacy and competition.¹⁸³ One of the small DSOs interviewed for this report, Elecsum, providing services for local energy sharing projects, emphasised that it is not sufficient to allow third party service providers to do everything for energy communities as it leads to less value creation for the community. The goal should be to make the energy sharing arrangement processes easier and to build capacity among energy communities to allow for smaller projects with less value creation to function independently.



Action Driver 6

COST-REFLECTIVE VOLUMETRIC NETWORK CHARGES

The grid is a vital public resource and backbone for ensuring the integration of renewable energy sources. As such, it must be adequately supported. Furthermore, to ensure a fair energy transition the general public should not have to disproportionately bear the costs arising from sharing of electrical energy while only a small proportion of network users can benefit from the possibilities of sharing.

First, it is worth acknowledging that NRAs have the discretion to set tariffs (methodologies) and structures to recover the costs incurred by system operators, including costs related to data management, provided they are in accordance with principles of cost-reflectivity, non-discrimination and transparency.

The network tariff structure is typically either or a combination of lump sum, capacity, or volumetric based. Volumetric based network tariffs recover the variable costs incurred related to actual use of the grid (i.e. tariff component that reflects the costs of the grid infrastructure usage).

When energy is shared locally within an energy community, the reduced use of higher voltage lines and network losses may justify lowering the volumetric tariff component.

Austria has taken action in this regard.¹⁸⁴ In a Grid Usage Ordinance, grid use charges are based on different tiers broken down into seven different grid levels. For 'local' RECs, which use levels six and seven, network charges are reduced by 57 percent because generation is very close to all of the consumption points of the members. For 'regional' RECs, which use levels four through seven, network charges are reduced by 28 percent for charges related to levels six and seven, and 64 percent for charges related to levels four and

five. For CECs, which can compose members from across the country, no grid charge reductions apply because they are allowed to operate across the bidding zone.

Exempting active customers engaged in energy sharing from contributing to the recovery of related grid capacity costs **risks socialising network tariffs to wider system users**, also resulting in discrimination vis-à-vis consumers that do not engage in energy sharing. After all, consumers engaged in energy sharing still make use of the full capacity of the network for their excess demand or production and thus contribute to infrastructure investments (past ones prior to becoming active customers and future ones to accommodate peak capacity) at higher voltage lines and the fixed cost of the energy system.

This action driver will not always apply or have a variable degree of impact, depending on grid topology and how network charges have been structured by the NRA. While network tariff reductions are already included in several national regulatory frameworks, their effects on the economic viability of energy sharing, the financial sustainability of the electric system or cost-effective deployment of renewable energy are still unclear.

Action Driver 7

INVESTMENT SUPPORT AND REMUNERATION FOR EXCESS PRODUCTION

A number of Member States have put in place instruments to support the financing of installation of new production installations used for energy sharing. In **Slovenia**, it is possible to get investment grants for self-consumption operations, and to purchase and install storage. Furthermore, in **Italy**, under the National Recovery and Resilience plan, interest free grants representing up to 100% of eligible costs are available for the development of energy sharing initiatives by energy communities.



Denmark recently issued an Executive Order that provides grants for planning, establishing and organising projects around production, supply, storage, flexibility and energy efficiency.

A number of Member States have also put in place remuneration mechanisms to reward excess production from shared installations, although the details of these mechanisms vary. In **France**, energy sharing projects are eligible for FiTs for the surplus injection. In **Italy**, all injected energy is withdrawn by GSE (the Energy System Manager), who pays a market price for it. In **Spain**, surplus may be compensated through a discount from the supplier through a netbilling scheme. If the surpluses are compensated, each participant gets the discount for his or her own surpluses in the supplier invoice. Surpluses that exceed imported consumption are not compensated. In **Slovenia**, RECs with production facilities with an installed capacity below 500 kW are also eligible for guaranteed purchase of electricity fed to the grid.

In designing support schemes to guarantee remuneration for excess production, it important to contemplate and **balance potential trade-offs between supporting investment in production versus the need to create a more flexible energy system** based on the efficiency first principle. Price signals are essential in triggering the uptake of flexibility in order to make optimal use of renewable energy production capacity and create other value streams that reduce the need for public subsidies.

3.4 Retail supply

The RED II and IMED enable RECs and CECs to engage in supply. Under the IMED, 'supply' means the sale, including the resale, of electricity to customers.¹⁸⁵ This would also include power purchase agreements (PPAs), which are defined under the RED II as "a contract under which a natural or legal person agrees to purchase renewable electricity directly from an electricity producer."¹⁸⁶

In practice, energy community suppliers often self-produce or buy renewable production collectively from member projects or local producers in order to supply renewable energy back to the members, using existing market structures such as the wholesale market. Energy communities also enter into PPAs with other local SMEs and public authorities, and in some cases even households.¹⁸⁷ This has two benefits, including setting a fixed price for the customer for an agreed timeframe, and allowing for financing larger projects.

To meet excess demand or sell excess production, these initiatives also operate on the wholesale market. To the extent energy communities allow consumers to take ownership over their own electricity, gas¹⁸⁸ and heat production and supply it – via the energy community supplier – back to themselves, they offer a unique service to their members. While this activity currently takes place primarily at the national or regional (e.g. in **Belgium**) level, the community energy sector has expressed a strong desire to be able to supply themselves more locally, or



regionally, where production and consumption can be matched as much as possible.¹⁸⁹

3.4.1 BARRIERS TO SUPPLY

The RED II and IMED conceptualise RECs and CECs as undertakings that organise around a set of distinct principles: non-commercial purpose, open and voluntary participation, and ownership, control and governance by non-professional actors.¹⁹⁰

It is important to acknowledge that many barriers currently exist for new market entrants working with a traditional supply model. However, these challenges are aggravated due to the organisational and governance characteristics of energy communities. Due to these characteristics, energy communities face inherent challenges in terms of time, financial and technical resources, which puts them in a situation that is distinct compared to commercial market actors.¹⁹¹ Pursuant to the general EU legal principle of equality,¹⁹² RECs and CECs benefit from an enabling framework in order to level the playing field with commercial market actors to engage in all market activities, including nondiscriminatory, proportionate and transparent supply registration and licensing procedures need to be in place. The RED II goes even further, calling for removal of unjustified administrative and regulatory barriers.¹⁹³ NRAs have an important role in monitoring the removal of these barriers, and in many Member States they are also involved in identifying such barriers, also placing them in a role to help determine whether certain identified barriers are disproportionate.194

Below, we outline a number of barriers that have been identified for engaging in retail supply.

Barrier 1 OBTAINING SUPPLIER LICENCE

The oldest and most successful energy community suppliers were established at the beginning of the liberalisation process, when regulation was less stringent. They often start very small, and need to find additional members in order to establish a sustainable business model.

Some of the existing financial and administrative requirements to obtain a supply licence are disproportionate for energy communities that seek to engage in local supply of selfgenerated electricity to its members.¹⁹⁵ While regulation is intended to ensure that suppliers generally using the transmission grid are financially resilient, can perform system related responsibilities and ensure consumer protection, it is not tailored to allow smaller suppliers that set up simpler operations to supply a small amount of customers over a more limited geographical area. Instead, they are often based on the assumption of centralised production, having a large consumer base and the potential nation-wide supply.¹⁹⁶ Several studies point out that a main barrier for bottom-up initiatives such as energy communities is a consequence of centralised design and regulation of existing energy systems.¹⁹⁷ One study frames this as a capacity/scale barrier, citing two specific issues: costs associated with becoming a licensed supplier, and obtaining collateral to trade on wholesale markets. This barrier is specifically mentioned for municipality-backed businesses and new social enterprises.¹⁹⁸ The CEER has also noted that licensing and registration processes constitute a significant barrier to entry for new market entrants.¹⁹⁹ While this report pertains to entry barriers for new market entrants in general, they are also equally relevant for energy communities.





A project on European barriers in retail energy markets carried out by the European Commission comparatively assesses complexity in supply licensing procedures from the electricity and gas sectors, across Europe. First, the report cites heavy administrative processes for registration and licensing, high financial requirements, excessive reporting requirements, among others, as operational and procedural hurdles for new market entrants.²⁰⁰ Overly complicated and time-consuming processes and requirements present a barrier in terms of time and money that new entrants must invest.²⁰¹ The amount of days ranges between one day (representing low barrier) and 60 days (representing a high barrier).²⁰² As is shown from the figure taken from the study, the length of licensing procedures varies greatly.

Length of licensing procedures in European Electricity and Gas Markets:



Figure 2: : European Commission (2021). European Barriers in Retail Energy Markets.

Barrier 2

OPERATING AS A SUPPLIER

Because of their small size, community suppliers are often **too small to be able to hedge on the markets**. For example, according to an existing energy community supplier in Ireland, the volumes of their production and supply are not sufficient to access hedging products. This is because the current minimum volume for accessing hedging products linked to the Day Ahead Market is 1 MW per hour, while the community's net volume of supply amounts to less than 1 MW per hour. During the energy crisis, because of the lack of volume, the community could not lock into fixed longer term prices (day ahead markets, or forward markets e.g. six months to two years), which left it exposed to volatile price fluctuations on wholesale and balancing markets. Even though large suppliers also struggle with volatility, as seen during the energy crisis for example, they have more tools at their disposal due to the large volumes in which they trade, which allows them to adopt trading strategies that minimise risk and maximise return.

In general, many energy community suppliers also cite the **high amount of guarantees required to operate on the wholesale market** as a significant burden for them. In **Portugal**, guarantee requirements in order to initiate activities as a supplier are around \in 200,000, too high for small suppliers.

Becoming a BRP is often too risky for new entrants.²⁰³ While energy communities are entitled to delegate these responsibilities and many energy community suppliers use a third party as BRP, existing service providers may be hesitant to enter into an agreement to take on balancing responsibilities,²⁰⁴ as has been observed in Ireland and Poland.²⁰⁵

According to a survey of community suppliers undertaken by the Energy Communities Repository, the energy crisis that emerged after the COVID pandemic and exacerbated by Russia's invasion of Ukraine has made existing challenges more acute. Specifically, the following challenges have been identified:

• **Liquidity issues** – Since the crisis started, the increase in the amount of financial guarantees required to trade electricity has made it more challenging for energy community suppliers.

Many communities have responded by increasing the social contributions (capital investments) by the members. Because of the higher cost of operation caused by government interventions and higher market prices, many communities have in turn had to raise prices, resulting in a loss of membership. A number of community suppliers also cited market risk associated with required guarantees to be a barrier to obtain a gas supply licence, or even from exercising an existing licence.

• Hedging – While energy communities use a number of hedging strategies in order to make their business model sustainable (e.g. asset locks, matching production with consumption, etc.), they are **unable** to access hedging products on centralised energy markets similar to other commercial suppliers. This is due mainly due to their smaller size and limited volume of traded energy. While larger suppliers are able to hedge against high prices today by purchasing energy on futures markets, these are not markets that energy community suppliers are able to access. As such, they have experienced **increased exposure to** the volatility of the wholesale market. Furthermore, conversations at national level to consider imposing hedging requirements on suppliers also increases market risk for energy community suppliers, as they have no special acknowledgment at national level.

• Administrative – The energy crisis and some of the national government interventions in the market have resulted in increased responsibilities of suppliers. This includes necessary updates to IT systems to implement relief packages for consumers, additional communication and reporting requirements, and the rapid pace at which government decisions are taken. This ultimately means that already small suppliers must perform additional responsibilities with less revenue from providing a supply service to the members.

An important takeaway from the energy crisis thus is that national interventions to strengthen resilience amongst the supply sector can also impose barriers for new market entrants, a we have already seen in some Member States. It is important for governments and regulators to monitor the impacts that crisis-related interventions have on smaller suppliers that operating within a more limited scope, and to ensure that as energy communities such interventions do not pose additional barriers.

Barrier 3 _

SELLING PRODUCTION DIRECTLY THROUGH PPAS

Energy community projects that are centred around production may work with other local authorities or SMEs to provide, or sell, energy directly. However, as the European Commission has acknowledged in its Staff Working Document on permit granting, the barriers for SMEs to engage in corporate PPAs are still very high. Some of the main barriers expressed include limited visibility on their future electricity demand, lower credit ratings, creditworthiness of off-takers, and lower volumes of electricity consumption, which makes managing imbalances more difficult, and complexity of negotiating PPAs. In particular, with regards to energy communities, their projects are often too small to make it economically interesting for large off-takers to sign attractive PPAs. Second, because private lenders are not familiar with small market actors like energy communities, it is difficult to access financing from private banks in order to develop community projects using PPAs. Lastly, a supplier licence is often needed in order to enter into a PPA.



3.4.2 ACTION DRIVERS FOR ENERGY COMMUNITY SUPPLY

Action driver 1 EXEMPTION/SIMPLIFICATION OF REGULATION OF ELECTRICITY SUPPLY FOR ENERGY COMMUNITIES

One of the main barriers identified by the Repository is related to perceived disproportionate requirements imposed for obtaining a supply licence, as well as difficulties performing supplier responsibilities (in particular balancing) in relation to the size energy community suppliers plan to achieve. One way to address this issue could be by revisiting and revising certain obligations for smaller non-commercial suppliers. Some Member States have already enacted, or are in the process of enacting, regulations to make supply easier for energy communities and other small suppliers.

SUPPLY LICENCE EXEMPTION

In the Netherlands, under an Executive Order (Experiments Decentralised, Sustainable Electricity Production, or EDSEP), the Dutch government set up a regulatory sandbox, which allowed for self-contained experiments where, among other things, cooperatives were allowed to operate without a supply permit and to derogate from rules around transparency and liquidity of the energy market.²⁰⁸ The Executive Order ran for four years. In turn, this influenced the subsequent proposed Energy Act in the Netherlands, which exempts 'smaller energy communities' from needing to obtain a supplier licence. In its Explanatory Note, the government acknowledges that a licence is in some cases too burdensome or, given the interrelationship between the supplier and the end customer, a licence is not always necessary. Criteria have also been established for eligible energy communities. This includes:

• Over the period of a year, the energy community does not supply more electricity or gas than it injects into the system on an annual basis;

- Energy is supplied to end customers with a small connection who are members or shareholders of the energy community; and
- The energy community does not have more members or individual shareholders than a specified number, which should be determined by ministerial regulation.²⁰⁹

One of the practical implications of this is that licensed exempted suppliers are not subject to the said bankruptcy and disconnection regime. The status of the proposed Energy Act is in doubt, so it is likely that the law will be redrafted. As such, the status of the proposal to exempt energy communities from needing a supply licence is unclear at the time of publication of this report.

LIMITED SUPPLY LICENCE AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Some countries acknowledge smaller supplier models in their regulatory frameworks. For instance, in Ireland it is possible to register as a small supplier, as long as the supplier has less than 200 customers.²¹⁰ The aim is to allow producers to enter into PPAs for the direct sale of production to a final consumer without having to become a fully-licensed supplier. This arrangement requires a fully licensed counter-party that can provide services such as balancing.

It is important to note that the energy community that described using this mechanism was not ultimately able to because the financial institutions approached to finance the production installation insisted that the community negotiate a PPA with

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🕯 🖩 🕅 🕤

an established large utility supplier before they would lend the money. The financial institution perceived the newly established supply company with no trading history as a risk to their investment. This relates back to the challenge of entering into PPAs for the direct sale of production by smaller projects such as energy communities. The ability to access financing is an issue for SMEs in general, and for energy communities in particular. The EU Commission's Electricity Market Design proposal aims to address this by calling on Member States to facilitate and ease access to PPAs by SMEs.

In the **Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium**, recent legislative changes to the Electricity Market law allow for suppliers to obtain a limited supply licence. Under Article 21, suppliers may obtain a limited supply licence under three alternative conditions:

- To supply a capped amount of electricity (this may limit the financial guarantee they need to provide);
- To supply certain categories of customers; or
- To supply themselves or their subsidiaries.

The limited supply licence allows an energy community to combine energy sharing activities with supply of production that cannot be shared within the netting period (e.g. 15 minutes) while reducing the amount of guarantee that is required. They also do not need to be responsible for security of supply, because the residual supply that is not provided by the energy community is already guaranteed by the classical supplier.

To be eligible for the limited licence, the energy community must not supply beyond its own members/customers, the supply must come from renewable electricity, and the community must demonstrate that it applies the requisite criteria stated in the legislative definition of energy communities for the **Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium**. For example, the applicant must show that the activity of supply is in furtherance of an objective to provide environmental, social or economic benefits to members and the local community rather than



financial profits. Applicants are also expected to meet certain criteria in order to demonstrate a good reputation and professional capacity, knowledge of the Brussels market, and technical and financial capacities. This means that the applicant must demonstrate that they are capable of maintaining a minimum quality of supply, and that they have the technical capacity (i.e. IT infrastructure and operations) to interact with the distribution network (i.e. the DSO). The applicant must also be capable of invoicing and managing its members/consumers, for instance through communications, transparency and a complaints mechanism.

These criteria are currently under review by the government in order to provide more specificity around the categories of limited licence and the requirements under the adapted regime. These criteria should be further specified by the end of 2023. In the meantime, the NRA, **Brugel**, **oversees applications** to become a limited supplier on an ad-hoc basis, as well as operations under the limited licence. To help applicants understand these new rules, in May 2023 Brugel **published advice on obtaining a supply licence**.²¹¹

While the new rules on a limited supply licence do not pertain only to energy communities, these rules have been adopted in order to facilitate the emergence of energy communities, as well as offer a path towards professionalisation. It provides a model regulatory approach to helping energy communities take steps towards combining energy sharing activities with supply back to members



without having to take full steps towards setting up a fully licensed supplier.

PROVIDING FLEXIBILITY IN COMPLYING WITH REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Without creating exemptions, regulation can acknowledge the specific challenges energy communities face based on their unique characteristics that hamper their participation in the market. For instance, without doing away with hedging requirements, energy communities can be given flexibility in how they hedge themselves against risk. Energy community suppliers use a number of different hedging strategies. A few energy community suppliers aim to be able to match their members' consumption with the renewable energy production of the energy community. Using the wholesale market to sell surplus electricity not used in real time, as well as buying when community-owned production is not available, a community supplier can meet its members' consumption needs over an entire accounting year. During an energy crisis where spikes rise, this business model is resilient against volatile wholesale market prices, because it limits how much it needs to buy on the wholesale market.

In its Electricity Market Design legislative proposal, the EU Commission proposed to give suppliers different options, including but not limited to the use of PPAs, for hedging, and to endeavour to make hedging products accessible for energy communities. Some energy community suppliers have expressed concerns that if PPAs were required as a hedging strategy, large utilities could benefit because smaller market actors cannot access PPAs, as mentioned above. As such, it is important to look beyond guarantees, PPAs and forward markets, when assessing whether energy community suppliers are properly hedged, including their installed production capacity that can be used before going to the wholesale market.

PROVIDING ASSISTANCE TO BECOME AND OPERATE AS A SUPPLIER

Aside from looking at the substantive obligations that apply to energy communities, national authorities could potentially **provide capacity building, expertise, or other assistance to energy communities that wish to become licensed to engage in supply**

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY 🔅 🗰 🖺 🕤

and perform market and consumer responsibilities. In the same way that energy communities are able to access expertise to develop renewable energy production projects, regulators could help to facilitate professionalisation, potentially with assistance from existing utilities. In the Brussels-Capital Region of Belgium, the Regulator, Brugel, has published a guidance document intended for new market actors so that they have a better understanding of how to become a limited supplier.²¹²

At the moment, the Repository is unaware of any national authorities that provide this specific service. CEER's Monitoring Report on the Performance of European Retail Markets in 2018 notes that **Spain** has developed procedures to facilitate obtaining a licence.²¹³ While such procedures are intended to reduce barriers for new market entrants in general, they can be particularly relevant and useful for energy communities that want to engage in supply activities.

ACTION DRIVER 2

PROVISION OF SUPPLY-RELATED SERVICES BY OTHER MARKET ACTORS

Energy communities can also **cooperate with existing service providers in order to supply their members with renewable energy**. For example, larger suppliers can enter into commercial arrangements with local production projects and through a process called 'sleeving', the producer can sell its production to the end-user.²¹⁴ Most energy communities also contract third parties to trade on the wholesale market on their behalf.

FACILITATING UPTAKE OF RESPONSIBILITIES TO PLAY A LARGER ROLE IN THE ENERGY SYSTEM

System operators can make available **online platforms to facilitate energy trading**. For example, in **the Netherlands**, the DSO network company Alliander, which contains several companies, including the DSO, Liander, formed ENTRNCE.²¹⁵ Acting as a separate company, ENTRNCE is **an electricity exchange that enables producers and consumers to directly exchange electricity with each other**. The ENTRNCE Exchange functions within the current market design and cooperates with all relevant market parties involved (suppliers and balance responsible parties). As such, it does not replace any market roles. Dutch energy communities approached ENTRNCE to see if they could use the platform to supply electricity produced from their production installations to their own members. Because of this service, energy communities in the Netherlands which, like other market parties, remain responsible for imbalances, do not experience issues

with being financially responsible for balancing by their supplier. Alliander also recently committed to develop an additional 'cooperative' layer within ENTRNCE. This will allow energy communities to exchange surplus energy between their own members and other energy communities before trading it on the wholesale market.

Such platforms do not need to be controlled by a DSO per se. In principle, energy communities, suppliers, and aggregators could develop peerto-peer trading platforms and products for their customers.



FACILITATING THE SUPPLY OF COMMUNITY-OWNED RENEWABLES PRODUCTION

In order to ensure and mainstream accessibility of these services, some jurisdictions outside of the EU are now either imposing, or looking at imposing, obligations on larger suppliers to help community-owned renewables projects supply the electricity back to their members.

In California, legislation (Assembly Bill 2316)²¹⁶ was passed in 2022 that requires suppliers to set up subscription services so that any customer can request to 'subscribe' to receive renewable electricity from local renewables installations. Compensation for community solar will be pegged to the actual value of electricity at the time it is delivered to the grid. At least 51% of subscribers to a project will have to be low-income, ensuring that such production does not simply end up serving businesses.

In the UK, a 'Local Electricity Bill' is currently under consideration in the House of Commons. It would do two things to support growth of energy communities:

1 | Guarantee small energy generators a stable tariff for selling their energy based on current market rates - All licensed energy suppliers with more than 150,000 customers ("eligible licensed suppliers") would be required to purchase electricity exports from sites, including those operated by community groups, that generate low carbon electricity with a capacity below 5 MW. Specifically, they would be required to:

- o offer a minimum export price set annually by the Gas and Electricity Markets Authority ("GEMA"),
- o offer a minimum contract period of five years, and
- allow the exporting site to end the contract after no more than one year.

2 | Establish a local energy supply mechanism to enable community renewable generation schemes to sell directly to local people – Large energy suppliers with more than 150,000 customers must offer a service agreement to energy community projects so they can sell electricity to local members. The service agreement would require the supplier to make a special energy community tariff available to consumers local to the production facility. The total number of consumers the community energy tariff is available to may be limited in order to match local production with consumption. The supplier remains the registrant for the meters of participating consumers, and the supplier may charge a reasonable fee for the provision of services, which would be subject to regulatory approval and oversight.





3.5 Participation in providing flexibility

Given the emerging nature of activities around flexibility, it is not yet possible to fully assess drivers and barriers specific to energy communities compared to commercial market actors that might impact their ability to engage. As such, the purpose of this chapter is to explore potential revenue streams that energy communities can realise from providing flexibility to the benefit of the energy system, and to identify potential drivers and barriers that currently exist for smaller actors that might want to provide flexibility to the energy system.

A number of different business models have been identified under the heading of providing flexibility to the energy system.²¹⁷ Because energy communities bring citizens together, they have potential to help unlock an untapped resource of flexibility: households. The Regulatory Assistance Project (RAP) points out that "compared to commercial aggregators, [energy communities'] bottom-up, mission-driven, local organisations might be better at mobilising small consumers to participate in aggregated demand response. Their knowledge of the local situation may also make them better able to resolve local grid issues".²¹⁸ RAP has also identified business cases in terms of potential revenue streams that energy communities might be able to realise from flexibility. These include arbitrage, balancing, ancillary services, capacity markets, and deferment of grid investments.²¹⁹ According to smartEn (2022)²²⁰, 'flexibility' is the ability of electrical generators and consumers to alter their output or consumption on demand. Flexibility can be provided by assets ranging from large front of meter generation to residential appliances. The different flexibility markets where demand response can be traded include all electricity markets as required by the IMED.²²¹ A study performed by VasaaETT and Joule Assets shows that in Germany, households could annually save \in 1.11 billion and provide an estimated flexible capacity of 1.7 GW to the system. This has the potential to lower the payback period of their smart appliances considerably and eventually be a profitable revenue stream.²²²

When referring to flexibility markets, smartEn (2022)²²³ lists the following, taking the point of view of potential service providers: ancillary services, DSO flexibility, and local energy systems (i.e. through a market offer to incentivise optimisation of collective self-consumption, i.e. implicit demand response) at different levels of the grid. Local flexibility markets are emerging schemes tailored for the needs of DSOs. While older ancillary services markets have traditionally been used by TSOs, local flexibility markets are tailored to meet the flexibility needs inherent to the DSO (e.g. they are more specific towards a location and directly involve the DSO as a buyer).²²⁴

Energy communities may use production and demand-side assets such as electrical vehicle (EV) batteries, or heating devices (domestic hot water, heat pumps or hybrid heating) to increase, shift or reduce their electricity self-consumption. Individual and joint self-production could provide the basis for providing flexibility to the power system if equipped with the proper equipment and appliances (i.e. matching consumption with local production in both space and time using ICT (Information and Communication Technology) during peak congestion,

or reducing consumption and injecting local production into the wider grid), and exposed to timedifferentiated price signals or accessible flexibility markets (i.e. to know when to provide which flexibility service).²²⁵ At the transmission level, energy communities may also have a role to provide balancing and ancillary services (e.g. congestion management) to their BRP or system operators.²²⁶

The FLEXCoop H2020 project provides an illustration of flexibility services and of their related service providers:²²⁷



Figure 3: Overview of flexibility services according to the H2O2O FLEXCoop project

Energy communities may also be active in flexibility through mobility services. For instance, car sharing could be complemented with revenues from electricity markets or from optimisation of charging patterns. As the DECIDE project points out, e-mobility cooperatives, such as Som Mobilitat in **Spain** have been created to provide community car-sharing services. Using EV batteries from these fleets could be used to reduce grid connection costs through peak shaving, or to create additional revenues by providing grid services that provide peak electricity or minimise the need for curtailment.²²⁸ Smart EV charging can be used to perform and improve all types of flexibility services.

Whenever relevant as a demand-response service, selfconsumption optimisation may be performed at different levels, including a single house, collective building, or neighbourhood. In that case, the energy community can provide ESCO (Energy Services Company) services to its members, automating and scheduling devices in order to match times of self-production. Energy communities that take on the role of retailer can also provide demand response services. They can propose to automate appliances of the member/customer to facilitate consumption at the time when the retailer's resources are the most abundant and/or the cheapest. If the community owns its production, this can help optimise consumption at the time of production. If purchasing from the wholesale market, this can help match energy usage to hours where the price is generally cheaper and offer dynamic price contracts.

Explicit demand-side flexibility through aggregation corresponds to the situation when a consumer agrees to respond to BRP, DSO or TSO requests to adjust their load or generation profile.²²⁹ In this case, an aggregator acts as the intermediary between the members of the community that own the resources and the party requesting the response, for instance the DSO. Energy communities (RECs and CECs) could collectively reach out to aggregators and negotiate the participation of the whole pool. For example, the energy community (as ESCO) can optimise self-consumption within the energy community upon request of an aggregator in response to implicit or explicit demand response. The community itself may also take on the role of an aggregator, either as a retailer or as an independent aggregator²³⁰. One can also imagine an ecosystem of energy communities with one of them playing the role of an aggregator for smaller energy communities. This may be performed directly or through an ESCO tailoring the service to react to price signals (implicit demand response).

3.5.1 BARRIERS TO PROVIDING FLEXIBILITY FOR ENERGY COMMUNITIES

When looking at barriers to energy communities in flexibility, it is important to separate out the challenges that relate back to the business model chosen by energy communities from the legal and regulatory framework that all market actors currently operate under. Generally speaking, the regulatory frameworks for flexibility markets are still in their infancy, particularly for household markets. As such, theoretical value propositions have not yet become concrete in reality.²³¹ Below we present challenges that energy communities have communicated experiencing with regard to participating in different flexibility-related activities. However, it is worth noting that most barriers energy communities face with regard to participating in flexibility are experienced by the sector as a whole.

BARRIERS FROM THE PERSPECTIVES OF ENERGY COMMUNITIES

From the perspective of the community itself, the following practical barriers currently prevent energy communities from venturing into more flexibility-based activities:



- Limited existing demand from energy community members Flexibility services are complex services for residential users. Until recently, they were providing unclear benefits. The increased and more volatile energy market prices may affect this situation.
- High cost for service providers To be effective, flexibility services may require device automation. However, residential sector loads are small and protocols remain fragmented. Hence, the installation costs of home automation strongly affect any possible business case.
- Immaturity of markets Markets for flexibility are still in early stages of development, resulting in the following barriers:
 - Providing frequency services as a BRP requires significant loads and is very demanding in terms of pre-qualification and reliability;
 - The provision of congestion management services and participation in "local flexibility markets" are not possible in most EU Member States;²³² and
 - While energy sharing can be a good basis for providing flexibility services when exposed to implicit or explicit incentives, the rules are slowly being put in place and require efforts from all stakeholders (communities, DSOs and technology service providers)to be successful.

 Insufficient IT and market skills – As SMEs, while energy communities are agile and closer to their members than traditional utilities, they have limited resources for innovation activities like flexibility services. All flexibility services require significant investment in IT capabilities. Moreover, depending on the service, energy communities may be required to engage in new markets with complex rules that are hard for SMEs or citizen-led initiatives to participate in.

SUMMARY OF REGULATORY AND MARKET BARRIERS

Based on a review of sources from EU-funded projects involving energy communities with flexibility, and reports from the sector, the following regulatory and market barriers could be found:

- Access to a smart meter In some EU countries like Germany, smart meters may not be rolled out. In these countries, flexibility services may therefore require additional metering equipment.
- Data access According to the DECIDE project, DSOs often provide data only once a day or even less frequently, which will not be suitable for peerto-peer trading or flexibility provisions.²³³ In Belgium and Austria, smart meters will have an interface through which the energy community can read out real-time data, but energy communities will have to pay for the interfaces and communication infrastructure.

- **Contradicting economic incentives** If not properly designed with complementarity in mind, FiTs could, in the medium to long run, represent a counter-incentive to engage in implicit demand side response, to the extent they do not provide spot-based price signals.
- Lack of market access for aggregated loads Many balancing markets managed by TSOs do not properly allow aggregated loads to participate.²³⁴ For instance, according to experience gained by the FLEXCoop pilot project in the Netherlands, the Dutch TSO requires the collection of metered data every 4 seconds for all participating units for settlement purposes. Collecting and keeping such data for all grid connection points of small distributed energy resources makes residential devices aggregation difficult.
- Aggregation of small consumer loads Minimum bid thresholds for participating in balancing markets (e.g. 1 MW) requires the aggregation of thousands of residential loads. These thresholds can make participation difficult For energy communities and other smaller aggregator. This is the case in the Netherlands and in Spain, and has been confirmed both by energy communities and DSOs engaged with by the Repository.
- Challenges to entering into long-term commitments to provide flexibility Participation in bidding periods beyond one day (e.g. day-ahead contractual bids) is difficult for households. According to the FLEXCoop Project, if the service has to be committed a whole day in advance, only limited flexibility can be guaranteed compared to a scheme where flexibility is committed closer to real-time (e.g. a few hours in advance).²³⁵
- Flexibility markets for low voltage appliances are not well accessible even if in principle possible in some EU Member States, making it hard to valorise small-scale flexibility.²³⁶
- The lack of mechanisms to compensate balance responsible parties for activation of demand response.



- Network regulation The grid financing model is still largely based on capital expenditures (CAPEX) by network operators, whereas purchasing flexibility services would require more recovery of costs around operational expenditures (OPEX). As such, even for congestion management, the market is still at an early stage of development and a majority of network operators do not have the capability of exploiting flexibility.
- Net metering arrangements if self-production of renewables is not incentivized to be responsive to real-time grid conditions, it can become a strain on the grid.
- Lack of options around a flexible connection agreement Flexibility agreements offered by DSOs to energy communities currently take the form of agreements for voluntary curtailment. More structured incentive-based schemes around provision of flexibility could make it easier for energy communities to connect local production to the grid where capacity is limited while also providing an opportunity to help network operators avoid or delay network reinforcement.

3.5.2 ACTION DRIVERS OF FLEXIBILITY BY ENERGY COMMUNITIES

Action driver 1

DYNAMIC AND TIME OF USE TARIFFS

Supply contracts of electricity may provide a different price for different periods reflecting either energy-related costs (e.g. day ahead market prices) or infrastructure (e.g. network congestion). This may result in time-of-use (e.g. day/night tariffs) or dynamic (e.g. hourly) tariffs. In Spain, all supply contracts for under 15 kW will be exposed to three different grid tariffs broken up between different time slots. This results in a new price signal for domestic users to move loads to hours with less electricity demand.²³⁷

Action driver 2

ACCESS TO RELEVANT ICT TOOLS

Some energy communities are developing innovative services by developing their own ICT tools (e.g. The Mobility Factory). Among them, some are significantly based on open source. In **the UK**, Carbon Co-op is developing flexibility services to reply to requests from DSOs using Home Assistant and complementary tools promoted by the Linux Foundation for Energy.²³⁸ In **Spain**, Som Energia is co-developing a multi-service platform for energy communities including energy sharing.²³⁹ This platform benefits from the support of local authorities and is being developed as an open source tool with licensing allowing only actors from the social economy to use it.

While the landscape of energy communities appears quite fragmented, open source software may provide a way for them to benefit from their non-competitive nature and to collaborate on tools in a decentralised manner.

Action driver 3

ALLOWING AGGREGATION OF SMALLER CONSUMER LOADS

The possibility for small assets to participate in energy markets using aggregation provides the







In the UK, increased financial benefits have been created to incentivise consumers to reduce electricity use during peak hours. In trials related to the National Grid Demand Flexibility Service (DFS) scheme over the winter of 2022-2023, participants were paid between £3 - £5 per kWh (sic) for flexibility provided. Members may therefore be interested to participate in these schemes via an energy cooperative acting as an aggregator.

Action driver 4

USE OF REGULATORY SANDBOXES

A regulatory sandbox can be defined as a closed environment, based on agreed rules with the NRA, granting some exceptions in order to run experimental activities in close-to-real life conditions. The Florence School of Regulation (FSR) provides a clear description of their purpose:

"

The motivation behind setting up a regulatory sandbox is two-fold. First, allow innovators to test new technologies and business models that are only partially compatible with the existing legal and regulatory framework. Second, allow regulators to learn about particular innovations. As such, regulators can develop the right regulatory environment to accommodate them.²⁴⁰

Within the FLEXCoop project, the citizen cooperative, Endona, benefited from being able to perform several experiments within a regulatory sandbox around the area of Heeten, **Netherlands**. Through their participation in the regulatory sandbox, Endona was enabled to provide local supply services and to experiment flexibility services in direct contact with system operators (DSO and TSO).

Action driver 5

DEVELOPMENT OF LOCAL FLEXIBILITY MARKETS

A number of local flexibility markets are currently under development across different countries. Within the INTERRFACE project, the FSR has provided an overview of four pioneering initiatives:²⁴¹

- Piclo Flex (UK) a flexibility platform for DSOs. Six DSOs in the UK are Piclo Flex members.
- Enera (Germany) a joint project between the power exchange EPEX SPOT, one of the German TSOs TenneT DE and the German DSOs Avacon Netz and EWE NETZ.
- GOPACS (Netherlands) stands for Grid Operators Platform for Congestion Solutions. GOPACS is owned and operated by the Dutch TSO and four DSOs.
- NODES (Nordic countries) a joint venture between the Norwegian utility Agder Energi and the European power exchange Nord Pool²⁴² (since then, Agder Energi has bought all shares of NODES).

Local flexibility markets are not standardised, and FSR has identified six questions related to their design:

- 1 | Flexibility market may or may not be integrated in the existing sequence of EU electricity markets?
- 2 | Is the flexibility market operator a third party?
- **3** | Is there a reservation payment?
- 4 | Are products standardised in the flexibility market?
- 5 | Is there TSO-DSO cooperation for the organisation of the flexibility?

6 | Is there DSO-DSO cooperation for the organisation of the flexibility market?

The report highlights the differences in the answers provided, as well as pros and cons of the different approaches. The table below summarises answers provided by the FSR in its report to these questions.²⁴³

Table 1: Overview of the four [flexibility market] projects for the six design controversies according to FSR study.

	YES	NO
1. Is the flexibility market integrated in the existing sequence of EU electricity markets?	GOPACS and NODES	Piclo Flex and Enera
2. Is the flexibility market operator a third party?	All projects. GOPACS is not a market platform operator but an intermediary. Currently, the market platform is ETPA.	/
3. Is there a reservation payment?	Piclo Flex	Enera, GOPACS and NODES (all projects envision to integrate reservations)
4. Are products standardised in the flexibility market?	Piclo Flex, Enera and GOPACS (IDCONS product)	NODES
5. Is there TSO-DSO cooperation for the organisation of the flexibility market?	GOPACS (TSO and DSOs use the same intermediary). Enera and NODES (soon also the TSOs will be active).	Piclo Flex is solely a DSO platform
6. Is there DSO-DSO cooperation for the organisation of the flexibility market?	Piclo Flex (6 DSOs), GOPACS (4 DSOs), Enera and NODES (one DSO active per installation, soon more will join)	/

4. SOURCES



Sources

- Agency for Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER) (2022). "ACER submitted the framework guideline on demand response to the European Commission – first step towards binding EU rules" (December 2022).
- o Act No. 516 of 1 January 2010 on Energy Supply (Danish Electricity Supply Act).
- Agêcia para a Energy, or Energy Agency (ADENE) and Direção-Geral de Energia e Geologia (DGEG) (2022). Autoconsumo e Communidade de Energia Renovável – Manual Digital. Available at: <u>https://www.adene.pt/adene-e-dgeg-elaboram-</u> manual-digital-autoconsumo-e-comunidade-de-energia-renovavel-guia-legislativo/.
- Agentur für Eneuerbare Energien (AEE) (2013). Renewable Energy in the Hands of the People. Available at <u>http://www.unendlich-vielenergie.de/media-library/charts-and-data</u>.
- Ahlemeyer, K et al (2022). Success factors of citizen energy cooperatives in north western Germany: a conceptual and empirical review. Energy, Sustainability and Society 12, 29(2022).
- Almeida, L et al (2022). When indicators fail electricity policies: Pitfalls of the EU's retail energy market Barrier Index. Energy Policy, Volume 165, June 2022, 112892.
- Amazo, A et al (2020). Auctions and Renewable Energy Communities : Measures to support RES communities in auctions

 Country experiences and lessons learnt D4.2 AURES II Project. Available at: <u>http://aures2project.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/AURES II D4_2 energy communities.pdf</u>.
- o Amigos de la Tierra (2021). Energia Comunitaria El Potencial de las Communidades energeticas en el Estado Espanol.
- ASSET (2020). Study on Energy Communities in the Clean Energy Package: Best Practices and Recommendations for Implementation.
- BEcoop (2021). Regional and EU framework and value conditions affecting community bioenergy uptake (D1.2).
- BEcoop (2023 forthcoming). Policy Roadmap Report.
- Beggio, G, Kusch-Brandt, S (2015). Renewable Energy cooperatives: main features and success factors in collectively implementing energy transition.

- Belgian Ministry of Economy, SMEs, Self-employed and Energy (2023). Belgian Offshore Wind Energy. Available at: <u>https://economie.fgov.be/en/themes/energy/belgian-offshore-wind-energy</u>.
- Bode, A. (2022). To what extent can community energy mitigate energy poverty in Germany? . In Frontiers in Sustainable Cities (Vol. 4). <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frsc.2022.1005065</u>.
- Bolle, A (2019). How Cities Can Back Renewable Energy Communities: Guidelines for local and regional policy makers (Energy Cities).
- o Bray, R and Woodman, B. Unlocking Local Energy Markets University of Exeter Energy Policy Group.
- Brugel (2023). Guide d'interprétation relatif aux autorisations délivrées aux communatés d'énergie. Available at : <u>https://</u> energysharing.brugel.brussels/energysharing/communautes-d-energie-406.
- Brugel (2023). AVIS (BRUGEL-AVIS-20230516-367) relatif au régime de licence de fourniture et de flexibilité. Available at <u>https://www.brugel.brussels/publication/document/avis/2023/fr/AVIS-367-ARRETE-LICENCES-FOURNITURES-</u> FLEXIBLITE-2023.pdf.
- Brummer, V (2018). Community energy benefits and barriers: A comparative literature review of Community Energy in the UK, Germany and the USA, the benefits it provides for society and the barriers it faces. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 94, 187-196. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.06.013</u>.
- Busch, H, Ruggiero, S, Isakovic, A, Faller, F, & Hansen, T (2019). Scientific Review Paper on CE Drivers and Barriers (Co2mmunity WORKING PAPER No. 2.1). <u>http://co2mmunity.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/co2mmunity-working-paper-No.-2.1-v04.pdf</u>.
- California Assembly Bill 2316 Creating a community renewable energy program. Final text available at: <u>https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20212022/AB2316/</u>.
- o Claeys B (2021). Energy communities with grid benefits: A quest for a blueprint (Regulatory Assistance Project, RAP).
- Climate Action Network (CAN) Europe (2022). Engaging citizens and local communities in the solar revolution Rooftop Solar PV Country Comparison Report

- Capener, P (2014). Community Renewable Electricity Generation: Potential Sector Growth to 2020 Methodology, Detailed Assumptions and Summary of Results – Final Report. Report for the Department of Energy and Climate Change. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/</u> <u>file/274746/20140108_Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf</u>.
- CEER (2016). Benchmarking report on removing barriers to entry for energy suppliers in EU retail energy markets, REF C-15-RMF-70-03.
- Council of European Energy Regulators (CEER) (2019). Regulatory Aspects of Self-Consumption and Energy Communities, Ref: C18-CRM9_DS7-05-03 (25 June 2019), p 20. Available at: <u>https://www.ceer.eu/documents/104400/-/-/8ee38e61-a802-bd6f-db27-4fb61aa6eb6a</u>.
- CEER (2019). Monitoring Report on the Performance of European Retail Markets in 2018. Ref: C19-MRM-99-02 (04 November 2019).
- Campos, I, et al (2020). Regulatory challenges and opportunities for collective renewable energy prosumers in the EU. Energy Policy, Vol 138, March 2020, 111212.
- CERRE (2022). Retail Energy Markets under Stress Lessons Learnt for the future of market design (Issue paper, July 2022).
- ClientEarth (2014). Legal and Policy Recommendations in Response to the Green Paper on Energy Policy in Ireland Consultation. Community Power Project (D2.2 - Recommendations for national measures and legislation in seven target member states).
- ClientEarth (2014). Recommendations for improving grid access for community energy projects in the UK. Community Power Project (D2.2 Recommendations for national measures and legislation in seven target member states).
- ClientEarth (2015). Promoting citizen participation in the energy transition: recommendations for an EU legal framework to support community energy. Community Power Project (D2.3 Recommendations for EU measures and legislation).
- o COME RES (2021). Assessment Report on Technical, Legal, Institutional and Policy Conditions (D2.1).
- COMETS (2020). What drives the development of community energy in Europe? The importance of the national energy systems.

- Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU). Electricity Supply Licences. Available at: <u>https://www.cru.ie/regulations-policy/licences/electricity-supply/</u>.
- Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU) (2021). Consultation Response Paper Conclusions from Consultation CRU/21028 on Energy Communities and Active Consumers.
- Community Energy England (2022). Community Energy State of the Sector Report 2022, p 13. Available at: <u>https://</u> communityenergyengland.org/pages/state-of-the-sector.
- o Couture, T et al (2021). Scaling-up Energy Communities in Bulgaria. E3 Analytics.
- Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Supply (2022). Executive Order on subsidies for local energy communities and local anchoring of climate change. BEK no 1162 of 09/08/2022. Available at: <u>https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/ lta/2022/1162</u>.
- Debor, S (2014). "The Socio-Economic Power of Renewable Energy Production Cooperatives in Germany: Results of an Empirical Assessment", Wuppertal Papers No 187, April 2014 (Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy: Wuppertal).
- Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC) (2014). Community Energy Strategy: Full Report. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/</u> <u>file/275163/20140126Community_Energy_Strategy.pdf</u>.
- Delnooz A et al (2020). Possibilities of collective activities in Flanders. Study carried out for the Flemish Government, Department Omgeving (Energy Ville).
- DENA (2022). Best practices for energy communities in Poland and Germany. Published by Deutsche Energieagentur.
- Directive (EU) 2014/24 on public procurement (Public Services Directive); Directive (EU) 2014/25/EU on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors (Utilities Directive); and Directive (EU) 2014/23 on the award of concession contracts (Concessions Directive)
- Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast), OJ L 328, 21.12.2018, p 82 (RED II).

- Directive (EU) 2019/944 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 on common rules for the internal market for electricity and amending Directive 2012/27/EU (recast), OJ L158, 14.6.2019, p 125 (IMED).
- Directive (EU) 2023/2413 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 October 2023 amending Directive (EU) 2018/2001, Regulation (EU) 2018/1999 and Directive 98/70/EC as regards the promotion of energy from renewable sources. OJ L, 2023/2413, 31.10.2023 (RED III)
- Draft 2022 Energy Act. Available at: https://wetgevingskalender.overheid.nl/regeling/WGK010483/documenten/Raad%20 van%20State/Adviesaanvraag%20aanhangig%20bij%20Raad%20van%20State/1.
- Dronne T, Roques F, and Saguan M (2021). "Local Flexibility Markets for Distribution Network Congestion-Management in Center-Western Europe: Which Design for Which Needs?" In Energies 2021, 14(14), 4113; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/</u> en14144113.
- Ecopower (2022). "How could the CEP boost energy communities in Belgium?" Presentation for the Clean Energy Islands Secretariat. Available at: (<u>https://clean-energy-islands.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-11/CE4EUI_webinar_Ecopower.</u> pdf.
- Ecorys (2022). Synthesis Report based on in-depth assessment of 10 transferable best practices, D5.3 COME RES Project.
- E.DSO (2021). DSOs as facilitators of energy communities.
- Ehrtmann, M, Holstenkamp, L and Becker, T (2021). Regional Electricity Models for Community Energy in Germany: The Role of Governance Structures. Sustainability 2021, 13(4), 2241
- o Energie Commune. Available at: https://energiecommune.be/.
- Énergie Solidaire (2023). Presentation given on 21 June 2023 (14:30 16:00) for EU Sustainable Energy Week 2023. Available at: <u>https://interactive.eusew.eu/eusew-2023/programme/</u>.
- Energy Saving Trust (2022). Community and locally owned energy in Scotland 2021 Report produced on behalf of the Scottish Government.
- o ENTRNCE. Available at: https://www.entrnce.com/.

- Eurodiaconia (date?). Report Update Assessing the impact and uptake of social criteria in public procurement.
- Eurometripole of Strasbourg (2021). Ville de Strasbourg Appel à Manifestation d'Interets Portant sur l'octroi d'une convention d'occupation du domaine public relative à la pose et l'exploitation de panneaux photovoltaïques par une communauté énergétique citoyenne sur la toiture de l'école élémentaire Louvois, Piece 1 – règlement de consultation (16 Juin 2021)
- European Commission (2003). Commission Recommendation concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (SME Recommendation) L 124/36, 20.5.2003.
- European Commission (2015). A Framework Strategy for a Resilient Energy Union with a Forward-Looking Climate Change Policy. COM(2015)80 final.
- European Commission (2016). Commission Staff Working Document Impact Assessment Accompanying the Proposal for a (Recast) Renewable Energy Directive. SWD(2016)418 final, Part 1/4.
- European Commission (2020). European Barriers in Retail Energy Markets Project: Index Report.
- European Commission (2021). Buying Social a guide to taking into account of social considerations in public procurement (2nd edition). C(2021) 3573 final.
- European Commission (2022). Communication on the EU Solar Energy Strategy. COM(2022) 221 final.
- European Commission (2022). Staff Working Document Guidance to Member States on good practices to speed up permit-granting procedures for renewable energy projects and facilitating Power Purchase Agreements Accompanying the Commission Recommendation on Speeding up permit-granting procedures for renewable energy projects and facilitating Power Purchase Agreements. SWD/2022/0149 final.
- European Commission (2023). Proposal for a Regulation to improve the Union's electricity market design. COM(2023)148 final.
- FLEXCoop (2021). Flexibility Services for Energy Cooperatives: An overview of possible flexibility-based services using residential equipment control.
- Fouquet, D (2022). Report on novel financing instruments for RECs D 4.2 COME RES Project.

- Friends of the Earth Europe. (2021). Barriers and Threats to the People-Owned Energy Revolution. <u>https://</u> <u>friendsoftheearth.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/FOEE_barriers_and_threats.pdf</u>.
- Fraunhofer-Institut ISI & IEE, Institut für Klimaschutz, Energie und Mobilitat (IKEM) (2018). Vorbereitung und Begleitung bei der Erstellung eines Erfahrungsberichts gemäß §97 Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz, Teilvorhaben I, Querschnittsvorhaben, Wissenschaftlicher. Gesamtbericht, Anhang.
- Fróes, I and Altsitsiadis, E (2020). State of play of community bioenergy across Europe: market size, applications and best practice D1.1 BECoop.
- FSR (2020). The Future of Renewable Energy Communities in the EU an investigation at the time of the Clean Energy Package.
- o Goiener (2021). Indarberritzeko garaia. Available (in Galician) at: <u>https://www.goiener.com/2021/10/indarberritzeko-garaia/</u>.
- González, M and Kitzing, L (2018). Auctions for the support of renewable energy in Denmark: A case study on results and lessons learnt. D2.1 AURES II (DTU).
- Gorroño-Albizu, L., Sperling, K. & Djørup, S. R. (2019), The past, present and uncertain future of community energy in Denmark: Critically reviewing and conceptualising citizen ownership. Energy Research & Social Science, 57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2019.101231</u>.
- o Gorroño-Albizu, L (2021). Ownership Models for Renewable Smart Energy Systems: Insights from Denmark and Sweden regarding Onshore Wind Farms and District Heating Systems (Aalborg Universitetsforlag). Available at: <u>https://vbn.aau.</u> <u>dk/ws/files/549495211/PHD_LGA_E_pdf.pdf.H</u>.
- Gotchev B (2016). Bundesländer als Motor einer bürgernahen Energiewende? Stand und Perspektiven wirtschaftlicher Bürgerbeteiligung bei Windenergie an Land. IASS Working Paper. DOI: 10.2312/iass.2016.036.
- GreenTank (2023). Energy Communities in Greece and its lignite areas #3: Review of Developments. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>thegreentank.gr/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/202301_GreenTank_Brief_EnergyCommunities3_EN.pdf</u>.
- Gouvernement de Wallonie (2022). Pax Eolienica (Wind Agreement). Available at : <u>https://www.wallonie.be/fr/acteurs-et-institutions/wallonie/gouvernement-de-wallonie/communiques-presse/2022-10-26#paragraph--1944</u>.

- Hall, S, and Roelich, K (2015). Local Electricity Supply: Opportunities, archetypes and outcomes (University of Leeds). Available at: <u>http://public.julias.promessage.com.user.fm/Projects/iBUILD/10165_local_electricity_supply_report_WEB.pdf</u>.
- Hall, S and Roelich, K (2016). Business model innovation in electricity supply markets: the role of complex value in the United Kingdom. Energy Policy, Vol 92, May 2016, pp 286-298.
- Hanke, F., Guyet, R., & Feenstra, M. (2022). 12 Energy communities' social role in a just energy transition (S. Löbbe, F. Sioshansi, & D. B. T.-E. C. Robinson (Eds.); pp. 195–208). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91135-1.00027-4</u>.
- Herbemont, S and Roberts, J (2020). Procurement Guide for Community Energy: Based on the Municipal Guide of the H2020 COMPILE Project. Available at: <u>https://www.rescoop.eu/toolbox/procurement-guide-for-community-energy</u>.
- Hermans, P (2023). Presentation, "The Energy Transition meets the Digital Transformation: the Perfect Storm".
- Hicks, J, & Ison, N (2018). An exploration of the boundaries of 'community' in community renewable energy projects: Navigating between motivations and context. Energy Policy, 113, 523–534. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2017.10.031</u> Hier Climate Foundation & Energie Samen (2022). Lokale Energie Monitor 2022. Available at : https ://www.hier.nu/ LEM2022.
- Holstenkamp, L. (2021). Community energy in Germany: from technology pioneers to professionalisation under uncertainty. In: Coenen F. H., Hoppe T. Renewable Energy Communities and the Low Carbon Energy Transition in Europe. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. p. 119–152.
- Holstenkamp, Kriel C (2022). Assessment of Barriers and Drivers for Energy Communities: Literature Review Background Paper #2 in Model Assessment of Potential and Barriers to the Development of Renewable Energy Communities at the National Level ((ECOLOG Institute for Social-Ecological Research and Education).
- Holzmann, A et al (2022). Handbook of identified barriers and enablers, WP3, SHARES (Enabling Energy Communities. Available at: <u>https://shares-project.eu/fileadmin/6_shares/downloads/deliverables/d3.2_shares_barriers_and_enablers.</u> pdf.
- Holzmann, A (2022). Overview of legal and regulatory framework D3.1 SHAREs Project, p 55. Available at: <u>https://shares-project.eu/downloads</u>.

- Hvelplund, F, Østergaard, P. A., and Meyer, N. I. (2017). "Incentives and barriers for wind power expansion and system integration in Denmark," in Energy Policy, vol. 107, pp. 573–584, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2017.05.009.
- Hvelplund, F., & Djørup, S. R. (2020). Denmark: Centralised versus decentralised renewable energy systems. In C. Burger, A. Froggatt, C. Mitchell, & J. Weinmann (Eds.), Decentralised Energy: a Global Game Changer (pp. 63-81). Ubiquity Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/bcf.e</u>.
- o IB.SH Ihre Forderbank. Bürgerenergiefonds. Available at: Bürgerenergiefonds | IB.SH (ib-sh.de).
- Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía (IDEA). Programa de Incentivos a Proyectos Piloto Singulares de Communidades Energéticas (CE Implementa). Available at: <u>https://www.idae.es/ayudas-y-financiacion/comunidades-</u> energeticas/programa-de-incentivos-proyectos-piloto-singulares-de.
- IRENA (2019). Renewable Energy Auctions Status and Trends Beyond Price.
- Klaasen E and van der Laan, M (2019). Energy and Flexibility Services for Citizen Energy Communities (USEF White Paper).
- Koirala, B. P., Araghi, Y., Kroesen, M., Ghorbani, A., Hakvoort, R. A., & Herder, P. M. (2018). Trust, awareness, and independence: Insights from a socio-psychological factor analysis of citizen knowledge and participation in community energy systems. Energy Research and Social Science, 38, 33-40. Doi:10.1016/j.erss.2018.01.009
- Kooij, H.J., Oteman, M., Veenman, S., Sperling, K., Magnusson, D., Palm, J., & Hvelplund, F. (2018). Between grassroots and treetops: Community power and institutional dependence in the renewable energy sector in Denmark, Sweden and the Netherlands. Energy Research & Social Science, 37, 52-64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.019</u>
- Kostecka-Jurczyk, D, Marak, K and Struś, M (2022). Economic Conditions fort the Development of Energy Cooperatives in Poland, Energies 2022, 15(18), 6831.
- Krug, M et al (2022). Mainstreaming Community Energy: Is the Renewable Energy Directive a Driver for Renewable Energy Communities in Germany and Italy? In Sustainability 2022, 14, 7181, p 10.
- Krug, M et al (2023). Implementing European Union Provisions and Enabling Frameworks for Renewable Energy Communities in Nine Countries: Progress, Delays, and Gaps, in Sustainability 2023, 15, 8861, p 9.

- Latvian Ministry of Climate and Energy (2023). Rules for operation of the modernization fund and multi-year operational program. Available at: <u>https://tapportals.mk.gov.lv/legal_acts/0e48e31d-c3f1-47a7-9e1d-d6bd8c2a3e24</u>.
- Laybourn-Langton, L (2016). Community and Local Energy: Challenges and Opportunities (Institute for Public Policy Research, IPPR). Available at: <u>https://www.ippr.org/files/publications/pdf/community-energy_June2016.pdf</u>
- Lewis P, (2014). Market Entrant Processes, Hurdles and Ideas for Change in the Nordic Energy Market the view of the Market. Available at: <u>http://www.nordicenergyregulators.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/VaasaETT-Report-Market</u> <u>Entry Barriers.pdf</u>.
- Lewis, P., Granroth-Wilding, H., Napolitano, L., Zabala, C., Vékony, A., Felsmann, B., & Hirschbichler, F. (2021). European Barriers in Retail Energy Markets Project: Final Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. ISBN 978-92-76-30269-8, doi:10.2833/5217.
- o LIGHTNESS (2021). Regulatory Impact Analysis for CECs and Flexibility Services (D2.2). Available at: <u>https://www.lightness-project.eu/resources/lightness-materials/regulatory-roadmaps/</u>.
- Local Energy Scotland (2016). CARES Progress and Impact. Available at: <u>https://localenergy.scot/wp-content/</u> uploads/2021/10/CARES-Progress-and-Impact.pdf.
- Local Partnerships and Cornwall Energy (2019). Local Energy Options A Guidance Document for Local Government. Available at: file:///C:/Users/joshr/Downloads/Local-Energy-options-guide-web-version-1.pdf.
- Loi modifiant la loi du 29 avril 1999 relative à l'organisation du marché de l'électricité et portant transposition de la directive (UE) 2019/944 du Parlement européen et du Conseil du 5 juin 2019 concernant des règles communes pour le marché intérieur de l'électricité et modifiant la directive 2012/27/UE (23 OCTOBRE 2022). Available at: <u>https://www.ejustice.just.fgov.be/cgi_loi/change_lg.pl?language=fr&la=F&cn=1999042942&table_name=loi</u>.
- Lowitzsch, J., & Hanke, F. (2019b). Renewable Energy Cooperatives. In Energy Transition: Financing Consumer Co-Ownership in Renewables (pp. 139–162). Springer International Publishing.
- Maleki-Dizaji P, and Rueda F(2022), pp 31-32.
- Meitern, M (2022). Does Access to Regulative Exemption Reduce Barriers for Energy Communities? A Dutch Case Study. Sustainability 2022, 14, 5608.

- Ministere de la Transition Ecologique (2021). 10 Mesures en faveur des energies renouvelables citoyennes. Available at: <u>https://www.ecologie.gouv.fr/sites/default/files/21191_10MesuresEnergiesRenouvelablesCitoyenne_def_light.</u> pdf. Ministry of Labor and Economy of Finland (2023). Energiayhteisöt ja erilliset linjat: Energiayhteisötyöryhmän loppuraportti (Energy communities and separate lines: Final report of the energy community working group). Available at: <u>https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/handle/10024/164884</u>.
- Mogg, M (2022). Catalogue of potential legal and economic barriers and facilitators of energy citizenship D3.3 Energy Citizenship and Energy Communities for a Clean-Energy Transition (EC2), p 47.
- Morris, C (2019). Community Energy in Germany: More than just climate change mitigation, in Renews Spezial No 89 (Dec 2019) (Agentur für Erneuerbare Energien e.V: Berlin).
- mPOWER (2022). Guide 2: Building Energy Communities A guide to inspiring democratically owned and financed energy projects. mPOWER project (Municipal action, public engagement: routes to local energy ownership). Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>municipalpower.org/best-practice-guides/guide2/#section2</u>.
- MTVSZ-SZGK (2021). Megújulóenergia-közösségek akadályai és lehetőségei Magyarországon: Értékelő tanulmányp (Barriers and opportunities for renewable energy communities in Hungary: Evaluation study).
- Naveda, J et al (2023). Best Practice Report D2.2 ACCE (Access to Capital for Community Energy). Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>acce.rescoop.eu/resources/best-practice-report-on-community-energy-financing-schemes</u>.
- NEWCOMERS (date unknown). Energy Communities in Different National Settings barriers, enablers and best practices (D3.3).
- Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (Ofgem) (2014). Community Energy Grid Connections Working Group report to the Secretary of State (July 2014).
- o Paint Graphos Soc. coop. arl (Joined Cases C-78/08 to C-80/08) [2011] C 311/06)
- Pandelieva-Dimova, I, and Mundo, J (2021). Review of existing OSS Structures, Strategies, Tools, Policies and Projects
 D2.1 UPSTAIRS Project (SEC, Ecoserveis), p 14. Available at: <u>https://www.h2020-upstairs.eu/publications-results</u>.
- Parliament of the Republic of Latvia (2022). Annotation to legislation on the general legislative framework for energy communities. Available at: <u>https://titania.saeima.lv/LIVS13/saeimalivs13.</u> nsf/0/4ABAD7A69836F14CC225885500290F74?OpenDocument.

- Patagonia (2021). Securing Our Future: How Business can scale up community energy for a cleaner and more secure energy future. Available at: <u>https://www.rescoop.eu/uploads/rescoop/downloads/Patagonia-WTP-Biz-Guide-ENG.pdf</u>.
- o Power Up Project. Information available at: https://www.socialenergyplayers.eu/belgie/.
- Proka, A (2023). Barriers and opportunities for the development of energy communities with municipal involvement: Results from LIFE LOOP survey – D2.3 - Life Loop Project.
- o Regen (2017). Local Supply: Options for selling your energy locally, 3rd Edition.
- Regione Siciliana (2022). Avviso Publico per la constituzione delle Communità di Energie Rinnovabili e Solidali (Public Notice for the establishment of Renewable and Solidarity Energy Communities). Available at: <u>https://www.regione.sicilia.</u> <u>it/la-regione-informa/avviso-pubblico-costituzione-comunita-energie-rinnovabili-solidali</u>.
- o Regulation (EU) 2019/943 on the internal market for electricity (Recast), OJ L 158, 14.6.2019, p. 54-124
- Renewable Energy Sources Act 2017 (EEG 2017).
- REScoop 20-20-20 Project (2013). Report on financial barriers and existing solutions.
- REScoop 20-20-20 (2013). Report on REScoop Business Models WP3.
- o <u>REScoop.eu</u> (2021). Best Practice Guide, D4.1 COOLKIT Compile Project, p 29.
- o <u>REScoop.eu</u> (2022). Financing Guide, D4.1.2 COOLKIT Compile Project, p 20.
- Roberts J, Bodman F, and Rybski R (2014). Community Power: Model Legal Frameworks for Citizien-owned Renewale Energy (ClientEarth: London).
- Roberts, J (2019). What energy communities need from Regulation, in European Energy Journal, Vol 8 Issue 3/4 (July 2019).
- Roberts, J (2020). Power to the people? Implications of the Clean Energy Package for the role of community ownership in Europe's energy transition. Review of European, Comparative & International Environmental Law, Vol 29, Issue 2, pp 232-244.

- Ruggiero, S., Isakovic, A., Busch, H., Auvinen, K., & Faller, F. (2019). Co2mmunity WORKING PAPER No. 2.3 Developing a Joint Perspective on Cummunity Energy: Best Practices and Challenges in the Baltic Sea Region (2.3). <u>http://co2mmunity.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/Co2mmunity-working-paper-2.3.pdf</u>.
- Schittekatte T, Reif V, Nouicer A and Meeus L (2019). Completed Regulatory Framework, D2.4 INTERRFACE. Available at: https://fsr.eui.eu/publications/?handle=1814/64505.
- Schittekatte, T (2020). Regulatory Sandboxes in the energy sector the what, the who and the how (Florence School of Regulation, FSR). Available at: <u>https://fsr.eui.eu/regulatory-sandboxes-in-the-energy-sector-the-what-the-who-andthe-how/</u>.
- Schwencke, A.S. (2019) Verkenning toekomstpotentieel burger-energiebeweging 2030 Energie in eigendom van de lokale gemeenschap (AS I-SEARCH,) Available at: <u>https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/j4nvgs5kjg27kof</u> j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vkzjfpmz80yf/f=/blg890692.pdf.
- o SHAREs (2021). Blueprint for information hubs (Gateways). Available at: https://shares-project.eu/blueprint.
- o smartEn (2021). Valorising demand-side flexibility in energy system-wide methodologies and modelling scenarios
- o smartEn (2023). Demand-side flexibility market monitor for demand side flexibility. Available at: <u>https://smarten.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/DSF-Market-Monitor-2022.pdf</u>.
- Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI). Community Grants Overview. Available at: <u>https://www.seai.ie/grants/</u> <u>community-grants/overview/</u>.
- Senato della Repubblica Italia (2016). Consolidated Act/framework for the participation of public administration in subsidiary companies, D.Lgs. 19 Agosto 2016, n. 175. Available at: <u>https://www.senato.it/service/PDF/PDFServer/</u> BGT/01043942.pdf.
- o Standal (2022)
- o TANDEMS Project. Information available at: https://lifetandems.eu/project-country/.

- Testaankoop (2023). Suppliers make energy sharing unnecessarily expensive with high costs. Available at: <u>https://www.</u> <u>test-aankoop.be/woning-energie/hernieuwbare-energie/nieuws/hoge-kosten-leveranciers-nekken-energiedelen?update</u> <u>BeanConsent=true</u>.
- Tews, K (2018). "The crash of a policy pilot to legally define community energy. Evidence from the German auction scheme," Sustainability, vol. 10, p. 3397, 2018, doi: 10.3390/su101033.
- Tisdale, M, Grau, T and Neuhoff, K (2014). "Impact of Renewable Energy Act Reform on Wind Project Finance," Deutsche Institut f
 ür Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW Berlin), Discussion Papers 1387.
- Tual R, Panella P, and Van Vliet R (2020). Emerging Business Models, Associated DR Strategies and Standard Contract Templates – D2.7 – FLEXCoop.
- Tual, R, Roberts, J, and Pañella, P (2021). Dissemination, Exploitation and Standardization: Policy Recommendations
 D8.9 FLEXCOOP, p 18.
- Tuerk, A, Neumann, C and Rakocevic, L (2021). Energy Community Monitor June 2021 (DECIDE D3.1). Available at: <u>https://decide4energy.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_D3.1_final.pdf</u>
- Tuerk, A et al (2022). Energy Communities and Collective Actions: Yearly Policy Brief on Regulation May 2022 (D3.2).
 Available at: https://knowledge4energy.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_policy_brief_08062022_D3.2.pdf.
- Tuerk A, et al (2023), Energy communities and collective actions: Yearly policy brief on regulation D3.5 DECIDE Project. Available at: <u>https://knowledge4energy.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_policy_brief_08062022_D3.2.pdf</u>.
- University of Birmingham (2022). CEES Survey finds few ECs are tackling energy poverty. Available at : <u>https://www.energysolidarity.eu/cees-survey-energy-poverty-action/</u>.
- o van der Veen, A et al (2023). EnTEC Multi-supplier models and decentralized energy systems: Energy sharing approaches, p 44. Available at: <u>https://energy.ec.europa.eu/publications/multi-supplier-models-and-decentralized-energy-systems en.</u>
ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

- VEMW and Others (Case C-17/03) [2005], ECR I-4983.
- Walker, G (2008). What are the barriers and incentives for community-owned means of energy production and use? In Energy Policy, 36(12), 4401–4405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.032</u>
- Wan der Waal, E et al (2020). Participatory Experimentation with Energy Law: Digging in a 'Regulatory Sandbox' for Local Energy Initiatives in the Netherlands. Energies 2020, 13(2), 458.
- Warbroek, B., Hoppe, T., Coenen, F., & Bressers, H. (2018). The role of intermediaries in supporting local low-carbon energy initiatives. Sustainability (Switzerland), 10(7). Doi:10.3390/su10072450



5. REFERENCES



References

¹Directive (EU) 2018/2001 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 December 2018 on the promotion of the use of energy from renewable sources (recast), OJ L 328, 21.12.2018, p 82 (RED II); and Directive (EU) 2019/944 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 5 June 2019 on common rules for the internal market for electricity and amending Directive 2012/27/EU (recast), OJ L158, 14.6.2019, p 125 (IMED).

² "Most importantly, our vision is of an Energy Union with citizens at its core, where citizens take ownership of the energy transition, benefit from new technologies to reduce their bills, participate actively in the market, and where vulnerable consumers are protected'. EU Commission (2015). A Framework Strategy for a Resilient Energy Union with a Forward-Looking Climate Change Policy. COM(2015)80 final.

```
<sup>3</sup> RED II, Recital 70; and IMED, Recital 43.
```

⁴ RED II, Recitals 70-71; and IMED, Recitals 43, 44 and 46.

⁵ For the purposes of this Report, we refer to RECs and CECs collectively as energy communities, unless specific reference of either REC or CEC is warranted.

⁶ RED II, Recital 71.

⁷RED II, Article 2(16) subparagraph (a); and Article 22 paragraph 5 subparagraph (f).

⁸RED II, Recital 71.

⁹ IMED, Recitals 44 and 46.

¹⁰ IMED, Recital 43.

¹¹ RED II, Article 22 paragraph 4; and IMED, Article 16 paragraph 1.

¹² IMED, Article 59 paragraph 1 subparagraph (z). In practice, this should also apply to RECs.

¹³ We also identify the following activities available to energy communities, but do not cover them here: and production and distribution of heating and cooling community-owned electricity infrastructure, and acting as a service provider (e.g. mobility, energy efficiency or renovation services). It is important to highlight that depending on their aims and professional maturity, energy communities are capable to and will often integrate more than one activity into a particular business model.

¹⁴ COME RES, Community Power Project, CEES, Co2mmunity, SHAREs, EC2, mPOWER, DECIDE, COMPILE, cVPP Project, REScoop VPP, FLEXcoop, ALPGRIDS, BEcoop, REScoop 20-20-20, BRIDGE, LIFE LOOP, NEWCOMERS, NRG2 PEERS, UPSTAIRS, SCCALE, ACCE, OneNet, COMETS, TANDEMS, LIGHTNESS, INTERRFACE, Clean Energy for EU Islands, AURES II, and the Renewables Networking Platform.

¹⁵ The first workshop was held online on the 22nd of February 2023, which was more informal, brought together energy communities and traditional energy sector stakeholders, and focused on communicating and debating initial findings of the report with regard to the activities of energy sharing and supply. The second workshop was held in a hybrid format on the 5th of

July 2023 in a more formal setting, where findings of the overall report were presented, and a dialogue was held between energy communities, Member States' representatives, regulators, the European Commission, and sector stakeholders.

¹⁶ See e.g. Hicks, J., & Ison, N. (2018). An exploration of the boundaries of 'community' in community renewable energy projects: Navigating between motivations and context. Energy Policy, 113, 523–534. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. enpol.2017.10.031; Walker, G (2008). What are the barriers and incentives for community-owned means of energy production and use? Energy Policy, 36(12), 4401-4405. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.09.032; Friends of the Earth Europe. (2021). Barriers and Threats to the People-Owned Energy Revolution. https://friendsoftheearth.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/FOEE barriers and threats.pdf; Brummer, V. (2018). Community energy – benefits and barriers: A comparative literature review of Community Energy in the UK, Germany and the USA, the benefits it provides for society and the barriers it faces. Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 94, 187- 196. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j. rser.2018.06.013; Busch et al (2021). Scientific Review Paper on CE Drivers and Barriers (Co2mmunity WORKING PAPER No. 2.1). http://co2mmunity.eu/ wp-content/uploads/2019/01/co2mmunity-working-paper-No.-2.1-v04.pdf; and Ruggiero et al (2022) Co2mmunity WORKING PAPER No. 2.3 Developing a Joint Perspective on Community Energy: Best Practices and Challenges in the Baltic Sea Region (2.3). http://co2mmunity.eu/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/ Co2mmunity-working-paper-2.3.pdf.

¹⁷ Holstenkamp, Kriel C (2022). Assessment of Barriers and Drivers for Energy Communities: Literature Review - Background Paper #2 in Model Assessment of Potential and Barriers to the Development of Renewable Energy Communities at the National Level (ECOLOG Institute for Social-Ecological Research and

Education).

¹⁸ Id, at p 11.

¹⁹ Id, at p 12.

²⁰ Maleki-Dizaji P, and Rueda F (2022). Synthesis Report based on in-depth assessment of 10 transferable best practices - D5.3 (Ecorys), pp 31-32.

 $^{\rm 21}$ Holstenkamp and Kriel (2022), n 17 at p 15.

²² Id, at p 4.

²³ Couture, T et al (2021). Scaling up Energy Communities in Bulgaria (E3 Analytics: Berlin), p 15.

²⁴ Interview with Frank Bold (06/06/2023). At the time of the interview, and of the publication of this Report, a national legal framework was currently pending finalisation.

²⁵ Deutsche Energie-Agentur (DENA) (2022). Best practices for energy communities in Poland and Germany, p 38.

²⁶ Maleki-Dizaji P, and Rueda F (2022), n 20 at p 31.

²⁷ Note that it is a requirement for all Member States to assess existing barriers and potential of development of RECs under Article 22 paragraph 4 of the RED II.

²⁸ Ministry of Labor and Economy of Finland (2023). Energiayhteisöt ja erilliset linjat: Energiayhteisötyöryhmän loppuraportti (Energy communities and separate lines: Final report of the energy community working group). Available at: <u>https://julkaisut.valtioneuvosto.fi/handle/10024/164884</u>.

²⁹See Delnooz A et al (2020). Possibilities of collective activities in Flanders. Study carried out for the Flemish Government, Department Omgeving (Energy Ville).

³⁰ Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU) (2021). Consultation Response Paper – Conclusions from Consultation CRU/21028 on Energy Communities and Active Consumers, p 36.

³¹ Parliament of the Republic of Latvia (2022). Annotation to legislation on the general legislative framework for energy communities. Available at: <u>https://titania.saeima.lv/LIVS13/saeimalivs13.</u> nsf/0/4ABAD7A69836F14CC225885500290F74?OpenDocument.

³² Lietuvos Respublikos energetikos ministerija (2019). Viešoji konsultacija dėl atsinaujinančios energetikos bendrijų (AEB). Available at: <u>https://epilietis.lrv.lt/uploads/epilietis/consultations/</u> <u>docs/8757_5eb557f757f01ea04cbec4303042b0c9.pdf</u>.

³³ Schwencke, A.S. (2019). Verkenning toekomstpotentieel burgerenergiebeweging 2030 - Energie in eigendom van de lokale gemeenschap (AS I-SEARCH,) Available at: <u>https://www.parlementairemonitor.nl/9353000/1/</u> j4nvgs5kjg27kof j9vvij5epmj1ey0/vkzjfpmz80yf/f=/blg890692.pdf.

³⁴ Capener, P (2014). Community Renewable Electricity Generation: Potential Sector Growth to 2020 – Methodology, Detailed Assumptions and Summary of Results – Final Report. Report for the Department of Energy and Climate Change (DECC). Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/</u> <u>uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/274746/20140108</u> <u>Community_Energy_Modelling_FinalReportJan.pdf</u>.

³⁵ DECC (2014). Community Energy Strategy: Full Report. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/</u> <u>attachment_data/file/275163/20140126Community_Energy_Strategy.pdf</u>.

³⁶ The recitals and existing definitions in IMED and RED II provide some further guidance to Member States. For example, control is defined in Article 2 (56) of the IMED as meaning rights, contracts or other means which, either separately or in combination and having regard to the considerations of fact or law involved, confer the possibility of exercising decisive influence on an undertaking, in particular by: (a) ownership or the right to use all or part of the assets of an undertaking; (b) rights or contracts which confer decisive influence on the composition, voting or decisions of the organs of an undertaking. The principle of autonomy is clarified in Recital 71 of the RED II to mean that RECs should be capable of remaining autonomous from individual members and other traditional market actors that participate in the community as members or shareholders, or who cooperate through other means such as investment.

³⁷ Magyar Természetvédők Szövetsége (MTVSZ) (2021). Megújulóenergiaközösségek akadályai és lehetőségei Magyarországon: Értékelő tanulmányp (Barriers and opportunities for renewable energy communities in Hungary: Evaluation study).

³⁸ European Commission (2003). Commission Recommendation concerning the definition of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises (SME Recommendation) L 124/36, 20.5.2003.

³⁹ Senato della Repubblica Italia (2016). Consolidated Act/framework for the participation of public administration in subsidiary companies, D.Lgs. 19 Agosto 2016, n. 175. Available at: <u>https://www.senato.it/service/PDF/PDFServer/</u> <u>BGT/01043942.pdf</u>.

⁴⁰ Law for the expansion of renewable energies (Renewable Energy Sources ActEEG 2017), Section 3, paragraph 15, and Section 36g.

⁴¹ Fraunhofer-Institut ISI & IEE, Institut für Klimaschutz, Energie und Mobilitat (IKEM) (2018). Vorbereitung und Begleitung bei der Erstellung eines Erfahrungsberichts gemäß §97 Erneuerbare-Energien-Gesetz, Teilvorhaben I, Querschnittsvorhaben, Wissenschaftlicher. Gesamtbericht, Anhang, p 2. ⁴³ Office of Gas and Electricity Markets (Ofgem) (2014). Community Energy Grid Connections Working Group report to the Secretary of State (July 2014), p. 4.

⁴⁴ <u>REScoop.eu</u> (2021). Best Practice Guide, D4.1 – COOLKIT – Compile Project, p 29.

⁴⁵ REScoop 20-20-20 Project (2013). Report on financial barriers and existing solutions.

⁴⁶ <u>REScoop.eu</u> (2021), n 44 at p 32.

⁴⁷ RESCOOP 20-20-20 (2013), n 45 at p 32.

⁴⁸ <u>REScoop.eu</u> (2021), n 44 at p 20.

⁴⁹ Id, at p 32.

⁵⁰ Proka, A (2023). Barriers and opportunities for the development of energy communities with municipal involvement: Results from LIFE LOOP survey – D2.3 – Life Loop Project.

⁵¹ BEcoop (2023). Policy Roadmaps for the European Union: Promoting bioenergy communities, p 7. Available at: <u>https://www.becoop-project.eu/wp-content/uploads/EU-Policy-roadmap_v4.pdf</u>.

⁵²Ibid.

⁵³ MTVSZ (2021), n 37.

⁵⁴ Bode, A. (2022). To what extent can community energy mitigate energy poverty in Germany? . In Frontiers in Sustainable Cities (Vol. 4). <u>https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/frsc.2022.1005065</u>.

⁵⁵ Hanke, F, Guyet, R, and Feenstra, M (2022). 12 – Energy communities' social role in a just energy transition (Löbbe, S, Sioshansi, F, and Robinson D (Eds.); pp. 195–208). Academic Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-91135-1.00027-4</u>. ⁵⁶ See Holzmann, A et al (2022). Handbook of identified barriers and enablers, WP3, SHAREs, p 24; and Lowitzsch, J., & Hanke, F. (2019b). Renewable Energy Cooperatives. In Energy Transition: Financing Consumer Co-Ownership in Renewables (pp. 139–162). Springer International Publishing.

⁵⁷ Hanke, F, Guyet, R, and Feenstra, M (2022), n 55.

⁵⁸ University of Birmingham (2022). CEES Survey finds few ECs are tackling energy poverty. Available at : <u>https://www.energysolidarity.eu/cees-survey-</u> energy-poverty-action/.

⁵⁹ Danish Ministry of Climate, Energy and Supply (2022). Executive Order on subsidies for local energy communities and local anchoring of climate change. BEK no 1162 of 09/08/2022. Available at: <u>https://www.retsinformation.dk/eli/</u> <u>lta/2022/1162</u>.

⁶⁰ While not within the explicit scope of this report, grants are also provided communities to help them to develop local energy master plans in order to realise energy savings, including building renovations. See Sustainable Energy Authority of Ireland (SEAI). Community Grants Overview. Available at: <u>https://www.seai.ie/grants/community-grants/overview/</u>.

⁶¹ See Instituto para la Diversificación y Ahorro de la Energía (IDEA). Programa de Incentivos a Proyectos Piloto Singulares de Communidades Energéticas (CE Implementa). Available at: <u>https://www.idae.es/ayudas-y-financiacion/</u> <u>comunidades-energeticas/programa-de-incentivos-proyectos-piloto-singulares-</u> <u>de</u>.

⁶² See Latvian Ministry of Climate and Energy (2023). Rules for operation of the modernization fund and multi-year operational program. Available at: <u>https://tapportals.mk.gov.lv/legal_acts/0e48e31d-c3f1-47a7-9e1d-d6bd8c2a3e24</u>.

 $^{\rm 63}$ As of publication of this report, the Recovery Fund has not yet been

implemented, due to an impending decree that awaits approval from the EU Commission. This is supported by a target of 2,500 Gwh of community-led renewables production in municipalities that have less than 5,000 inhabitants. See Krug, M et al (2022). Mainstreaming Community Energy: Is the Renewable Energy Directive a Driver for Renewable Energy Communities in Germany and Italy? Sustainability 2022, 14, 7181, p 10.

 $^{\rm 64}$ Fouquet, D (2022). Report on novel financing instruments for RECs – D 4.2 – COME RES Project.

⁶⁵ See <u>IB.SH</u> Ihre Forderbank. Bürgerenergiefonds. Available at: Bürgerenergiefonds | <u>IB.SH (ib-sh.de</u>).

⁶⁶ Krug, M et al (2023). Implementing European Union Provisions and Enabling Frameworks for Renewable Energy Communities in Nine Countries: Progress, Delays, and Gaps, in Sustainability 2023, 15, 8861, p 9.

⁶⁷ Mogg, M (2022). Catalogue of potential legal and economic barriers and facilitators of energy citizenship – D3.3 - Energy Citizenship and Energy Communities for a Clean-Energy Transition (EC2), p 47.

⁶⁸ See <u>REScoop.eu</u>, Finance Tracker. Accessed 06 June, 2023.

⁶⁹ Krug, M et al (2023),n 66 at p 13.

⁷⁰ Bolle, A (2019). How Cities Can Back Renewable Energy Communities: Guidelines for local and regional policy makers (Energy Cities), p 26.

⁷¹ Community Energy England (2022). Community Energy State of the Sector Report 2022, p 13. Available at: <u>https://communityenergyengland.org/pages/</u><u>state-of-the-sector</u>.

⁷² Ibid at p 14.

⁷³ Local Energy Scotland (2016). CARES Progress and Impact. Available at:

https://localenergy.scot/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/CARES-Progress-and-Impact.pdf.

⁷⁴ Community Energy England (2022), n 71 at p 17.

⁷⁵ Hier Climate Foundation & Energie Samen (2022). Lokale Energie Monitor 2022. Available at: <u>https://www.hier.nu/LEM2022</u>.

⁷⁶ Naveda, J et al (2023). Best Practice Report - D2.2 – ACCE (Access to Capital for Community Energy), p 19. Available at: <u>https://acce.rescoop.eu/resources/</u> best-practice-report-on-community-energy-financing-schemes.

⁷⁷ Pandelieva-Dimova, I, and Mundo, J (2021). Review of existing OSS Structures, Strategies, Tools, Policies and Projects – D2.1 – UPSTAIRS Project (SEC, Ecoserveis), p 14. Available at: <u>https://www.h2020-upstairs.eu/publicationsresults</u>.

⁷⁸See Austrian Coordination Office for Energy Communities. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>energiegemeinschaften.gv.at/</u>.

⁷⁹ SHAREs (2021). Blueprint for information hubs (Gateways). Available at: <u>https://shares-project.eu/blueprint</u>.

⁸⁰ Brugel (2023). Guide d'interprétation relatif aux autorisations délivrées aux communatés d'énergie. Available at : <u>https://energysharing.brugel.brussels/</u><u>energysharing/communautes-d-energie-406</u>.

⁸¹ See Agêcia para a Energy, or Energy Agency (ADENE) and Direção-Geral de Energia e Geologia (DGEG) (2022). Autoconsumo e Communidade de Energia Renovável – Manual Digital. Available at: <u>https://www.adene.pt/adene-e-dgeg-</u> <u>elaboram-manual-digital-autoconsumo-e-comunidade-de-energia-renovavel-</u> <u>guia-legislativo/</u>.

⁸² Krug, M et al (2022), n 63 at p 8.

⁸³ Bolle (2019), n 70 at p 26.

⁸⁴ mPOWER (2022). Guide 2: Building Energy Communities - A guide to inspiring democratically owned and financed energy projects. mPOWER project (Municipal action, public engagement: routes to local energy ownership). Available at: 2: Building Energy Communities - mPOWER (<u>municipalpower.org</u>).

⁸⁵ Ibid.

⁸⁶ See Energie Commune. Available at : <u>https://energiecommune.be/</u>.

⁸⁷ Ministere de la Transition Ecologique (2021). 10 Mesures en faveur des energies renouvelables citoyennes – Measure 5. Available at: <u>https://www.ecologie.gouv.fr/10-mesures-developpement-des-energies-renouvelables-citoyennes.</u>

⁸⁸ Ecorys (2022). Synthesis Report based on in-depth assessment of 10 transferable best practices, D5.3 COME RES Project, p 31.

⁸⁹ Hanke, F, Guyet, R and Feenstra, M (2022), n 55.

⁹⁰SeePowerUpProject.Informationavailableat:<u>https://www.socialenergyplayers.</u> <u>eu/belgie/</u>.

⁹¹ See TANDEMS Project. Information available at: <u>https://lifetandems.eu/</u> project-country/.

⁹² Énergie Solidaire (2023). Presentation given on 21 June 2023 (14:30 – 16:00) for EU Sustainable Energy Week 2023. Available at: <u>https://www.youtube.com/</u> watch?v=xLP8wlfgmDA&t=7s.

⁹³ Regione Siciliana (2022). Avviso Publico per la constituzione delle Communità di Energie Rinnovabili e Solidali (Public Notice for the establishment of Renewable and Solidarity Energy Communities). Available at: <u>https://www.</u> regione.sicilia.it/la-regione-informa/avviso-pubblico-costituzione-comunita-

energie-rinnovabili-solidali.

⁹⁴ REScoop 20-20-20 (2013). Report on REScoop Business Models – WP3, p 13.

⁹⁵The latter example is likely to be present in the context of an existing national renewables support scheme, such as the issuance of a fixed feed-in tariff.

⁹⁶ See Roberts J, Bodman F, and Rybski R (2014). Community Power: Model Legal Frameworks for Citizen-owned Renewable Energy (ClientEarth: London).

⁹⁷ EU Commission (2016). Commission Staff Working Document Impact Assessment Accompanying the Proposal for a (Recast) Renewable Energy Directive. SWD(2016)418 final, Part 1/4.

⁹⁸ See eg. Tuerk A, et al (2023), Energy communities and collective actions: Yearly policy brief on regulation – D3.5 – DECIDE Project, p 15. Available at: <u>https://knowledge4energy.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_policy_brief_08062022_D3.2.pdf</u>.

⁹⁹ See Tews, K (2018). "The crash of a policy pilot to legally define community energy. Evidence from the German auction scheme," in Sustainability, vol. 10, p. 3397, 2018, doi: 10.3390/su10103397; and Hvelplund, F, Østergaard, P. A., and Meyer, N. I. (2017). "Incentives and barriers for wind power expansion and system integration in Denmark," in Energy Policy, vol. 107, pp. 573–584, 2017, doi: 10.1016/j.enpol.2017.05.009.

¹⁰⁰ Ecopower (2022). "How could the CEP boost energy communities in Belgium?" Presentation for the Clean Energy Islands Secretariat. Available at: (<u>https://</u> <u>clean-energy-islands.ec.europa.eu/system/files/2022-11/CE4EUI_webinar_ Ecopower.pdf</u>.

¹⁰¹ Hvelplund, F., & Djørup, S. R. (2020). Denmark: Centralised versus decentralised renewable energy systems. In C. Burger, A. Froggatt, C. Mitchell,

& J. Weinmann (Eds.), Decentralised Energy: a Global Game Changer (pp. 63-81). Ubiquity Press, p 66.. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/bcf.e</u>. See also Gorroño-Albizu, L., Sperling, K. & Djørup, S. R. (2019), The past, present and uncertain future of community energy in Denmark: Critically reviewing and conceptualising citizen ownership. Energy Research & Social Science, 57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.</u> <u>erss.2019.101231</u>.

¹⁰² Email exchange between the Author and INFORSE, a Danish NGO (06/27/2023).

¹⁰³ Hvelplund, F., & Djørup, S. R. (2020). Denmark: Centralised versus decentralised renewable energy systems. In C. Burger, A. Froggatt, C. Mitchell, & J. Weinmann (Eds.), Decentralised Energy: a Global Game Changer (pp. 63-81). Ubiquity Press. <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/bcf.e</u>

¹⁰⁴ Gotchev B (2016). Bundesländer als Motor einer bürgernahen Energiewende? Stand und Perspektiven wirtschaftlicher Bürgerbeteiligung bei Windenergie an Land. IASS Working Paper. DOI: 10.2312/iass.2016.036.

¹⁰⁵ Fróes, I and Altsitsiadis, E (2020). State of play of community bioenergy across Europe: market size, applications and best practice – D1.1 – BECoop, p 12.

¹⁰⁶ Directive (EU) 2014/24 on public procurement (Public Services Directive); Directive (EU) 2014/25/EU on procurement by entities operating in the water, energy, transport and postal services sectors (Utilities Directive); and Directive (EU) 2014/23 on the award of concession contracts (Concessions Directive).

¹⁰⁷ See Eurodiaconia (date?). Report Update – Assessing the impact and uptake of social criteria in public procurement.

¹⁰⁸ See Herbemont, S and Roberts, J (2022). Procurement Guide for Community Energy: Based on the Municipal Guide of the H2020 COMPILE Project, p 36. ¹⁰⁹Tuerk A et al (2023), n 98 at p 11 ; and Kostecka-Jurczyk, D Marak, K and Struś, M (2022). Economic Conditions for the Development of Energy Cooperatives in Poland. Energies 2022, 15, 6831, p 9-10.

¹¹⁰ See Proka, A (2023), n 50 at p 26. The survey sample included 70 valid and reliable responses from among energy community projects and municipalities. Just under 60 percent of responses came from southeast and central Europe, while the remaining responses were from the rest of Europe.

¹¹¹ Ibid.

¹¹² Tisdale, M, Grau, T and Neuhoff, K (2014). "Impact of Renewable Energy Act Reform on Wind Project Finance," Deutsche Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW Berlin), Discussion Papers 1387, p 12.

¹¹³ Amazo, A et al (2020). Auctions and Renewable Energy Communities : Measures to support RES communities in auctions – Country experiences and lessons learnt – D4.2 – AURES II Project. <u>http://aures2project.eu/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2020/02/AURES II D4 2 energy communities.pdf</u>.

¹¹⁴ IRENA (2019). Renewable Energy Auctions – Status and Trends Beyond Price, p 64.

¹¹⁵ Ibid.

¹¹⁶ Amazo A et al (2020), n 113 at p 8.

¹¹⁷ Agentur für Eneuerbare Energien e.V. (AEE) (2013). Renewable Energy in the Hands of the People. Available at <u>http://www.unendlich-vielenergie.de/medialibrary/charts-and-data</u>; and Debor, S (2014). "The Socio-Economic Power of Renewable Energy Production Cooperatives in Germany: Results of an Empirical Assessment", Wuppertal Papers No 187, April 2014 (Wuppertal Institute for Climate, Environment and Energy: Wuppertal), p. 8. ¹¹⁸Holstenkamp, L (2021). Community energy in Germany: from technology pioneers to professionalisation under uncertainty. In: Coenen F H, Hoppe T, Renewable Energy Communities and the Low Carbon Energy Transition in Europe. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. p. 119–152.

¹¹⁹ Renewable Energy Sources Act 2017 (EEG 2017), Division 2, s 22, paras 2–3 (English translation).

¹²⁰ See Morris, C (2019). Community Energy in Germany: More than just climate change mitigation, in Renews Spezial No 89 (Dec 2019) (Agentur für Erneuerbare Energien e.V: Berlin); and Roberts, J (2020). Power to the people? Implications of the Clean Energy Package for the role of community ownership in Europe's energy transition. Review of European, Comparative & International Environmental Law, Vol 29, Issue 2, pp 232-244.

¹²¹ Morris, C (2019), n 120 at p 18.

¹²² Ibid at p 19.

¹²³ Roberts, J (2019). What energy communities need from Regulation, in European Energy Journal, Vol 8 Issue 3/4 (July 2019), at p 17.

¹²⁴ Morris, C (2019), n 120 at pp 12 and 17.

¹²⁵ Gorroño-Albizu, L (2021). Ownership Models for Renewable Smart Energy Systems: Insights from Denmark and Sweden regarding Onshore Wind Farms and District Heating Systems (Aalborg Universitetsforlag), p 54. Available at: <u>https://vbn.aau.dk/ws/files/549495211/PHD_LGA_E_pdf.pdf.H</u>.

¹²⁶ Ibid.

¹²⁷ González, M and Kitzing, L (2018). Auctions for the support of renewable energy in Denmark: A case study on results and lessons learnt. D2.1 - AURES II (DTU), p 32.

¹²⁸ Ibid.

¹²⁹ REScoop 20-20-20 (2013), n 46 at p 32.

¹³⁰Energy Saving Trust (2022). Community and locally owned energy in Scotland 2021 report – Report produced on behalf of the Scottish Government, p 26.

¹³¹ Holstenkamp, L. (2021). Community energy in Germany: from technology pioneers to professionalisation under uncertainty. In: Coenen F. H., Hoppe T. Renewable Energy Communities and the Low Carbon Energy Transition in Europe. Cham: Palgrave Macmillan. p. 119–152.

¹³² The GreenTank (2023). Energy Communities in Greece and its lignite areas #3: Review of Developments, p. 4. Available at: <u>https://thegreentank.gr/wp-content/uploads/2023/01/202301_GreenTank_Brief_EnergyCommunities3_EN.pdf</u>. It is important to highlight the differences between energy sharing and production primarily aimed for sale. In the latter, all production is aimed to be exported to the grid, while energy sharing aims to maximise self-consumption of production, close to production, within a narrowly defined timeframe (e.g. 15 minutes). As such, while grid congestion issues apply both to energy sharing projects and those designed for selling renewables production, their impacts to the grid, including potential mitigation measures (e.g. integration of flexibility) to prevent or reduce congestion, need to be considered.

¹³³ Ofgem (2014), n 43.

¹³⁴ Interview with Irish renewable energy community projects participating in RESS (24/01/2023). See also ClientEarth (2014). Legal and Policy Recommendations in response to the Green Paper on Energy Policy in Ireland Consultation – Community Power Project – D2.2 Recommendations for national measures and legislation in seven target member states, p 3.

¹³⁵ Both projects are 5 MW community-owned solar PV projects: Barnaderg

Solar Farm, Barnaderg, Tuam, County Galway; and Lisduff Solar Farm, Lisduff, Claremorris, County Mayo.

¹³⁶ RESCOOP 20-20-20 (2013), n 45 at p 35.

¹³⁷ Interview with Irish renewable energy community projects participating in RESS (24/01/2023).

¹³⁸ Ofgem (2014), n 43 at p 4.

¹³⁹ ClientEarth (2015). Promoting citizen participation in the energy transition: recommendations for an EU legal framework to support community energy. Community Power Project (D2.3 - Recommendations for EU measures and legislation), p 12.

¹⁴⁰ Energy Saving Trust (2022). Community and locally owned energy in Scotland
2021 Report produced on behalf of the Scottish Government.

¹⁴¹ Ministere de la Transition Ecologique (2021), n 87, Measure 1.

¹⁴² EU Commission (2022). Communication on the EU Solar Energy Strategy. COM(2022) 221 final.

¹⁴³ Gouvernement de Wallonie (2022). Pax Eolienica (Wind Agreement). Available

at : <u>https://www.wallonie.be/fr/acteurs-et-institutions/wallonie/gouvernement-</u> <u>de-wallonie/communiques-presse/2022-10-26#paragraph--1944</u>.

¹⁴⁴ Proka, A (2023), n 50 at p 30.

¹⁴⁵ Herbemont, S and Roberts, J (2020), n 108 at p 29.

¹⁴⁶ Ibid at p 26.

¹⁴⁷ Loi modifiant la loi du 29 avril 1999 relative à l'organisation du marché de l'électricité et portant transposition de la directive (UE) 2019/944 du Parlement européen et du Conseil du 5 juin 2019 concernant des règles communes pour le marché intérieur de l'électricité et modifiant la directive 2012/27/UE (23 OCTOBRE 2022). Available at: <u>https://www.ejustice.just.fgov.be/cgi_loi/change_lg.pl?language=fr&la=F&cn=1999042942&table_name=loi</u>.

¹⁴⁸ Article 6 section 3(9).

¹⁴⁹ Belgian Ministry of Economy, SMEs, Self-employed and Energy (2023). Belgian Offshore Wind Energy. Available at: <u>https://economie.fgov.be/en/themes/energy/belgian-offshore-wind-energy</u>.

¹⁵⁰ Eurométropole of Strasbourg (2021). Ville de Strasbourg - Appel à Manifestation d'Interets Portant sur l'octroi d'une convention d'occupation du domaine public relative à la pose et l'exploitation de panneaux photovoltaïques par une communauté énergétique citoyenne sur la toiture de l'école élémentaire Louvois, Pièce 1 – règlement de consultation (16 Juin 2021), p 4.

¹⁵¹Herbemont, S and Roberts, J (2020), n 108 at p 29.

¹⁵² Ibid at p 32.

¹⁵³ Ecorys (2022), n 88 at p 21.

¹⁵⁴ Directive (EU) 2023/2413 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 18 October 2023 amending Directive (EU) 2018/2001, Regulation (EU) 2018/1999 and Directive 98/70/EC as regards the promotion of energy from renewable sources. OJ L, 2023/2413, 31.10.2023 (RED III), Article 15a(3).

¹⁵⁵ European Commission (2021). Buying Social – a guide to taking into account of social considerations in public procurement (2nd edition). C(2021) 3573 final.

¹⁵⁶ Act No. 516 of 1 January 2010 on Energy Supply (Danish Electricity Supply Act), section 67.

¹⁵⁷ Danish Electricity Supply Act, section 21.

¹⁵⁸ Danish Electricity Supply Act, section 8(7).

¹⁵⁹ SEAI (2021). SEAI Community Energy Resource Toolkit: Grid Connection. Available at: <u>https://www.seai.ie/publications/Community-Toolkit-Grid-</u> <u>Connection.pdf</u>.

¹⁶⁰ Article 31(3)-(5) of the IMED contains requirements for DSOs to develop network plans through consultation with relevant stakeholders.

¹⁶¹ European Commission (2023). Proposal for a Regulation to improve the Union's electricity market design. COM(2023)148 final.

¹⁶² Hermans, P (2023). Presentation, "The Energy Transition meets the Digital Transformation: the Perfect Storm". For more on this topic, please see the Section on Flexibility.

¹⁶³ van der Veen, A et al (2023). EnTEC - Multi-supplier models and decentralized energy systems: Energy sharing approaches, p 44. Available at: <u>https://energy.</u> <u>ec.europa.eu/publications/multi-supplier-models-and-decentralized-energy-</u> <u>systems_en</u>.

¹⁶⁴ Ibid.

¹⁶⁵ Ibid at p 32.

¹⁶⁶ E.DSO (2021). DSOs as facilitators of energy communities.

¹⁶⁷ SHAREs (2022) n 56 at p 21.

¹⁶⁸ Ibid at p 17.

¹⁶⁹ Tuerk, A, Neumann, C and Rakocevic, L (2021). Energy Community Monitor – June 2021 (DECIDE – D3.1). Available at: <u>https://decide4energy.eu/fileadmin/ user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_D3.1_final.pdf</u>.

¹⁷⁰ LIGHTNESS (2021). Regulatory Impact Analysis for CECs and Flexibility

Services (D2.2). Available at: <u>https://www.lightness-project.eu/resources/</u> lightness-materials/regulatory-roadmaps/.

¹⁷¹Tuerk, A et al (2022). Energy Communities and Collective Actions: Yearly Policy Brief on Regulation – May 2022 (D3.2). Available at: <u>https://knowledge4energy.eu/fileadmin/user_upload/Resources/DECIDE_policy_brief_08062022_D3.2.pdf</u>.

¹⁷² Council of European Energy Regulators (CEER) (2019). Regulatory Aspects of Self-Consumption and Energy Communities, Ref: C18-CRM9_DS7-05-03 (25 June 2019), p 20. Available at: <u>https://www.ceer.eu/documents/104400/-/-/8ee38e61-a802-bd6f-db27-4fb61aa6eb6a</u>.

¹⁷³ Testaankoop (2023). Suppliers make energy sharing unnecessarily expensive with high costs. Available at: <u>https://www.test-aankoop.be/woning-energie/</u><u>hernieuwbare-energie/nieuws/leveranciers-maken-energiedelen-onnodig-duur</u>.

¹⁷⁴ According to a report commissioned by Nordic Energy Regulators (NordREG). Lewis, P (2014). Market Entrant Processes, Hurdles and Ideas for Change in the Nordic Energy Market – the view of the Market. Available at: <u>http://www. nordicenergyregulators.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/VaasaETT-Report-Market Entry Barriers.pdf</u>.

¹⁷⁵ Kostecka-Jurczyk, D, Marak, K and Struś, M (2022), n 109.

¹⁷⁶ Lewis P (2014), n 174 at pp 35-38.

¹⁷⁷ Regulation (EU) 2019/943 on the internal market for electricity (Recast), OJ
 L 158, 14.6.2019, p. 54-124 (IEMR), Article 5(2)(b).

¹⁷⁸ REScoop.eu (2022). Financing Guide, D4.1.2 - COOLKIT - Compile Project, p 20. Available at : <u>https://www.rescoop.eu/toolbox/compile-toolkit-financing-guide</u>.

¹⁷⁹ Household consumers participating to energy communities are mostly

looking for savings on their energy bill.

¹⁸⁰ SHAREs (2022), n 56 at p 19.

¹⁸¹ Tisdale, M, Grau, T and Neuhoff, K (2014). "Impact of Renewable Energy Act Reform on Wind Project Finance," Deutsche Institut für Wirtschaftsforschung (DIW Berlin), Discussion Papers 1387, p. 12

¹⁸² van der Veen, A et al (2023), n 163 at p 32.

¹⁸³ Ibid at p 31.

¹⁸⁴ Holzmann, A (2022). Overview of legal and regulatory framework – D3.1 – SHAREs Project, p 55. Available at: <u>https://shares-project.eu/fileadmin/6_shares/</u> downloads/deliverables/d3.1_shares_legal_regulatory_framework.pdf.

¹⁸⁵ IMED, Art 2(12).

¹⁸⁶ RED II, Art 2(17).

¹⁸⁷ For relationships with businesses, see Patagonia (2021). Securing Our Future: How Business can scale up community energy for a cleaner and more secure energy future, p 4. For relationships with municipalities, see Bolle (2019), n 70.

¹⁸⁸ At this stage, we mainly look at supply of electricity, as this is more common. References to gas supply are also made, where relevant.

¹⁸⁹ Ehrtmann, M, Holstenkamp, L and Becker, T (2021). Regional Electricity Models for Community Energy in Germany: The Role of Governance Structures. Sustainability 2021, 13(4), 2241; and REGEN (2017). Local Supply: Options for selling your energy locally, p 4.

¹⁹⁰ RED II, Recital 71 RED II; and IMED, Recital 46.

¹⁹¹ See per analogy, CJEU's interpretation of provisions to benefit cooperatives, see Paint Graphos Soc. coop. arl (Joined Cases C-78/08 to C-80/08) [2011] C 311/06).

¹⁹² For the Court of Justice of the European Union (CJEU's) interpretation of the general principle of 'equal treatment', see VEMW and Others (Case C-17/03) [2005], ECR I-4983, paras. 41-48.

¹⁹³ RED II, Art 22 paragraph 4(11).

¹⁹⁴ IMED, Art 59 paragraph 1(z).

¹⁹⁵ Hall, S and Roelich K (2015). Local Electricity Supply: Opportunities, archetypes and outcomes (University of Leeds). Available at: <u>http://public.</u> julias.promessage.com.user.fm/Projects/iBUILD/10165 local electricity supply report_WEB.pdf

¹⁹⁶ For instance, in Italy, it is estimated that break-even for a new cooperative supplier is around 6,500 supply contracts. (FSR, 2021). Research from the UK shows that initial costs to set up a new supplier exceed £1 million licensed supplier could only afford these initial setup costs is if they have an initial customer base in the region of 10,000 to 25,000 customers. See Laybourn-Langton, L (2016). Community and Local Energy: Challenges and Opportunities (Institute for Public Policy Research, IPPR). Available at: <u>https://vdocuments.mx/</u> community-and-local-energy-challenges-and-opportunities-2-ippr-communityand-local.html?page=5; and Local Partnerships and Cornwall Energy (2019). Local Energy Options – A Guidance Document for Local Government. Available at: <u>https://localpartnerships.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2023/04/Local-Energyoptions-guide-web-version-1.pdf</u>.

¹⁹⁷ Brummer (2018), n 16; Koirala, B P et al (2018). "Trust, awareness, and independence: Insights from a socio-psychological factor analysis of citizen knowledge and participation in community energy systems", in Energy Research and Social Science, 38, 33-40. Doi:10.1016/j.erss.2018.01.009; Kooij, H J et al (2018). "Between grassroots and treetops: Community power and institutional dependence in the renewable energy sector in Denmark,

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

Sweden and the Netherlands", in Energy Research & Social Science, 37, 52-64. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2017.09.019</u>; Warbroek et al (2018). "The role of intermediaries in supporting local low-carbon energy initiatives" in Sustainability (Switzerland), 10(7). Doi:10.3390/su10072450.

¹⁹⁸ Hall, S and Roelich, K (2016). "Business model innovation in electricity supply markets: the role of complex value in the United Kingdom", in Energy Policy, Vol 92, May 2016, pp 286-298.

¹⁹⁹ CEER (2016). CEER Benchmarking report on removing barriers to entry for energy suppliers in EU retail energy markets, Ref: C15-RMF-70-03.

²⁰⁰ Lewis, P et al (2021). European Barriers in Retail Energy Markets Project:
 Final Report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. ISBN 978-92-76-30269-8, doi:10.2833/5217, p 18.

²⁰¹ Ibid at p 27.

²⁰² Ibid.

²⁰³ According to a report commissioned by Nordic Energy Regulators (NordREG). Lewis, P (2014), n 174.

²⁰⁴ Ibid at pp 35-38.

²⁰⁵ Kostecka-Jurczyk, D et al (2022), n 109.

²⁰⁶ See e.g. Goiener (2021). Indarberritzeko garaia. Available (in Basque) at: <u>https://www.goiener.com/2021/10/indarberritzeko-garaia/</u>.

²⁰⁷ European Commission (2022). Staff Working Document – Guidance to Member States on good practices to speed up permit-granting procedures for renewable energy projects and facilitating Power Purchase Agreements – Accompanying the Commission Recommendation on Speeding up permitgranting procedures for renewable energy projects and facilitating Power Purchase Agreements. SWD/2022/0149 final. ²⁰⁸ Wan der Waal, E et al (2020). Participatory Experimentation with Energy Law: Digging in a 'Regulatory Sandbox' for Local Energy Initiatives in the Netherlands. Energies 2020, 13(2), 458.

²⁰⁹ Draft 2022 Energy Act. Available: <u>https://wetgevingskalender.</u> <u>overheid.nl/regeling/WGK010483/documenten/Raad%20van%20State/</u> Adviesaanvraag%20aanhangig%20bij%20Raad%20van%20State/1.

²¹⁰ See Commission for Regulation of Utilities (CRU). Electricity Supply Licences. Available at : <u>https://www.cru.ie/regulations-policy/licences/electricity-supply/</u>.

²¹¹ Brugel (2023). AVIS (BRUGEL-AVIS-20230516-367) relatif au régime de licence de fourniture et de flexibilité. Available at <u>https://www.brugel.</u> <u>brussels/publication/document/avis/2023/fr/AVIS-367-ARRETE-LICENCES-FOURNITURES-FLEXIBLITE-2023.pdf</u>.

²¹² Brugel (2023), n 80.

²¹³ CEER (2019). Monitoring Report on the Performance of European Retail Markets in 2018. Ref: C19-MRM-99-02 (04 November 2019).

²¹⁴ REGEN (2017), n 189.

²¹⁵ Available at: <u>https://www.entrnce.com/</u>.

²¹⁶ California Assembly Bill 2316 Creating a community renewable energy program. Final text available at: <u>https://openstates.org/ca/bills/20212022/</u>AB2316/.

²¹⁷ See e.g. FLEXCoop (2021). Flexibility Services for Energy Cooperatives: An overview of possible flexibility-based services using residential equipment control.

²¹⁸ Claeys, B (2021). Energy communities with grid benefits: A quest for a blueprint (Regulatory Assistance Project, RAP: Brussels), p 6.

²¹⁹ Ibid at p 7.

²²⁰ smartEn (2023). Demand-side flexibility market monitor for demand side flexibility, p. 7. Available at: <u>https://smarten.eu/wp-content/uploads/2023/02/</u> DSF-Market-Monitor-2022.pdf.

²²¹ IMED, Article 17, paragraph 1.

²²² smartEn (2021). Valorising demand-side flexibility in energy system-wide methodologies and modelling scenarios (smarten Position Paper), p 9. Available

at: <u>https://smarten.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/smartEn-Position-paper-</u> methodologies-FINAL.pdf.

²²³ Ibid.

²²⁴ Dronne T, Roques F, and Saguan, M (2021). "Local Flexibility Markets for Distribution Network Congestion-Management in Center-Western Europe: Which Design for Which Needs?" in Energies 2021, 14(14), 4113; <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en14144113</u>.

²²⁵ Tual, R, Pañella, P, and Van Vliet, R (2020). Emerging Business Models, Associated DR Strategies and Standard Contract Templates – D2.7 – FLEXCoop, p 11. Available at: <u>https://www.rescoop.eu/uploads/rescoop/downloads/D2.7-</u> FLEXCoop-Emerging-Business-Models-Final-version-v.1.5.docx.pdf.

²²⁶ Energie Samen (2021). Energy sharing through energy communities: a white paper of Energie Samen, p 12. Available at: <u>https://energiesamen.blob.core.</u> windows.net/media/White%20Paper%20Smart%20Energy%20Sharing%20 Energie%20Samen%20PDF.pdf.

²²⁷ FLEXCoop (2021), n 217.

²²⁸ Tuerk, A et al (2022), n 171 at p 20.

²²⁹ Klaasen E and van der Laan, M (2019). Energy and Flexibility Services for Citizen Energy Communities (USEF White Paper), p 11.

²³⁰ Ibid at p 13.

²³¹ Tuerk, A et al (2022), n 171 at p 18.

²³²While important regulatory steps have been taken with the establishment of the DSO Entity and the preliminary phase of a demand response network code which would harmonise the situation at EU-level, the resulting legal framework is still a few years away. Agency for Cooperation of Energy Regulators (ACER) (2022). "ACER submitted the framework guideline on demand response to the European Commission – first step towards binding EU rules" (December 2022). Available at: <u>https://www.acer.europa.eu/news-and-events/news/acer-</u> submitted-framework-guideline-demand-response-european-commission-firststep-towards-binding-eu-rules.

²³³ Tuerk, A et al (2022), n 171 at p 32.

²³⁴ Tual, R, Roberts, J, and Pañella, P (2021). Dissemination, Exploitation and Standardization: Policy Recommendations - D8.9 - FLEXCOOP, p 18.

²³⁵ Ibid at p 18.

²³⁶ Tuerk, A et al (2022), n 171.

²³⁷ Tual, R, Pañella, P, and Van Vliet, R (2020), n 225 at p 25.

²³⁸ See Carbon Co-op. PowerShaper Flex. info at: <u>https://carbon.coop/portfolio/</u> <u>power-shaper/</u>. The Carbon Co-op is an associate member of LF Energy. See full membership at: <u>https://lfenergy.org/about/members/</u>

²³⁹ More info at: <u>https://somcomunitats.coop/</u>.

ENERGY COMMUNITIES REPOSITORY

²⁴⁰ Schittekatte, T (2020). Regulatory Sandboxes in the energy sector – the what, the who and the how (Florence School of Regulation, FSR). Available at: <u>https://fsr.eui.eu/regulatory-sandboxes-in-the-energy-sector-the-what-the-who-and-the-how/</u>.

²⁴¹ Schittekatte T, et al (2019). D2.4 Completed Regulatory Framework, D2.4 - INTERRFACE. Available at: https://fsr.eui.eu/publications/?handle=1814/64505.

²⁴² Ibid at p 41-42.

²⁴³Ibid at p 51.







#EUenergycommunities

The Energy Communities Repository is an initiative of the European Commission.